# ELMA BPM Platform User Manual



Business Process and Performance Management System

# Contents

Introduction	5
Chapter 1. Installing System	6
1.1. Installing Server and ELMA Designer	7
1.2. Verifying ELMA Server and ELMA Designer Installation	15
Chapter 2. Getting started with ELMA	16
2.1 Getting Started with Server	16
2.2 Registering the Application	
2.2.1. Registering ELMA Server	
2.2.2. Registering ELMA Designer	20
2.3 Connecting to ELMA Server and Specifying Configuration	21
Chapter 3. Getting Started with Web Application	24
3.1 Main Page	24
3.2 System Menu	27
3.3 Portlets	
3.4 Messages	
Chapter 4. Initial System Setting	35
4.1 Setting the Administrator Password	35
4.2 Initial Server Settings	
4.2.1. General Settings	
4.2.2. Setting Access to the Web Application	
4.2.3. Outgoing Mail Settings	
4.3 Building Organizational Structure	41
4.3.1. Purpose of Organizational Structure	41
4.3.2. Modeling Organizational Structure	41
4.3.3. Publishing Organizational Structure	45
4.4 Creating Accounts	46

Chapter 5. Business Processes
5.1 Modeling Business Processes
5.1.1. Brief Description of BPMN50
5.1.2. Creating Business Process52
5.1.3. Configuring Swimlanes55
5.1.4. ELMA Activities61
5.1.5. Connectors
5.1.6. Business Process Context
5.1.7. Gateways77
5.1.8. Responsibility matrix81
5.1.9. Checking Business Process
5.1.10. Debugging the Business Process
5.1.11. Publishing Business Processes
5.2 Executing Business Process
5.2.1. Starting Business Process
5.2.2. Executing User Tasks91
5.3 Controlling Business Processes
5.3.1. My Processes96
5.3.2. Process Map98
5.3.3. Process Monitor
5.3.4. Execution Queue103
5.4 Improving Business Processes104
5.5 Specifying the Process Access Permissions107
5.6 Assigning Substitutions112
5.7 Extra Options for Business Process Modeling114
5.7.1. Instances Naming Methods115
5.7.2. Operation Markers118
5.7.3. Process Statuses120

5.7.4. Using Triggers	
5.7.5. Scripts	134
5.7.6. Task Forms	144
5.7.7. Metrics and KPIs	150
5.7.8. Sub-Processes	166
Chapter 6. Web Portal	176
6.1 Configuring interface	
6.1.1. Visual Editor	
6.1.2. Menu settings	
6.1.3. Toolbar	
6.2 Portal pages	
6.2.1. Creating a Page	
6.2.2. Configuring page	
6.2.3. Configuring the set of main pages	
6.3 HTML editor	
Chapter 7. ELMA Agent	207
Chapter 8. Useful references	

# Introduction

This book is intended for users who want to master **ELMA BPM** on their own and for professionals who plan to implement **ELMA**. It is a tutorial rather than a reference guide and it contains enough information to give a basic understanding of the system. This book also describes main **ELMA** functions and settings and allows users to get started with **ELMA** easily.

Below is the list of quick-start manuals:

- Quick Start of ELMA Web Portal
- Quick Start of **ELMA ECM+**
- <u>Quick Start of **ELMA Projects+**</u>
- <u>Quick Start of **ELMA KPI**</u>

It introduces the reader to the main settings and functions of **ELMA** and allows getting started with **ELMA BPM**.

#### **Brief Review of ELMA Architecture**

**ELMA** consists of the following applications:

- **ELMA Server** (applications server)
- ELMA Designer
- External applications

See the system architecture in the Fig. 1.

**ELMA Server** (applications server) provides communication between the following **ELMA** components:

- Databases
- Web Applications
- File Server, etc.

ELMA Server is the root element of the system. Register your server before starting it.

**ELMA Designer** is an application with a simple and user-friendly interface used to develop process models, describe a company's organizational structure and create configurations. You install **ELMA Designer** on your PC.

You can also use **ELMA Designer** for a number of other tasks. You need to register your **ELMA Designer** before starting it.



Fig. 1. ELMA architecture

# Chapter 1. Installing System

This chapter describes how to install and register **ELMA** step-by-step. Before you start working with **ELMA**, you must install and register it. Please, contact our manager to get the link to the software installation package.

# 1.1. Installing Server and ELMA Designer

**ELMA** is available in three editions: **Community, Standard** and **Enterprise**. The installation process is almost identical for each edition except for some minor differences. Depending on the type of **ELMA** edition one of the following DBMS can be used: PostgreSQL, Firebird, MS SQL Server, Oracle Database 10g or Oracle Database 11g.

To install **ELMA Server** and **ELMA Designer** use the same installation package. Install **ELMA Agent** separately on your PC.

To install ELMA follow the steps below:

#### Step 1. Starting the ELMA Setup Wizard

Run the **ELMA** installation package. The Setup Wizard will check your OS for the installed IIS server 7.0 or higher.

If the server is not yet installed you will be offered to install the embedded web server from the installation package.

If the installed IIS server 7.0 or higher is detected on your computer, the **ELMA** Setup Wizard will automatically go to the **Step 2**.

#### Step 2. Setup Wizard Welcome screen

The Setup Wizard Welcome screen opens. Click the **Next** button to continue. If possible, close all running applications before installing the system.

#### Step 3. License Agreement

Please read the license agreement. If you accept the terms and conditions, click **I accept the agreement** and then click **Next**.

#### Step 4. Selecting directory

In this step of the wizard, choose the **ELMA Server** installation directory. It is recommended to use the default directory. To change the default directory click **Browse** and specify the new path. Click the **Next** button to continue.

#### Step 5. Selecting components

Use the drop-down list at the top of the dialog box to select the system components you want to install. By default, the Setup Wizard will install both **ELMA Server** and **ELMA Designer**. Click **Next** to continue.



Fig. 2. Select Components dialog box

#### Step 6. Selecting configuration

Specify the location of the **ELMA** configuration files:

🗘 Setup - ELMA 3.8 Standard	
Configuration selection Select ELMA configuration to use	- Q
C Existing configuration	
	Browse
New configuration     Configuration folder	
C:\ELMA-Standard\UserConfig	Browse
Database type C Firebird	
Microsoft SQL Server	
© ELMA 2006-2015 http://www.elma-bpm.com < Back Next >	Cancel

Fig. 3. Configuration Selection dialog box

**Existing Configuration.** To select the existing **ELMA** configuration, click **Browse** and specify the path to the configuration folder that contains the configuration file *configuration.config.* 

**New Configuration.** To select a new **ELMA** configuration, click **Browse** and specify the path to the configuration folder that will contain **ELMA** configuration files. It is recommended to use the default **UserConfig** folder.

If you select **New configuration**, select the required DBMS in the **Database type** field. The list of available DBMS depends on the system edition:

- **ELMA Express** PostgreSQL and Firebird;
- ELMA Standard PostgreSQL, Firebird and Microsoft SQL Server;
- ELMA Enterprise PostgreSQL, Firebird, Microsoft SQL Server and Oracle;
- **ELMA Community Edition** PostgreSQL, Firebird and Microsoft SQL Server.

When installing **ELMA Standard** or **ELMA Enterprise**, in the **New Configuration** field you can specify the system's DBMS type: Firebird DBMS or Microsoft SQL Server - for **ELMA Standard**, and Firebird, Microsoft SQL Server or Oracle for **ELMA Enterprise** (Fig. 4). Click the **Next** button to continue.

🗘 Setup - ELMA 3.8 Enterprise	
Configuration selection Select ELMA configuration to use	Ð
© Existing configuration	
	Browse
New configuration     Configuration folder	
C:\ELMA3-Enterprise\UserConfig	Browse
Database type O Firebird	
O Microsoft SQL Server	
Oracle	
© ELMA 2006-2015 <u>http://www.elma-bpm.com</u> < Back Next >	Cancel

*Fig. 4. Configuration Selection dialog box (ELMA Enterprise edition)* 

#### Step 7. Establishing connection to the DBMS server.

**7.1. Firebird DBMS.** To establish the connection between **ELMA Server** and **Firebird server** specify the port number in the **Select Firebird server port** field (Fig.5). It is recommended to use the default port number - 3056.

🗘 Setup - ELMA 3.8 Standard	
<b>Configure Firebird server connection</b> Configure connection parameters for Firebird server	<b>D</b>
Select Firebird server port	3056
This port will be used to run firebird server. All server files are located in FirebirdServer subfolder of your installation This installation will not break your currently installed Firebird DB server (if yo	folder. u have one).
check this port is free for use.	
© ELMA 2006-2015 <u>http://www.elma-bpm.com</u> < <u>B</u> ack <u>N</u>	ext > Cancel

7.2. MS SQL Server. Fill in the required fields in the dialog box (Fig. 6) and

click NT---- to operations

Fig. 5. Configure Firebird Ser	rver Connection dialog box
<b>Configure MSSQL server connection</b> Configure connection parameters for MSSQL server	<b>.</b>
Select MSSQL server host name Select database name	ELMA
Use Windows Authentication	Administrator
Password	
	Check MSSQL server connection
© ELMA 2006-2015 <u>http://www.elma-bpm.com</u>	< Back Next > Cancel

Fig. 6. Configure MS SQL Server Connection dialog box

After you have filled in all the fields, click **Check MSSQL server connection**. The system will attempt to connect to the server specified in the **Select MSSQL server host name** field. Then you will see a dialog box informing you that your test connection succeeded (Fig. 7).



Fig. 7. MS SQL Server Connection Check dialog box

#### Step 8. Configuring the Web Server

In the dialog box that opens fill in the required fields (Fig. 8) and click Next.

🗘 Setup - ELMA 3.8 Standard	
<b>Configure web server service</b> Configure server to run ELMA 3.8 web applic	ation
Web site port	8000
	Selected port must NOT be used by another application
C IIS Server	ELMA Internal Server
Port address is used in uri. For example, if you in I	hstall ELMA server on port 8000, then in browser you should use uri: http://localhost:8000
© ELMA 2006-2015 <u>http://www.elma-bpm</u>	.com < Back Next > Cancel

Fig. 8. Configuring web server parameters

**Web Site Port** is a port for connection to **ELMA Web Server.** The default port number is 8000. If this port is occupied, the system will display a relevant

notification. In this case, enter another port number instead of the default port number.

Then specify the type of the system web server: IIS server or ELMA Internal Server (Cassini web server) - by checking the relevant box.

If the IIS service is not available for your OS, the **IIS Server** box will be disabled.

If you select **IIS Server**, the additional fields will appear in this dialog box (Fig. 9).

Web Site Name is the name of ELMA Web Server in IIS service.

**Web Application Pool** is the name of the web application pool that will be created for **ELMA Web Server**.

**Web Application Pool Identity** is a name of the identity account that Web Application Pool uses to operate the **Web Application**.

It is recommended to use the **LocalSystem** identity - an account with the local admin permissions. It forms a part of the **Administrators** group on the web server.

Click **Next** to continue.

🗘 Setup - ELMA 3.8 Standard	
<b>Configure web server service</b> Configure server to run ELMA 3.8 web applic	ation
Web site port	8000
	Selected port must NOT be used by another application
<ul> <li>IIS Server</li> </ul>	C ELMA Internal Server
Web site name	ELMA3-Standard
Application pool name	[ELMA3-Standard]
Application pool identity	Local system (LocalSystem)
Port address is used in url. For example, if you in H	stall ELMA server on port 8000, then in browser you should use url: ttp://localhost:8000
© ELMA 2006-2015 <u>http://www.elma-bpm.</u>	com < Back Next > Cancel

Fig. 9. Configuring web server dialog box  $\rightarrow$  IIS Server switch

#### **Step 9. Selecting Additional Options**

To create shortcuts for quick launch of **ELMA Web Application** and **ELMA Designer** from Desktop check the box **Create a shortcut on user desktop**.

#### Step 10. Checking Selected Parameters

In this step, you can check the full list of the setup parameters specified before. If necessary, you can change these parameters by clicking **Back** and returning to one of the steps described above.

Click **Install** to start installation.

#### Step 11. Installation

In this step, Setup Wizard copies **ELMA** files and installs **ELMA** on the PC (Fig. 10). Please wait until the installation is complete, it may take a few minutes.

After copying all the files, Setup Wizard will automatically go to the next step.

🗘 Setup - ELMA 3.8 Sta	ndard	
<b>Installing</b> Please wait while Se	tup installs ELMA 3.8 Standard on your computer.	Q
Extracting files C:\ELMA-Standard\Packa	iges\EleWise.ELMA.BPM.Web.Common.Help.3.8.0.22551.nupkg	
© ELMA 2006-2015	http://www.elma-bpm.com	Cancel

Fig. 10. Installation Progress dialog box

#### **Step 12. Completing Installation**

Now the dialog box appears informing you that the installation is complete. If you want to start **ELMA Designer** immediately after installation check the **Start Designer** box.

To complete the installation process, click **Finish**.

# 1.2. Verifying ELMA Server and ELMA Designer Installation

When starting **ELMA** for the first time, make sure that the server is installed properly and then activate the system. To check the functions of the installed server, open your web browser and enter the following in the address bar: http://localhost:<port\_number> or http://127.0.0.1:<port\_number>, where localhost - IP address of the computer where **ELMA** is installed; port address - the port number specified in the **Step 7** of the System Setup Wizard (by default - 8000). The system supports the following browsers: Internet Explorer, Mozilla Firefox and Google Chrome.

You can observe the server start progress on the current browser page (Fig. 11).

Starting the server. Please wait
60 %
Initializing components
ELMA 3 8 0 22551 R.71ec313532adc2

Fig. 11. Server Start Progress

Initial **ELMA** start-up can take a long time. Then the product registration window will open in your browser.

	Management System
👷 Software Regi	stration
To start working with the To get the activation kee Registration Key	ne software please enter activation key for ELMA Server. ey, please contact the dealer that sold you the software and tell them
System Edition	Express
Registration Key	04919-28674-03802-27821-14858-15754
Server Activation Key	,
	Activate

Fig. 12. Product Registration Window

Find the description of further steps in the next chapter "Getting started with ELMA".

# Chapter 2. Getting started with ELMA

The first chapter describes how to install **ELMA**. This chapter focuses on how to get started with **ELMA**.

# 2.1 Getting Started with Server

After you have installed ELMA, one of the following folders will appear in the Start menu depending on the ELMA edition: **ELMA Community**, **ELMA Standard** or **ELMA Enterprise**. Open this folder to start the required ELMA component. The folder contents (Fig. 13):

- **ELMA Designer.** Start **ELMA Designer** to describe the company's organizational structure, design business process models, configure document flow and document management setting
- **Open ELMA in your browser.** Open **ELMA Web Application** in your browser for further operations.
- **Uninstall ELMA.** If for some reason you want to uninstall **ELMA**, choose this option in the menu.



Fig. 13. ELMA components shortcuts in the Start menu

The components shortcuts will also be available on your desktop if in the **Step 9 of ELMA** Setup Wizard you have selected **Create a shortcut on user desktop**.

# 2.2 Registering the Application

To get started with **ELMA Server** and **ELMA Designer** you must register them. You cannot use unregistered system components. The system registration procedure is also known as system activation.

Normally, you must register **ELMA Server** only once – the first time you start it. You must register **ELMA Designer** individually on each computer. If any of **ELMA** components have been activated on your computer previously, you do not have to activate other components individually. E.g., if you have already registered **ELMA Server** on your PC, registration of **ELMA Designer** on this computer is not required.

When you start a non-registered component for the first time, the product registration window appears (Fig. 14). Enter your activation key in the respective field.

<b>O C</b> M	Business Process Management	×
<b>PREGISTERING THE P</b> To begin, enter your activa To get an activation key, plu that sold our software to yo	p <b>roduct</b> tion key for ELMA Designer ease contact your dealer ou and tell him your registration key.	
Registration Key	04028-78530-10512-30571-067	99-68461
Activation key		
	Activate	
ELMA 3.8.0.22551		© ELMA 2006-2015
ELMA 3.8.0.22551		© ELMA 2006-2015

Fig. 14. ELMA Registration Window

In the following paragraphs, you will find out how to register **ELMA Server** and **ELMA Designer**.

### 2.2.1. Registering ELMA Server

You can register **ELMA Server** in the system's Web Application. Simply open it in your browser and the registration window will appear automatically.

In the product registration window, you will see your registration key. Contact your dealer company where you purchased the software and tell them **ELMA Server** registration key. In response, they will send your product activation key. Enter the activation key in the respective field and click **Activate**.

If you bought the software directly from **ELMA** company, please call **+ (352) 20-30-11-40** to activate your product or contact a manager of your supplier company.

If you have already activated **ELMA Designer** that forms a part of the system installed on this PC, you do not have to activate **ELMA Server** individually.

If the registration is successful, the authorization window will open. When you sign in for the first time, use the *admin* login. By default, the password is not required for the Administrator account. After authorization, the main page of **ELMA Web Portal** will open (Fig. 15).



Fig. 15. ELMA Main Page (first start)

### 2.2.2. Registering ELMA Designer

To get started with **ELMA Designer** you have to register it as well (unless you have already activated **ELMA Server** on this computer). When you start a non-registered **ELMA Designer**, a window will open. In this window, you will see the registration key and the field for **ELMA Designer**'s activation key.

This window also provides contact information you need to get the keys. Contact your dealer company where you purchased the software and tell them the registration key. In response, they will send your product activation key. Enter the activation key in the respective field and click **Activate**. If the keys are correct, you will be able to access the system.

# 2.3 Connecting to ELMA Server and Specifying Configuration

Now **ELMA** is almost ready to use. Before you start, you need to connect to the server and specify the configuration that describes the structure of your company's activities.

To specify the server configuration use **ELMA Designer**.

Start **ELMA Designer.** The window will open. In the right corner of the **ELMA Designer** start window, below the **Current Configurations** button, you will see the list of all available configurations.

In the **ELMA Designer** start window, you can create a new server configuration or select one of the existing configurations.

Your company's configuration is located on **ELMA Server**. To connect to this configuration, please follow the steps below:

#### Step 1.

In the **ELMA Designer** start window, click **To the list of configurations**, and then click **Add Configuration** (Fig. 16).

Business Process Management System	×
Configuration http://127.0.0.1:8000	
Add Configuration	
ELMA 3.8.0.22551 R.71ec313532adc2	© ELMA 2006-2015

Fig. 16. ELMA Designer start window  $\rightarrow$  Create Configuration link

#### Step 2.

In a dialog box that opens fill in the required fields (Fig. 17) and click Next.

In the **Configuration name** field, specify your company's name. The default **Configuration type** is Remote.

In the **Server Address** field, specify the address of the server that hosts **ELMA Server**. Server address format: http://SERVER\_NAME:SERVER\_PORT/.E.g.: <u>http://ServerName:8000/</u>. The default port number is 8000, however the Administrator can change it when installing or using the system.

🔷 Configuration settings – 🗆 🗙				
Configuration name *	Company			
Configuration type*	O Local	<ul> <li>Remote</li> </ul>		
Server address *	http://ServerName	http://ServerName:8000		
	C	OK 🛛 OK		

Fig. 17. Adding a remote configuration

Click **OK** to save your settings. Your configuration will appear in the configuration list.

#### Step 3.

Click on the configuration name in the right part of the **ELMA Designer** start window - the login/password window will open.

By default, you can sign in as *admin*. Password is not required. Click **OK**.

By default, **ELMA Designer** uses the 7100 port to connect to the remote configuration. Make sure that the server hosting **ELMA** has a rule that allows incoming connections to this port.

After you have signed in you can start working with the system. Learn more about the initial system setup in **Chapter 4**.

# Chapter 3. Getting Started with Web Application

This chapter describes the main interface elements of **ELMA Web Application** and explains how to work with them.

A user who has a good understanding of the interface will easily master the rest of the system. Since users spend most of their time in **ELMA Web Application** when working with ELMA, they should read this chapter carefully.

### 3.1 Main Page

The main page is a start page of **ELMA Web Portal**. It opens immediately after you sign in or click the main menu button (Fig. 18, number 1). In the upper right corner of the page, you will see a set of main pages that provide quick access to frequently used information.

It is recommended to get started with **ELMA Web Application** by browsing the main page. The main page contains **ELMA** navigation elements and controls. Every user can customize their personal main page display.

#### Structure of Main Page

The main page contains four menus. See an example of the main page in Fig. 18.



Fig. 18. Main page of ELMA web application

#### 1. Main menu

Provides quick access to **ELMA** main activities and allows you to browse different sections.

#### 2. Top menu

Provides quick access to tasks, events, documents, allowing you to create and send messages and start processes. Fig. 18 shows the standard top menu (configurable). The display of the top menu changes depending on the portal page and user access permissions.

#### 3. User menu

Shows the unread messages and new tasks. Use this menu to open the user's profile or to sing out.

#### 4. Left menu

Provides quick access to **ELMA** sections. Here you can see a list of all the **ELMA Web Application** sections available to you. The content of this menu depends on **ELMA** configuration, the menu settings and the current user's permissions. While you are working with **ELMA**, the display of the menu items change. The current menu section is highlighted yellow and you can always find a link to the main page in the first line of the side menu.

To the right of the user menu there are two buttons: **Customize Main Page** and **Help**.

- **Customize Main Page**. Click this button to choose portlets and set their location on the page as well as to configure them.

**F** – **Help**. Click this button to open the help page containg detailed information about the currently open section.

#### 5. Set of Main Pages

You can create several main pages. Each main page can contain different sets of portlets. E.g., the first main page of the system is set up for document management, the second is for project management and the third is for your subordinate employees control, etc. The system users and the administrator can create and configure main pages; it is also possible to customize main pages for specific user's needs.

The set of main pages contains all the main pages available to you. To go to a page you must click on its name.

The users permitted to configure the set of main pages can see the list button  $\vee$  next to the page name.



*Fig. 19. Drop-down menu for configuring the set of main page* 

#### 6. Page Content

This area contains your most frequently used portlets.

A portlet is a plug-in component of the user interface of **ELMA Web Application**. A portlet shows specific up-to-date information. To arrange portlets click **Page Settings** in the top right corner of the window near the user menu.

**ELMA** offers many standard portlets; you can create your own portlets as well. You can easily configure the content and location of the main page portlets.

The rest of the pages of **ELMA Web Application** differ from the main page mostly in terms of the page content and dashboards. In other ways, their interfaces are similar.

# 3.2 System Menu

This section describes in detail all the above-mentioned **ELMA** menus.

#### Main Menu

Use this menu to:

- create the main system activities (tasks, messages, documents etc.) and start processes;
- quickly go to any main section or subsection of the system.

To open the main menu move your mouse pointer over the **ELMA** logo in the top-left corner of the main page and wait until the blue button appears. This button opens the main menu (Fig. 20).



Fig. 20. The button that opens the main menu

Place the mouse pointer over the blue button - the system main menu will open (Fig. 21).



Fig. 21. ELMA main menu

If you want to hide the main menu click on the empty space on a dark gray background outside the main menu area.

When you place the mouse pointer over **Tasks**, **Documents**, **CRM** etc., the subsections' buttons appear. Use these buttons to go to the subsections of current section. E.g., in Fig. 30, the pointer is over **Tasks**. To go to the selected subsection, move the cursor to it and click.

#### Top Menu

Provides quick access to the functions of **ELMA** elements and contains the user menu. The **Top Menu** is also known as a toolbar. The top menu buttons change depending on the page you are currently browsing. You can show/hide the top menu buttons by editing the interface (see Chapter 6).



Fig. 22. Top Menu of Main Page

#### User Menu

**User Menu** forms a part of the **Top Menu**. If you want to expand the **User Menu**, move the mouse pointer over the list button and click. The expanded **User Menu** has two available items:

- **Profile.** Click on this item to open the user's profile page. On the profile page, you can change user's personal data, control trusted devices and select other options.
- Log Out. Log out and sign in using a different account.



#### Left Menu

Provides quick access to **ELMA** sections.

You can adjust the size of the **Left Menu.** To do this simply drag the edge of the menu with the mouse to the desired location. If you are not using the left menu, save the screen space and just collapse it (Fig. 25). To do this click on the arrow button on the right side of the menu. If you want to expand the menu, click the same button once again.



Fig. 25. Collapsed left menu



Fig. 26. Expanded left menu

# 3.3 Portlets

A portlet is a plug-in component of the user interface of **ELMA Web Application**. The portlet shows specific up-to-date information.



Fig. 27. Main page portlets

You can add and customize portlets for each user according to their needs. The portlets are displayed on the main pages of **ELMA Web Application**. You can change the set of portlets and their location when configuring the page settings. You can also change the content shown in the portlets when configuring the portlet settings. Learn more about the portlets in **Chapter 6**.

By default, the main page already contains a set of standard portlets. If you want, you can select another portlets and change their arrangement on the main page.

Learn how to create your own portlets in **ELMA Help**.

### 3.4 Messages

**Messages** is an important section of the **Web Application**. This section displays all the notifications on system events and changes as well as messages from the system users (e.g., created or edited tasks, documents, related comments, etc.).

When you create or edit documents, tasks, events, relationships, projects and other system elements, **ELMA** automatically sends system messages to the users involved with these elements.

This **ELMA** function is always available, whether you enable the system to send messages to your e-mail or not.

If you have new unread messages, you will see their number in the red circle next to the **Messages** icon in the left menu. In the user menu, above the **Messages** icon you will also see the same red circle that informs you on the number of unread messages (Fig. 28).



Fig. 28. Message notification

To go to the **Messages** page click **Messages** in the left menu of **ELMA** main page.

See an example of Messages page in Fig. 29.

**ELMA** shows unread messages highlighted bright. Messages marked as *read* appear in a pale color. If you click on an unread message, it will automatically change its color and the system will mark it as *read*.

The **Messages** section shows the message itself and the related comments. You can leave a comment or ask a question in the special field.

The most recent messages are displayed at the top of the list.

By default, this section displays the last 10 messages and 10 related comments. To view more messages click **Next** under the last message or scroll down the page. Click on the subject of a message to open its page.

Messages	Messages			
Messages  Sent  Public Channels  Sales  Projects	Search     From        Now viewing     New B     All Messages       Received     Im     to	2 Q Search		
Archive	Add Comment Ask Question	06/19/2015 7:13 AM		
CRM	Sales incentive program changes       Image: Sales incentive program changes         Messsage       from: Miller A. to: ~ #Sales         As many of you know, we have adjusted the current sales incentive program to make it more flexible. Please provide us with feedback.	06/19/2015 9:36 AM		
Company	Flores P. () I offer to bring this matter up at weekly staff meeting. There's much to discuss. ()	06/19/2015 3:45 PM		
Calendar	Collins E. O	06/19/2015 6:47 PM		
Entities	Add.Comment			
Documents	Create the business proposal     Workflow Process Task trom: Miller A.	06/15/2015 7:16 PM		
KPI	Add Comment Ask Question			
	Contract Reach revenue of EUR 50 million     SMART Task from: Brooks T.	02/02/2015 9:08 AM		
	Brooks T. 📝 Edited (© Deadline 12/31/2015 (previous: "6/30/2015")	02/02/2015 9:11 AM		
	Add Comment Ask Question			
	Next 🕤			

Fig. 29. Messages

Sent. This section shows a list of sent messages.

**Public Channels.** Shows a list of the available communication channels and their content. In this section, employees can create groups to discuss specific subjects, e.g., the company's news. It allows you to see the whole discussion on a specific subject in one place.

**Projects.** Here you can see a list of the available project channels and their content (If you have enabled the **Project Management** module).

Archive. Shows a list of the information channels sent to archive.

#### Searching messages

Quick Search allows you to search the section you are currently browsing. E.g., if you are in **Messages**, Quick Search will search through the content of the **Messages** section, and among system messages. If you are currently in **Sent** section, Quick Search will search through the sent messages.

See a search filter for messages in Fig. 30.

Search			From		~	1	Q Search
Reviewing	New 6	Not Important	Received	ter t	until	3	

Fig. 30. Search filter for messages

You can search by specific criteria. To do this start typing first letters of the message subject or its content in the search box or set search parameters (e.g., sender name or reception date) and then click **Search**. The system will display all the messages with subjects and contents, which match specified search criteria.

In addition, when you are in the **Messages** section, you can send a message to another system user. Click **Send Message** button in the toolbar. In the dialog box that opens, type the names of the recipients (you can send a message to several users at a time), enter the subject and type the text of your message.

If you want to send a message to an information channel, check the name of the required information channel. All your recipients will receive the relevant notification and will see it in their **Messages**.

# Chapter 4. Initial System Setting

Before you read this chapter, it is recommended to add a configuration as described in Chapter 2.

### 4.1 Setting the Administrator Password

An Administrator is a special user who configures **ELMA General Settings**. Administrator controls **ELMA** performance in your organization.

To sign in and configure the settings, specify **admin** as your username when authorizing. System Administrator can assign other administrators, thus, other authorized users will have the administrator permissions.

First, the Administrator must set a new password. When you install **ELMA**, the administrator password filed is empty; it means that you are not required to enter a password to sign in. The administrator account is a system account and it is not counted in the number of occupied licenses.

To change the administrator password follow the steps below:

**Step 1.** Sign in to **ELMA Web Application** using the Administrator account. Username: *admin*; password is not required.

**Step 2.** Click on **Profile** in the user menu. The user profile page will open.

**Step 3.** In the right upper corner of the user profile page, you will see **Actions**; in **Actions** click **Change password** (Fig. 31).

Back E	dit Trusted Devices		Administrator ?			
My Profile						
Task	Administrator ELMA P Bithday: February 27 Local ELMA account (since November 12, 2) Office Phone Mobile Phone <u>+434523423</u>	014) E-Mail	Operations Change Password Assign Absence Assign Substitute User Minterface Language			
Messsage Keent Trusted Devic Name		Last Used	User Management Class from Trusted Devices Only Add to Trusted Devices			

Fig. 31. User profile

- **Step 4.** In the **Change Password** dialog box, you must enter the current password and the new one. When you set the administrator password for the first time, the field for the current password is empty, and you only need to type a new password. The new password must be complex enough. Since Administrator has access to all the system resources, it is very important to prevent unauthorized persons from accessing these resources.
- Step 5. Click Save. If the current password is correct, the New password and the Confirm password fields match, the password will change and the Change Password dialog box will close.

Do not forget the administrator password. It cannot be recovered!
# 4.2 Initial Server Settings

After you have installed **ELMA Server**, it must be set up to integrate in your company's IT environment.

To configure the settings:

- Sign in the **Web Application** as Administrator (username: admin);
- In the left menu click **Administration**. The left menu will display the content of this section. Here you will see all the available settings. The similar settings are grouped in blocks.

Jun 10 Wednesday				Administrator ?
Administration	💡 License Informatior			
Main Page	Version: 3.8.0.22533 Express			
🤰 Users	Number of licenses: 100, used:: 26			
👃 System				
Basic Applications	🛃 Basic Applications		🔅 System Settings	
E Portal Settings	Common Calendars		General Settings	Calendar Settings
📄 Document Management			Business Process Task Settings	Messages Settings General Settings of the "Projects+" Mo
🗛 Business Processes <			SMS Notifications Settings	General Settings of the "CRM+" Module
a CRM+	🖕 Document Manager	ment	E-Mail Notifications Settings Time Report	General Settings of the "KPI" Module
Projects+				
	Общие настройки к модулю «Докуме Contract Management	Права доступа к модулю «Документо… Digital Signature Templates	P Application Access	
📷 Calendar	Registration Offices			

Fig. 32. A fragment of the Administration page

Below see the description of the most important settings blocks.

### 4.2.1. General Settings

To configure block settings click the  $\swarrow$  icon to the right of the block header. The edit window will open.

In the **General Settings** block, you can edit the following settings (Fig. 33):

• Window title. Specify the title of the window you are currently browsing. By default, it is {*Title*} - *ELMA*. {Title} is a dynamic value and it changes depending on the section you are currently in. You can put your company name in the window title.

Jun 10	←			6	Adm	inistra	ator		?
Wednesday	Back			8		2		$\odot$	
Administration	System S	Settings							
Main Page	General Se	ttings							1
🎅 Users	Window title	e	{Title} - ELMA						
👃 System	Base Syste	mIIRI	http://127.0.0.1:8000						—
System Settings	Dase Oyste		110000						_
Components	Maximal file	e size to load (MB)	1000						
External Applications	Designer o	onnection port	7100						
Scheduler	Forms by d	efault	English (United State	s)					_
System Diagnostics	<								

Fig. 33. A fragment of the "System Settings" page

E.g., Replace {Title} - ELMA with {Title} - Company. You will see the following: Fig. 34.

Jun 10     Image: Selected Sele	<ul> <li>✓ Contractors - ELMA</li> <li>✓ ✓ ᡤ □</li> </ul>	×	← → C ㎡ ि	×
	Jun 10 Wednesday	Add Selected	Jun 10 Wednesday	Add Selected
Contractors Contractors Contractors	arm CRM	Contractors	ar CRM	Contractors

Fig. 35. Edited page title

Base System URL. This is the address of web application. When working with ELMA users receive notification that contain links to the system pages. To generate these links ELMA uses Basic System URL.

You must specify the Basic System URL as: http://<server\_address>:<port\_number>, where:

<server\_address> - the IP address of the computer where ELMA is installed;

<port\_number> - the port number specified in the Step 7 of System Setup Wizard (the
default port number is 8000).

Please note: It is very important to write Basic System URL correctly, as it affects the operation of the system. An example of a correct Basic System URL: http://127.0.0.1:8000

Fig. 34. Default page title

- Maximum file size to upload (Mb). This setting allows you to set a limit on the size of files users upload. **ELMA** will check the size of the files before users can upload them to the system server. Larger files will be automatically rejected by the system.
- Designer connection port. This port connects ELMA Designer to ELMA Server.

After changing the settings, click **Save**.

#### 4.2.2. Setting Access to the Web Application

You can connect remotely to **ELMA Web Application**. To do this, in your browser address bar enter an address in the format of <u>http://<server\_address>:<port\_number></u>, where:

```
<server_address> - the IP address of the computer where ELMA is installed;
<port_number> - the port number specified in the Step 7 of System Setup
Wizard (the default port number is 8000).
```

To provide access through the Internet you must use an external static IP-address. The server where **ELMA** is located must allow connections to this port. If there are anti-virus or Firewall software installed on the server, you must change its settings to allow connections to this port as well.

### 4.2.3. Outgoing Mail Settings

Users send outgoing e-mails to inform each other about the events inside the system. If this function is enabled, you will receive e-mails containing information about assigned and completed tasks, and other system activities you are involved in.

To ensure correct system operation, your outgoing mail settings must match your mail server settings. **ELMA** will send notifications only to those users who specified their e-mail address in their profiles.

E-Mail Notifications Settings		1
Send E-Mail Notifications	No	
Outgoing Mail Server (SMTP)		
Port Number (25 by default)	25	
Charset	UTF-8	
Use SSL	No	
Server with Authentification	No	
Sender's Name	ELMA	
Sender's mailbox		
Prefix in Message Subject	[ELMA]	
Separator for Message Signature		
Signature in Message Body	This message is automatically generated by ELMA	
Mail Wait Timeout (In Seconds)	15	
Send a test mail to the current user		

Fig. 36. Outgoing mail settings

In this setting unit, you must enter your mail server parameters and specify a sender name and e-mail. **ELMA** will send notifications on behalf of the specified sender.

You can change the prefix in the message subject as well as the separator and the signature in the message body. You will see the prefix in the message subject. E.g., by default, when you assign a new task, the executor of this task will receive a mail with the following subject: "[ELMA] (New Task) Task Subject". You will see the separator and the signature in the e-mail message body.

After editing the settings, click **Save**.

To check settings of the mail server click **Send a test message to the current user**. The system will send a test message to the mailbox specified in the profile of the current user (be sure to specify it). If the settings are incorrect, the error message will appear.

# 4.3 Designing Organizational Structure

On the first stage of **ELMA** implementation, you must design the organizational structure of your company. To do so, use **ELMA Designer**.

Organizational structure is a system of hierarchically ordered organizational units (positions, departments, company units). Simply put, the organizational structure is a graphic scheme of the company's management structure.

### 4.3.1. Purpose of Organizational Structure

Use the organizational structure to:

- Design business process models. You can assign business process participants only from the organizational structure.
- Work with **Tasks**. Managers have access to the tasks of their subordinates.
- Work with the **Calendar.** Managers have access to all the schedules of their subordinates.

Organizational structure defines the subordination between the employees.

### 4.3.2. Modeling Organizational Structure

The ELMA administrator models the company's organization structure in **ELMA Designer**, on the **Organizational Structure** tab.

By default, when you start **ELMA Designer**, the **Organizational Structure** tab opens. It contains tools for modelling company's organizational structure. In the center of the **ELMA Designer** window, on the ruled area you will see the **Organizational Structure** chart. When you create a new configuration this area will be empty.

In **ELMA**, the organizational hierarchy is represented as a tree-like structure, normally with the CEO at the top.

Please note, that the organizational structure modeling sheet can contain only one chart. **The chart can have only one head element!** 

If you want to edit the organizational structure, use Drag-and-Drop elements. The side panel of the tab contains a list of all the available organizational structure elements. Use such elements as **Department**, **Job Position**, **Group of Employees** and **Nested Structure** to model the corporate structure. To make a graphic model easier to read, you can use **Annotation** and **Group** (these elements do not affect the process execution in **ELMA**).

#### Intended use of the Elements:

**Job Position.** You can assign only one employee to one job position. Typical job positions are CEO, Chief Accountant, Secretary, etc.

**Group of Employees.** A group of users with similar duties. There is superior-subordinate relationship between the employees in the group.

**Department.** Usually consists of Department Head and Department Employees. There must be only one Head; the employees can be numerous. You can create user groups and separate job positions within a department.

**Nested structure.** This element allows you to create nested models of organizational structures. To do this, in the settings window click **Go to the nested structure**. It describes a part of the company's structure as an individual model. If the company has a complex multi-level organizational structure, the nested structure will make the model more readable. It is especially useful, if the company branches are located in different cities and you need to create a complex multi-level organizational structure.



Fig. 37. ELMA Designer  $\rightarrow$  Organizational Structure tab (new configuration)

You can use drag and drop to easily move elements from the **Organizational Structure Elements** panel to the modelling sheet (place the mouse pointer over an element, click and hold the left mouse button, move the element to the sheet).

Start modelling the organizational structure with the CEO position. Drag **Job Position** from the side panel to the empty modelling field. Double click to open **Job Position** settings window (Fig. 38). In the **Name** field, enter the name of the job position. Click **OK** to save changes.

Then add CEO's subordinates. To do this, add corresponding elements of the **Organizational Structure** and configure their settings, use connectors to link them.



Fig. 38. Adding and configuring an organizational structure element

On the toolbar, click **Index**. Move the mouse pointer over the element on the modelling sheet. Green icons will appear around the element. Choose the one you need, drag it with a mouse and "drop" it in suitable place of the modelling sheet. The system will automatically create a field for a new element name and a connector (Fig. 39).

0						ELMA 3.8		1						-	
Menu Organizationa	al Structure	Processes	Objects	Docume	ent Manag	ement	Projects	KPI	Reports	Scripts	Publication			Style 👻	MAX 🕐
Organizational Structure	Save C	heck Cancel			5			-8	100 %	Print					
Mode	Ŧ				Conf				Scale						
	Elements	Organizati	tional Structu	re											
Department Job Position Group of Employees	ns		ſ				E.	<mark>8</mark> 8°	≡ο (β) ⊂	ЭFO					
Annotation Group															
— Organizational Structur	e														
							V					∰ <b>Q</b> 100 %	Θ	Ū	• .::

Fig. 39. Adding an organizational structure element to the modelling sheet

You can add other elements in a similar way, only the elements' settings will be different.

You must connect all the elements of the organizational structure to describe the corporate hierarchy. It cannot contain unrelated elements. See an example of the organizational structure in the Fig. 41. Further, this structure will be used for process modeling.

0	ELMA 3.8.0.22551 – 🗆 🗙
Menu Organizational Structure Process	ses Objects Document Management Projects KPI Reports Scripts Publication Style 🕶 🥅 MAX 🥝
Organizational Structure	3 the x set of the term of term of the term of term o
Modes Edit	Selecting Tools Connection Scale Print
Cremendativital source pretreman Department Job Positions Group of Neted Employees Structure Annotation Group	CEO Chief Technology Officer Chief Technology Officer Chief Technology Officer Service Department Project Office Chief Accountant Chief Accountant Chief Accountant Chief Accountant Chief Accountant Chief Commercial Officer Chief Commercial Officer Sales Department
	······································
	₩ Q 100 % — 0 — + "į

Fig. 40. Organizational structure

After creating or editing the organizational structure, you must save it. To do this, on the **Organizational Structure** toolbar click **Save**.

You can always check if there are any errors in your structure by clicking **Check** on the toolbar. The system will give a warning every time it detects errors. To apply changes you must publish the organizational structure.

### 4.3.3. Publishing Organizational Structure

You must publish the organizational structure to be able to use it. To publish the organizational structure, click the multi-function **Save** button and select **Publish** (Fig. 41). **Publish Organizational Structure** dialog box will open. Enter a comment that describes the changes and then click **OK**. If the organizational structure is modeled correctly, in the emerged window you will see a confirmation of the successful publication.

After you have published a new version of the organizational structure:

- You can assign job positions to the users in Administration  $\rightarrow$  Users
- Use the new organizational structure to design business processes models



Fig. 41. Publish button

# 4.4 Creating Accounts

After you have developed and published of the organizational structure, you can start creating user accounts.

To create user accounts, open **ELMA Web Application** and sign in as Administrator (username: admin). In the left menu of the portal, click **Administration**. A page with settings grouped in units opens. Find the **Users** unit and select **User List** (Fig. 42). A page with a list of the active users opens.

Jun 10 Wednesday				Administrator ?
Administration	💡 License Informatior		a Users	
Main Page	Version: 3.8.0.22533 Express		User List	Substitutions
🎥 Users	Number of licenses: 100, used:: 26		Group List Absence Schedule	Active Users
🖧 System				
Basic Applications	🗟 Basic Applications			
E Portal Settings				
📄 Document Management				
🗛 Business Processes <				General Settings of the "CRM+" Module
a CRM+	🗀 Document Manager	ment		
Projects+	Document Types Records Classification Scheme			
🕞 KPI	Общие настройки к модулю «Докуме Contract Management	Права доступа к модулю «Документо Digital Signature Templates	P Application Access	
💷 Calendar	Registration Offices			

Fig. 42. Administration  $\rightarrow$  Users

To add a new user click **Add User** in the top menu of the page. In the page that opens, enter the user data (Fig. 43). All the required fields are in **bold** and have a red asterisk (\*) next to them. Specify the user login in the **Account** field. It is required to sign in to **ELMA**. Use numbers and letters of the Latin alphabet.

	Administrator	?
Save Cancel	😔 🛒 🖄 🐱	
Add User		
Profile Contacts Comment M	lotification Settings	
Account *		
Password		
Last Name *		
First Name *		
Middle Name		
Birth Date		
Hire Date	06/17/2015	
Job Positions	Assign	
Photo	Load File You can load a file by dragging it to this area	
	Formats: jpg, jpeg, gif, png. Optimal image dimensions: 120x120 pixels.	
Interface *	Default Interface V Q	
Groups		
Every user (if not locked) is automa	tically included in the "All Users" group	
× All Users		
Add Groups		

Fig. 43. Add User page  $\rightarrow$  Profile tab

If you have already created and published organizational structure, you can assign users to job position. To do this, click **Assign**, the organizational structure window will open; select the job positions for the user by checking the relevant organizational structure element (Fig. 44).

#### When you assign a user to positions, please note that:

- You can assign only one user to each job position.
- You can assign the same user to different job positions.



Fig. 44. Assigning a user to a job position

# Chapter 5. Business Processes

A **business process** is a series of logically related, structured activities or tasks that produce a specific service or a product.

**ELMA BPM** offers many possibilities for successful business process management. All the **ELMA** functions can be easily divided into four groups according to the stages of the Plan-Do-Check-Act Cycle (Deming Cycle):

- Design (modeling)
- Execution
- Control and monitoring
- Optimization

This chapter is arranged in four major sections, each describing one of the mentioned stages.

Use **ELMA Designer** to design and improve business process models. Created, configured and published business processes are executed in **ELMA Web Application**. You can execute business processes created in **ELMA Designer** as many times as you want in **ELMA Web Application**.

A business process created in **ELMA Designer** is called "**business process model**", "**business process**" or just "**process**".

A business process started in **ELMA Web Application** is called "**business process instance**" or just "**process instance**".

# 5.1 Modeling Business Processes

**ELMA** uses BPMN 2.0 that is well known to business analysts and easy to understand for executives.

To start working with a business process you must:

- Start the Process Wizard and set the initial data of the process.
- Design the business process model (create a graphic model, fill it with the context, set the responsibility matrix).
- Debug the process by clicking **Check** and **Start Debugging**.
- Publish the business process.

**ELMA** not only allows you to model new processes but to improve existing ones.

Further explanation of business process modeling will be based on the example of the **Leave Request** process.

Below is the **Leave Request** process description:

Any employee who needs a leave can start the **Leave Request** process. The employee's direct manager must approve the **Leave Request**. Both the employee's direct manager and the CEO must approve the **Leave Request**, if the employee is absent for a period longer than 1 day. The HR-director will receive notification on employee's absence, if the leave takes less than one day. In cases when the leave takes more than one day, the HR-director must record it. If it is a regular leave, an Accountant must Calculate Leave Pay and hand out cash. Any of the accountants can do it. After the **Leave Request** approval, the initiator of the process must write the request and submit it to HR department.

### 5.1.1. Brief Description of BPMN

BPMN is a method of illustrating business processes in the form of a diagram similar to a flowchart. BPMN provides a standard notation that is easy to understand for developers who are responsible for the processes implementation, analysts who create and improve processes and management personnel who monitor and control processes.

BPMN describes any process as a chain of operations (activities), executed sequentially or in parallel, in accordance with certain workflow rules.

Bellow you will find a brief overview of the main BPMN elements that you can use to model a process when working with **ELMA**.

**Swimlanes** are BPMN elements used to separate and organize activities by participants. Each **Swimlane** represents a participant; activities placed in the **Swimlane** are activities that the participant is in charge of.

Each business process must have one **Start Event**. The **Start Event** shows where the process can start. In BPMN, the **Start Event** is a small, open circle. (In ELMA, it is a green circle).

The **End event** marks where the process ends. Within the process, multiple **End Events** might exist depending on the number of process paths. In BPMN, the **End Event** is a small, open circle. (In ELMA, it is a red circle).

All the elements logically connected to each other and placed between the Start and End events show the sequence of the process.

An **Activity** is the main element that represents the work performed within the process. It is a step within the process. An **Activity** is an executable element of the BPMN Process.

You can find a full description of Activities in **ELMA Designer Help.** This chapter gives detailed information about three activity types:

- 1. **User Task**. Work that must be done by a user. When users finish this work, they must enter certain information in the form and click one of the available buttons to continue.
- 2. **Manual Task**: A task that is external to **ELMA**. E.g., "Sign paper contract". You can place this activity in the business process model if you want to make it easier to understand. **Manual tasks** do not interfere with the process execution.
- 3. **Script Task**: **ELMA** executes this operation automatically. **Script** is an activity that executes a program code at any stage of a business process.

Another element of a business process model is a **Gateway**. The **Gateways** are modelling elements, which you use to:

1. Check if the condition for the execution of the business process is true or false and select one Sequence Flow from several Sequence Flows (E.g., system checks the amount of the contract. If the amount of the contract is low, the simplified approval procedure will be carried out). In this case, it is an **Exclusive Gateway (XOR)**.

2. Create a **parallel flow**. (E.g., various employees simultaneously approve the contract). In this case, it is a **Parallel Gateway (AND)**.

To link **Actions** and **Gateways** you must use the **Connectors**. A **Connector** is an arrow \_\_\_\_\_\_ going from the source element towards the target element. **Connectors** show the sequence of flow.

Create and design a business process model in **ELMA Designer**.

### 5.1.2. Creating Business Process

To create a new business process use **ELMA Designer.** In **ELMA Designer,** find the **Processes** tab. It contains the **Process List** with all the processes created for this configuration.

An empty configuration may already contain some processes, related to **Contract Management** and/or **Projects+**, if these applications are installed. For all configurations, the scope of delivery also includes the **Improvement** process.

Thus, to create a new business process follow the steps bellow:

- 1. Start ELMA Designer.
- 2. In **ELMA Designer**, open the **Processes** tab.
- 3. Click the Add button on the toolbar (Fig. 45).

0			ELMA 3.7.2.33371						_ 🗆 🗙
Menu Organizational Structure	Processes	Objects	Document Management	Projects	KPI	Reports	Scripts	Publication	Style 👻 MAX 🕜
Add	XPDL								
Operations									
Process List									
Name Versio	n Start is pe	ermitted A	uthor		Created C	)n	Change	d On:	Published On
Contract Management									
Process improvement 1	No	Ac	Iministrator ELMA		12/12/201	2 11:58 AM	6/29/201	5 5:40 PM	6/19/2015 5:52 PM

Fig. 45. Using Add button to create a new process in ELMA Designer

- 4. **Process Creation Wizard** opens and **Add Process** dialog box appears. Here you can configure the parameters of the new business process:
  - i. Step 1. Common Properties. Enter the process name (Fig. 46). Do not change the default process group (All Processes) now. Later you can move the process to any group you want. Click Next to continue.

	Process Name *	Leave Request
		Example: Loading goods to car
Common	Process Group	🕒 All Processes 🗣 🔹
Properties		Data Structure *
	Class name	P_LeaveRequest
2		The class name to work with the context variables of this process. The name will be used in scripts and reports.
	Table Name in Database	P_LeaveRequest
Swimlanes		The table that will store the instance variable values for this process
		Process Metrics Structure ¥
		Process Instance Metrics Structure  *

Fig. 46. Step 1 of the Process Creation Wizard

ii.Step 2. Swimlanes. Select and add the business process participants. To do this, use the organizational structure created and published before. In the Organizational Structure window, select one element. In the upper right corner of the Wizard window, click Move. The selected element will appear in the Swimlane area to the right. You will also be able to add or remove participants at the later stages of the process modeling. Select and move the following elements: CEO, HR Director and Payroll Accountant (Fig. 47).

Swimlanes   Swimlanes   Swimlanes     Swimlanes
V Dack

Fig. 47. Step 2 of the Process Creation Wizard

#### iii.Click Next to close Process Creation Wizard.

**ELMA Designer** will create a new business process with the start event and the swimlanes defined in the **Step 2** of **Process Creation Wizard** (Fig. 48). If you do not selected process participants in the **Step 2**, the new process will be created without swimlanes.

Now configure the swimlanes and design the process model.



Fig. 48. New process with swimlanes

### 5.1.3. Configuring Swimlanes

This section explains how to configure swimlanes. According to the **Leave Request** process description (p. 52), the following users participate in the process: Initiator (any user), Initiator's Manager, CEO, HR Director and Payroll Accountant.

In the **Step 2**, you have created CEO, HR Director and the Payroll Accountant swimlanes. Now add two more swimlanes for the Initiator and Initiator's Manager. To do this, select and move all the existing swimlanes to the right. In the left part of the window, find **Left Toolbar. Left Toolbar** contains several tabs and shows a list of all the available flow objects divided into groups according to their types. Drag two swimlanes from the **Left Toolbar** and place them to the left of the existing ones. Adjust the swimlane size. Place the start event within the leftmost swimlane.



Fig. 49. Left Toolbar

Learn more about flow objects in **ELMA Help**.



Fig. 50. Adding new swimlanes

All the swimlanes in Fig. 50 are static, i.e. the job positions of the responsible users do not change during the entire process. In the graphic model, such swimlanes are grey.

The **Swimlane 1** must represent **any** system user, regardless of the position he or she occupies. For such situations, you must use dynamic swimlanes: the job position of the responsible user is determined during the execution of the process instance. If you select the dynamic type for the **Swimlane 1**, the executor of the tasks placed within this swimlane will be the user who starts the process.

To configure the swimlane, double left click on its name. The swimlane settings window will open (Fig. 51).

)		Swimlane 1			- 🗆 ×
eneral Context Variable Visibility Mo	ore Proje	ect Access Permission	s		
Name *	Swimla	ne 1			
Swimlane Type					
Change Type	$\bigcirc$	Static			
Variable to Define/Store Executor —					
			-	📥 Add va	riable
-				-	
Executor					]
⊞ 🖓 Commercial Director					
- 🔕 Secretary					
🗉 🖓 Chief technology officer					
🕀 📄 IT Department					
🗄 ·· 🚷 HR Director					
				<b>ОК</b>	🛞 Cancel

Fig. 51. Swimlane settings window

Enter a new name. Change the **Swimlane Type** to **Dynamic.** To do this click **Change Type** button and choose **Dynamic (select from the list).** (Fig. 52).

) General (Context Variable Visibil	Swimlane 1
Name *	Initiator
Swimlane Type Change Type Variable to Define/Store Execut	Static
Executor E CEO E CEO CEO CFO CFO Commercial Direct Commercial Direct Commercial Direct Commercial Direct CEO CEO CEO CFO CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO CEO CE	Swimlane Type     -     ×       Static     Static       Static       Dynamic (selected from list)       Dynamic (defined by script)
HR Director	<ul> <li>Business Role</li> <li>OK</li> <li>Cancel</li> </ul>
L	© OK Scancel

Fig. 52. Changing a swimlane type

Then add a process variable that will store the user - Initiator. Click the **Add Variable** button to open the **Property Settings** window. In this window, do not change the default settings (Fig. 53) and click **OK** to save the property.

0	Property Settings – 🗆 🗙
General More Documentation	
Displayed Name *	Initiator
	Property Name in your language. The name may contain any characters
Type *	🖉 User 🗙 🗸
Link Type *	Single
Description	<b>^</b>
	U U
	Data Structure *
Property Name *	Initiator
	The name of class property that will be used in scripts and reports
Name of field in database *	Initiator
	Database table filed that will store values of this property
	OK Cancel

*Fig. 53 Configuring property settings of the process variable* 

Then, at the bottom of the swimlane settings window add the users who can be the executors of the tasks placed in this swimlane. Since any user can start this process, do not change the default **All Users** group in job position/group panel. If you need to limit the swimlane user list, delete the **All Users** group and add the necessary job positions/groups (click the relevant buttons).

0	Swim	lane 1	- 🗆 ×
General Context Variable Visib	ility More Project Acce	ess Permissions	
Name *	Initiator		
Swimlane TypeChange Type	- Contraction Dyna	amic (selected from list)	
Variable to define/store exec	sutor	•	Add Variable
Define a list of job positions tha	t can be stated as proces	s executors for this Swiml	ane
Add Job I	Position	da 🚽 Ad	d User Group
Job Position / Group			×
Use preselection		OUse the "First Respo	nse" mechanism
			🔗 OK 🔞 Cancel

*Fig.* 54. *Swimlane*  $1 \rightarrow$  *Settings window*  $\rightarrow$  *General tab* 

See all the resulting settings of **the Swimlane 1** in the Fig. 54. Click **OK** to save your settings.

Now the name of the **Swimlane 1** is **Initiator** and its color is green.

After that, configure the settings of **Swimlane 2**. The executor of the tasks placed within this swimlane is the initiator's manager. For each process instance, this user will be determined individually. Therefore, use the dynamic swimlane to represent the initiator's manager and select only the executive positions from the organizational structure (Fig. 55).

0	Swimlane 2	_ 🗆 🗡
General Context Variable Visibility	lore Project Access Permissions	
Name *	Initiator's Manager	
Swimlane Type Change Type	Dynamic (selected from list)	
Variable to define/store executor		
Initiator's Manager		🖶 Add Variable
Define a list of job positions that can	e stated as proc 🔇 Select an organizational stru	ucture element 🛛 🗕 🗆 🗙
Add Job Position	CEO     CEO     Finance Department     Finance Department     Constraint     Constraint	ent epartment
Use preselection	Grief Lechnology Officer     Grief Lechnology Officer     Grief Logistics Department     Grief @      Go Department Head: Logistics     Grief @      Go Department     Grief @      Go Department Head: Service	s Department
		🕑 OK ( 😒 Cancel

Fig. 55. Selecting executors of the task placed within the Swimlane  $2\,$ 

### Below are the **Swimlane 2** settings:

Name	Initiato	r's Manager			
Swimlane Type					
Change Type	8	Dynamic (selected from list)			
Variable to define/store exec	utor				
Initiator's Manager			-	👍 Add Variable	
Add Job Positi	in the stated as	Add Llear Group		Add from Property	
Add Job Positi	on	Add User Group	-	Add from Property	
Job Position / Group					~
CEO					~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~
3 CFO					
Department Head: Finance	Department				
Chief Accountant					
Department Head: 11 Depar	tment				
HR Director     Commercial Director     Desertment Used: Selec Di					$\sim$

Fig. 56. Swimlane  $2 \rightarrow$  Settings window  $\rightarrow$  General tab

Save the **Swimlane 2** settings and leave other swimlanes unchanged. Go to the next step of the process modelling - creating a chain of tasks (activities).

### 5.1.4. ELMA Activities

To create an activity drag the appropriate elements from the **Left Toolbar** and place them within the swimlanes.

To add **User Task** activity:

- Use the mouse to drag the User Task icon from the Left Toolbar to the empty place within the swimlane that represents the user responsible for this activity. The system generates the name of this activity by default. You can change this name later. (Fig. 58).
- 2. Change the task name. To do this, double click on the task element you have just dropped in the swimlane. Task settings window opens. In this window, edit the Name field (Fig. 59). Type: Fill in Leave request form. When ELMA Web Application executes this process instance, the first task assigned to the user will have this name.
- 3. You can enter a text in the **Description** field to give a detailed explanation of the task or to leave a comment. Users will see this text on the task page below the task name.
- 4. Click **OK** to save the changes.



Fig. 58. Adding a User Task element

eneral (Form (Context) (Form Se	tings Execution Time More (Policy
Name *	Fill in Leave Request Form
	The name is generated from a template
Description	
	The description is generated from a
Operation Type	
Change Operation Type	User Task
Marker	
Change Marker	N/A N/A
Availabilty on external devices an	d applications
Check Availabil	ity
Forbid to reassign	
	📀 OK 🔞 Cancel

Fig. 59. Configuring a user task. Task settings window  $\rightarrow$  General tab

The full description of **User Tasks** settings and other modelling elements is available in **ELMA Help**.

In a similar way, add other activities to the graphic the process model. Use the mouse to move the existing activities on the graphic model from one Swimlane to another. See the result in Fig. 60:



Fig. 60. Arranging the tasks in the business process model

The system uses such element as **Notification** to deliver messages to the participants of the business process. According to the **Leave Request** process description (p. 52), the HR-director will receive notification on user's absence, if the leave takes less than one day. Therefore, place a notification element in the HR Director's swimlane and change its name (Fig. 61).



Fig. 61. Adding a notification

Place another notification within the initiator's swimlane. The system will send a message to the initiator if any of the approvers rejects the leave.

Now use the connectors to link the process tasks and create a sequence of activities.

One of the important user task settings is the execution time. By default, the task due date is not specified. To improve the execution of the business processes it is recommended to specify the task due date.

The easiest method is to specify relative date of the task completion. The system will automatically calculate the task end date depending on the specified value. You can also specify users who will receive system notifications on overdue tasks. If the user does not complete the task in time it will be highlighted red in the task list.

To set the due date for the user task double click on the **User Task**  $\rightarrow$  **User Task** settings window opens  $\rightarrow$  go to **Execution Time** tab  $\rightarrow$  choose the **Task has end date** option. Then if you choose **Exact Value**, the due date value will be calculated in business week, days and hours; if you choose **Context Variable**, **ELMA** will use its value as the task's due date.

E.g., if you want the employees to treat the task more responsibly you must specify its end date. Specify the execution time of the **Submit Request to HR Department** task: it must be three working days. Also, configure the settings so that the HR Director receives a notification if the task is overdue.

General Form (Context) Form Settings       Execution Time (tore Policy)         End Date       Image: Context variable         Image: Context variable       Image: Context variable         Day(s)       Hour(s)         Image: Context variable       Image: Context variable         Day(s)       Hour(s)         Image: Context variable       Image: Context variable         Day(s)       Hour(s)         Image: Context variable       Image: Context variable         Day(s)       Image: Context variable         Image: Context variable       Image: Context variable         Image: Context variab	O Pass Request to	o HR Department – 🗖 🗙
End Date       Time Report Limit         Image: Task has end date       Image: Task has time report limit         Maximal Task Execution Period       Image: Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time report limit         Image: Task has time report limit       Task has time repo	General Form (Context) Form Settings Execution Time (	Policy
	End Date Task has end date Maximal Task Execution Period Exact value Context variable Day(s) Hour(s) Minutes(s) 3 0 0 0 0 Users to inform when the task is overdue Ward a Add a	Time Report Limit Task has time report limit Tesk Time Report Limit Exact value Day(s) Hour(s) Minutes(s) D + 0 + 0 + 0 +

Fig. 62. Specifying the end date for the user task

### 5.1.5. Connectors

After you have arranged process activities in the graphic model, link them with **Connectors**. Connectors define the order of the flow objects.

To link two flow objects, move the mouse pointer to the edge of the first flow object - a small red square will appear next to the mouse pointer; it is a connection point. Now click and hold the left mouse button and draw the connection toward the second object. Another red square will appear on it. To connect two objects draw a line to that point. **ELMA** will create a connector when you release the mouse button.



Fig. 63. Adding a flow line

To open connector settings window double click on the connector or select **Settings** in the connector context menu.

In the graphic model, some activities can have multiple outgoing connectors. E.g., a **User Task** activity with various outgoing connectors implies that you must decide which path the process takes after this task is completed.

In **ELMA Web Application**, on the **User Task Page** you will see task completion buttons. The number of the buttons depends on the number of the outgoing task connectors. The name of each button corresponds to the connector's name. If the connector does not have a name, the button name will be generated as follows: the ">" sign and the name of the target element of this connector.

Connect all the flow objects in the **Leave Request** process; enter the connectors' names. Add end events to the process: one for the rejected request and one for the approved request.

A user must be able to cancel process execution in case of false start. For this, draw an additional outgoing connector from the first activity. In the connector's settings window, select the **Do not check if the context variables are filled in** option (Fig. 64).

0	End Process – 🗆 🗙
General More	
Name	End Process
Description	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	Do not check if the context variables are filled in
Escalate	
Edit	N/A
	OK 🔞 Cancel

Fig. 64. Selecting option: Do not check if the context variables are filled in

### The graphic model of the process now looks as follows (Fig. 65):



Fig. 65. The Leave Request process model with connectors

Now, fill the process with context values and select the context variables for the user tasks. You can configure later the outgoing connectors of the **Submit Request to HR Department** task and of the HR Director notification.

### 5.1.6. Business Process Context

The **business process context** is the information about the participants and contractors, data and standard document forms, executors' comments and other information created, edited, processed, transmitted, displayed or saved within the process.

In **ELMA**, the process context is a set of variables. A **context variable** is a minimum information unit of a certain type. There are two types of variables: simple variable - contains only one component; and compound variable - contains a set of fields or data block.

You can see the list of all the process context variables in **ELMA Designer**  $\rightarrow$  **Process**  $\rightarrow$  **Process List** $\rightarrow$  **Context** tab (Fig. 66).

The process has two default variables: "**Process Instance**" and "**UID**". These variables cannot be edited, copied or deleted. In the context variable list, they are highlighted green.

0							ELMA	3.8.0.2255	1						-	□ ×
М	enu	Organiza	ational Str	ucture	Processes	Objects	Document M	anagement	Proje	cts KPI	Reports	Scripts	Publica	tion	Style 👻	MAX 📀
	-		H		1		<b>\$</b>		00					<b>/</b> };		h t
	Contex	đ	Save •	Check	New Sub-Process	Start Debugging	Visibility of Variables	Instance Names	Instance Statuses	Process Indicator	Documentatio	n Policy	Image	Add	Edit D	elete
	Section	n			General			Settir	igs		E	xport		Cor	ntext Varia	ables
P	Process L	list 🜔	Leave R	equest*	8											
8	😭 Graphic Model 🚱 Context 🕼 Responsibility Matrix 🕥 Metrics and KPIs 📅 Forms 🚱 Scripts 🖓 Settings 🚯 Version History 💭 Policy															
		-		a was n	soponoionity in		nus anu ru is v	Forms	Co Scripts	CL Semi	igs ( ersion	mistory (	Folicy			
	Displaye	ed Name		u (13/11	seponentinity in	Property Na	me	ronns	Con Scripts	Type	igs ( <b>*</b> © version	HISLOLY (	- Folicy	Sear	ch Inpu	t Output
	Displaye	ed Name		u (13) 11	seponently in	Property Nar WorkflowInst	me ance	Pornis	C Script	Type Workflow	Process Instance	e (Object)	Folicy	Sean	ch Inpu	t Output
	Displaye Process UID	ed Name Instance	; ;	u (13) 11	seponentinty in	Property Nar WorkflowInst Uid	me tance	TO FOILING	(C) Script	Vorkflow UID (GUID	Process Instance	e (Object)	E Folicy	Sear	ch Inpu	t Output
•	Displaye Process UID Initiator	ed Name	•			Property Nar WorkflowInst Uid Initiator	me tance		Ca Script	Type Workflow UID (GUIE User (Obje	Process Instance	e (Object)	e roncy	Sear	ch Inpu	t Output
· · ·	Displaye Process UID Initiator	ed Name Instance	e e er			Property Nar WorkflowInst Uid Initiator InitiatorMana	me lance ger		Co Scripte	Type Workflow UID (GUID User (Obje	Process Instance D) ect) ect)	e (Object)	C POICY		ch   Inpu 	t Output
· · ·	Displaye Process UID Initiator Initiator's	ed Name Instance s Manage	er 			Property Nar WorkflowInst Uid Initiator InitiatorMana	me tance ger		C Scripts	Vorkflow UID (GUIE User (Obje	Process Instance )) ect) ect)	(Object)	<u>c</u> roncy		ch   Inpu   	t Output
· ·	Displaye Process UID Initiator Initiator's	ed Name Instance s Manage	er 			Property Nai WorkflowInst Uid Initiator InitiatorMana	me tance ger		C Scripts	Type Workflow UID (GUIE User (Obje	Process Instance	(Object)			ch   Inpu   	t Output
•	Displaye Process UID Initiator Initiator's	ed Name Instance s Manage	e e er			Property Nai WorkflowInst Uid Initiator InitiatorMana	me lance ger		C Scripts	Type Workflow UID (GUIE User (Obje User (Obje	Process Instance )) ict) ict)	(Object)	2 Folly	Sear	ch   Inpu     	t Output
•	Displaye Process UID Initiator Initiator's	ed Name Instance s Manage	2F			Property Na WorkflowInst Uid Initiator InitiatorMana	ger		C Scuba	Type Workflow UID (GUIE User (Obje	Process Instance )) icd) icd)	+ (Object)	e roncy	Sear	ch   Inpu ] ]	t Output

Fig. 66. Process context variables

You have already added the **Initiator** and **Initiator's Manager** variables when configuring the dynamic swimlanes.

By assigning different data types to variables, you can store numeric or string data, dates and objects in these variables.

Add new context variables in the **Context** tab or in the user task settings window. You can add or delete variables at any modelling/editing stage of the business process.

To add a new variable, click **Add** button on the toolbar or click anywhere on the screen and select **Add Property** in the drop-down menu (Fig. 68). The **Property Settings** dialog box will open (Fig. 69, Fig. 70).

0				elma	3.8.0.22551							_	□ ×
Menu Organiz	ational Structur	re Processes	Objects	Document N	lanagement	Projec	ts KPI	Reports	Scripts	Publicat		tyle 👻	MAX 🕐
Context	Save Che	eck New Sub-Process	Start Debugging	Visibility of Variables	Instance Names	Instance Statuses	Process Indicator	Documenta	tion Policy	() Image	Add		
											Cont		
	Leave Reque	st* 3											
船 Graphic Model 👔	Gontext												
Displayed Name	Э		Property Na	me			Туре				Searc	n Input	Output
				tance					nce (Object)				
Initiator			Initiator				User (Obje	ct)					
Initiator's Manag	er		InitiatorMana	ger			User (Obje	ct)					
							Add Prope Add Block Edit Delete Up Down Copy Paste	rty					

Fig. 68. Adding a context variable

Enter the variable name, select the type and specify the required parameters. The list of parameters depends on the type of the selected variable. For advanced settings open the **More** and the **Documentation** tabs of the **Property Settings** dialog box. However, normally you do not use this tabs when configuring variables.

Learn more about how to create and configure context variables in **ELMA Help**.

Click **OK** to save the information you have entered.

Variable Name	Туре
Leave Type	In the <b>Type</b> field, select <b>Drop-Down List</b> .
	In the <b>List Elements</b> field type: Unpaid Leave and Regular Paid Leave.
	Choose the <b>Select from list only</b> option.
	Select the default value.
	In the <b>Description</b> field, add a comment with the leave type
	description. (Fig. 69).
Request Text	In the <b>Type</b> field, select <b>Text</b>
Start Date	In the <b>Type</b> field, select <b>Date/Time</b> , show only <b>date</b> (Fig. 70)
End Date	In the <b>Type</b> field, select <b>Date/Time</b> , show only <b>date</b>
Manager's Comment	In the <b>Type</b> field, select <b>Text</b> .

Now add and configure the following context variables for the **Leave Request** process:

	In the <b>Description</b> field, add a comment "Required to fill in if rejected"
Director's Comment	In the <b>Type</b> field, select <b>Text</b> .
	In the <b>Description</b> field, add a comment "Required to fill in if rejected"
Leave Pay Amount	Fraction

)	Property Settings	- 🗆 ×
eneral More Documentation		
Displayed Name *	Leave Type	
	Property Name in your language. The name may contain any characters	
Туре *	Drop-Down List	× -
List elements	Unpaid Leave Regular Paid Leave	^
		~
Select from list only		
Default Value	Regular Paid Leave	-
Description		^
	Data Structure	*
Property Name *	LeaveType	^
	The name of class property that will be used in scripts and reports	
Name of field in database *	LeaveType	
	Database table filed that will store values of this property	~
	Ок	(Cancel

Fig. 69. Configuring the variable, type: Drop-Down List

0	Property Settings – 🗖	×
General More Documentation		
Displayed Name *	Start Date	
	Property Name in your language. The name may contain any characters	
Туре *	Date/Time	× -
may have an empty value	N	
Show	🗹 Date 🔲 Time	
Select the current one		
Description		^
		~
	Data Structure	*
Property Name *	StartDate	
	The name of class property that will be used in scripts and reports	
Name of field in database *	StartDate	
	Database table filed that will store values of this property	
		ancel

Fig. 70. Configuring the variable, type: Date/Time

Now the **Context** tab of the **Leave Request** process looks as follows (Fig. 71):

Process List 🕗 Leave Request* 🔇					
🔒 Graphic Model 😡 Context 🚨 Res	ponsibility Matrix 🥥 Metrics and KPIs 💼 For	ms 🐼 Scripts 🖞 Settings 🔂 Version History 🕻 Policy			
Displayed Name	Property Name	Туре	Search	Input	Output
Process Instance	WorkflowInstance	Workflow Process Instance (Object)			
· UID	Uid	UID (GUID)			
· Initiator	Initiator	User (Object)			
· Initiator's Manager	InitiatorManager	User (Object)			
· Leave Type	LeaveType	Drop-Down List			
· Request Text	RequestText	Text			
· Start Date	StartDate	Date/Time			
· End Date	EndDate	Date/Time			
· Manager's Comment	ManagerComment	Text			
· Director's Comment	DirectorComment	Text			
Leave Pay Ammount	LeavePayAmount	Fraction			
					.:

Fig. 71. The Context tab with specified variables

Define the information that will be available for each user task. Open the **Graphic Model** tab of the process.

Configure the first task settings (The **Fill in Leave Request Form** task). To do this, double click on the task  $\rightarrow$  task settings window opens  $\rightarrow$  go to the **Form (Context)** tab (Fig. 72).

0	Fill i	n Leav	e Request	Form		- 🗆 🗙
General Form (Cor	text) Form Settings Executi	on Time	More Polic	y		
Form Type:	Simple Form		⊙ Fo	rm Builder		
中 Add	Move 🔷		雀 Up	🕽 Down	🖉 Edit	🔀 Delete
	All Properties			D	isplayed Properties -	
Initiator			Property		Name on the form	Requi Read OnC
Initiator's Manager						
Leave Type						
Request Text						
Start Date		-				
End Date						
Manager's Comment						
Director's Comment		- 🔶 🛛				
Leave Pay Ammount	1					
OnLoad form script						
Not selected	Add Script					
					<b>О</b> К	🙁 Cancel

Fig. 72. The Form (Context) tab of the task

The tab contains two lists: **All Properties** and **Displayed Properties**. The **All Properties** list shows all the process context variables; you created this list on the **Process Context** tab (Fig. 72). The **Displayed Properties** list contains the variables that the users will see when this task is assigned to them.

Each variable has three display modes:

- **Required** check the **Required** box next to the variable name to choose this option;
- Read Only check the Read Only box next to the variable name to choose this option;
- **OnChange value script** check this box if you have not selected any of the above options.

If the variable is marked as the **Required** field, you will not be able to complete the task until you fill in the respective field in **ELMA Web Application**.
The **Read Only** option forbids anyone from making any changes to the variable. The users receive task data for informational purposes only.

For the **Fill in Leave Request Form** task move the required proprieties from the **All Proprieties** list to the **Displayed Proprieties** list and select the display options (Fig. 73).

0	Fill in	Leav	/e	Request Form		-		×
General Form (Contex	Form Settings Executio	n Time	N	More Policy				
Form Type:	Simple Form			O Form Builder				
📲 Add 🛛 🛉	Move 🔷			😢 Up 🛛 🔍 Down	🦉 Edit		🔀 Delet	te
All	Properties	_	k	D	isplayed Properties –			
Initiator				Property	Name on the form	Requ	Reac Or	nC
Initiator's Manager				Initiator	Initiator		<b>~</b>	_
Leave Type				Leave Type	Leave Type	<		_
Request Text				Request Text	Request Text	~		
Start Date			4	Start Date	Start Date	~		
End Date				End Date	End Date	✓		
Manager's Comment				Initiator's Manager	Initiator's Mana	-		
Director's Comment		<u> </u>	4					
Leave Pay Ammount								
			Ļ					
OnLoad form script —			-					_
Not selected	Add Script		1					
10100000								
							<b>a</b>	
					<b>ОК</b>		Cancel	

Fig. 73. Configuring displayed task properties

You can change the context variable name on the task form for each task: change the **Name on the form** attribute of the context variable. E.g., change the displayed property of the **Initiator** context variable. To open the property settings double click on the property name in the right column. Enter the new name into the **Name on the form** field, (for example, **Employee's Full Name** (Fig. 74)) and click **OK** to save the changes.

0	[Process Context Property] Settings 🛛 – 🗖 🗙
General Nested propertie	Advanced System
Property Name	Initiator
Name on the form *	Employee's Full Name
Description	
	×
Required field	
Read only	
	OK 😢 Cancel

Fig. 74. Editing the displayed name of the context variable on the task form

For the **Read Only** variables, the task form can contain not only the variable name, but the variable proprieties as well. E.g., for the **User** variable, the task form can show such proprieties as Positions, Office Phone, E-Mail, etc. You can find all available properties in the **Nested Properties** tab when you configure the variable (Fig. 75).

• [Prop	er	ty] Setti	ngs		-		×
General Nested Properties Advanced System							
Move 🛶		雀 Up	🕽 Down	🦉 Edit		💢 De	lete
All Properties			——— Dis	played Properti	es		
Password 🔶 🔺		Property	1	Name on the f	om	Requ	Read
First Name		Job Posit	ions	Job Positions			•
Middle Name / Patronymic 🔷		Office Ph	one	Office Phone			•
Last Name 🔷		E-Mail		E-Mail			-
Full Name 🔷							
E-Mail	4						
Birth Date 🔷							
Hire Date 🔷							
Office Phone							
Mobile Phone 🔷	4						
Room No. 🔷							
Description 🔷							
Skype 🔷							
ICQ 🔷							
Jabber ID 🔷							
Authorization Provider 🔷 💌	ļ.	<u>[</u>					
				<b>О</b> К		🖹 Can	cel

Fig. 75. Configuring a property in the Nested Properties tab

Likewise, specify context variables for all the user tasks of the process.

Select variables for the **Fill in Leave Request form** task and mark them as **Required**. Then add the same variables to the Manager and CEO approval task forms: but now you must mark them as **Read Only**. After that, add the **Manager's Comment** and the **CEO's Comment** variables to the respective approval task forms and mark them as **Required**. For the **Approve** connectors that go out of these tasks select **Do not check if the context variables are filled in**. Such settings allow the Initiator's Manager and CEO to leave the comment field blank, but the approvers must explain their reasons if they reject the request.

Add all the process variables to the HR Director's task and mark them as **Read Only**. In the same way, configure the Initiator's **Submit Request to HR Department** task.

For the Accountant's **Calculate Leave Pay** task, select all the previous variables. Add the **Leave Pay Amount** variable and mark it as **Required**. Now to complete the task the Accountant will have to fill in this field in the task form. For the **Pay leave pay** task mark all the context variables as **Read Only**.

After you have configured all the user tasks and connectors, proceed with the notifications. Make the in-process messages to the user more informative: configure the message text template.

Open the settings window of the notification that the Initiator will receive if the leave request is rejected. Go to the **Notification Template** tab. When you put the cursor over the **Subject** or **Message Text** fields, the **Data** button becomes active. Use it to select the context variables and insert their values or their string/numeric properties into the message.

E.g., to insert the Initiator's full name, click **Context**  $\rightarrow$  **Initiator**  $\rightarrow$  **Full Name**; to insert the Manager's comment, click **Context**  $\rightarrow$  **Manager's Comment** (Fig. 76).



*Fig.* 76. *Configuring the notification template* 

**ELMA** will generate the text blocks enclosed in curly brackets { }. When sending a message, the system will use these text blocks to fill in the respective message fields (Fig. 76).

Customize the template for the notification as follows:

		_	
0	Leave Request Rejected -		×
General Notifica	ation Template Attached Files Notification Receivers		
Data 🔻			
Topic *			
Leave Request F	Rejected (from {\$Context.StartDate} to {\$Context.EndDate})		
Message text			
Employee's Full N Manager's Comm Director's Comme	Name: {\$Context.Initiator.FullName} ent: {\$Context.ManagerSComment} ent : {\$Context.DirectorSComment}		^
			~
	More		×
	oк (	🔀 Ca	ncel

Fig. 77. An example of notification template

Likewise, customize the template of the **Notification on Leave Less than One Day** that will be sent to the HR Director.

Since this process can follow two different paths (depending on the duration of the leave), you need to use a **Gateway** to allow multiple outgoing flows.

#### 5.1.7. Gateways

When you design a process model, you often need to use conditions. A condition is a filter that checks if some equation is true or false and automatically chooses one of the process paths.

In ELMA, you can use three types of gateways to check conditions.



**Exclusive Gateway** (**XOR**) is a point in the process where only one of the outgoing paths of the process can be selected. Each outgoing connector specifies the condition under which the process follows this path. If the

conditions for several outgoing paths are satisfied, the process follows the path marked as "default". Every **XOR gateway** needs a default path.



**OR Gateway** activates all the outgoing paths for which the conditions are satisfied. All the outgoing paths from the OR gateway must go to a similar OR gateway.



**Parallel Gateway** (**AND**) activates all the outgoing paths. Use this gateway to create parallel flows. All the flows going out of a parallel gateway must go to a similar parallel gateway.

Learn more about gateways in **ELMA Help**.

Add an **XOR gateway** to the **Leave Request** process model to create different outgoing paths depending on the leave duration.



Fig. 78. XOR Gateway

Suppose the start and the end date of the leave are the same, so the leave takes one day or less. Configure the connectors from the **XOR gateway**. Specify the condition for the **One day or less** connector (Fig. 79) and mark the **More than 1 day** as the default connector. In the gateway settings, specify the condition check order (Fig. 80).

0	1 day or less	-	□ ×
General Condition More			
Condition variant: <ul> <li>Table</li> </ul>	C	Script	
Binding Operand 1	Operation	Operand 2	
X Start Date	Ξ	End Date	
+			
		<b>О</b> К (	🔀 Cancel

Fig. 79. Configuring XOR gateway outgoing connector

0	Gateway 1	-	□ ×
General System Variable	Condition Check Order		
Transition Name		By default	
1 day or less			1
More than 1 day		✓	t
	C	ок (	🛛 Cancel

Fig. 80. Configuring the condition check order

According to the process description, the accountant must execute the **Calculate Leave Pay** task only in case of **Regular Paid Leave.** Therefore, create two process paths using the exclusive **XOR gateway**.

Configure the **Paid Leave** connector. Double click on the **Paid Leave** connector  $\rightarrow$  **Transition Condition** tab opens  $\rightarrow$  in the **Operand 1** column select **Leave Type** context variable. To set a condition in the **Operand 2** column, click the **Not defined** link and select **Change Value**. The **Enter Your Value** window opens. Select the **Regular Paid Leave** (Fig. 81). Click **OK** to save the changes.

0		Paid Leave		_ 🗆 🗙
General Cor	dition More			
Condition var	iant: 💿 Table	Script		
Binding	Operand 1	Operation	Operand 2	
×	Leave Type		<u><not define<="" u=""></not></u>	d>
+				Change Value
				Process Instance
				UID
				Initiator
				Initiator's Manager
				Leave Type
0	Enter your value	_ 🗆 🗙		Request Text
<u> </u>	Enter your value			Start Date
Regula	r Paid Leave			End Date
				Manager's Comment
	0	OK 🛛 🔞 Cancel		Director's Comment
				Leave Pay Amount
				OK 🔇 Cancel

Fig. 81. Configuring the gateway connector

In a similar manner configure the **Unpaid Leave** connector; select another **Leave Type** and mark it as the default path.

The **Submit Request to HR Department** task and the **Calculate Leave Pay** task must be executed in parallel. Create parallel process paths using a **Parallel Gateway**.



Now, the graphic model of the process is more complex and it looks as follows (Fig. 82):

Fig. 82. The graphic process model with gateways

In **ELMA**, the process model must contain two parallel gateways, as all the paths going out of the parallel gateway must go to a similar parallel gateway. Due to this constraint, add a duplicate **Submit Request to HR Department** task to the Initiator's swimlane.

## 5.1.8. Responsibility matrix

After you have configured the graphic model and the context of the process, you can configure the **Responsibility matrix**. Open **ELMA Designer**  $\rightarrow$  **Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **Process List**  $\rightarrow$ **Responsibility matrix** tab (Fig. 83). This tab shows the participants' permissions.

Process List OLeave Request * 8				
Context 🔠 Responsibility Matrix 🕥 Metrics and	KPIs 🕞 Forms 🧐 Sc	ripts 🖞 Settings 🚯	Version History 🛛 P	olicy
Executor	Owner	Participant	Informed	Supervisor
CEO (CEO)		<		
HR Director (HR Director)		<ul> <li></li> </ul>		
Payroll Accountant (Payroll Accountant)		✓		
All Users (Initiator)		✓		
CEO (Initiator's Manager)		~		
CFO (Initiator's Manager)		~		
Department Head: Finance Department (Initiator's Manager)		✓		
Chief Accountant (Initiator's Manager)		✓		
Department Head: IT Department (Initiator's Manager)		✓		
HR Director (Initiator's Manager)		~		
Commercial Director (Initiator's Manager)		<ul> <li></li> </ul>		
Department Head: Sales Department (Initiator's Manager)		<ul> <li></li> </ul>		
Chief Technology Officer (Initiator's Manager)		<ul> <li></li> </ul>		
Department Head: Logistics Department (Initiator's Manager)		~		
Department Head: Service Department (Initiator's Manager)		~		
Department Head: Project Office (Initiator's Manager)		✓		

Fig. 83. The Responsibility matrix of the Leave Request process

Next to the name of the organizational structure element or the user group, you can see the name of the respective swimlane (in brackets). The participants represented by the dynamic swimlanes are marked green. This list can also include the users not related to any swimlane and having no tasks within the process.

Check the relevant boxes to select a user role:

An **owner** is a user fully responsible for the entire process. This means that the owner is responsible not only for the result (product) of the process, but also for the process progress and the customer's satisfaction. Select the owner from the executors of the tasks or add manually from the organizational structure. Every process can have only one owner.

A **participant** is an executor of the tasks placed in the respective swimlane. This is a default role for all the task executors of the process.

An **informed** user receives information about the process progress outside the system. This user does not interfere with the process in **ELMA**; however, the process documentation and regulations contain information about the informed user.

A **supervisor** is a user whose job is to monitor the execution of the process. The supervisor can view the process details. Usually, the supervisor is one the company's executives. The number of supervisors is not limited.

Now, mark the HR Director as the owner of the **Leave Request** process and the CEO as the **Supervisor**. The other users remain **Participants**.

# 5.1.9. Checking Business Process

After you have designed the process model, you can check if it has logic errors; you can also check if the process scripts have syntax errors (see **ELMA Help**).

Possible logic errors are: missing start/end event, missing connectors between the flow objects, wrong gateway logic, swimlane errors. **ELMA** automatically checks the process before publishing. To start the check manually click **Check** on the toolbar (Fig. 84).



Fig. 84. The Check button on the process page toolbar

If you have designed the process model correctly, a notification appears informing you that the process model is correct.

If the graphic model contains errors, **ELMA** will highlight the supposedly erroneous elements and provide a list of errors on the **Errors and Warnings** panel (Fig. 85). You cannot start the erroneous process.

Use the **Check** button to verify if the graphic model is designed correctly. However, the correct graphic model does not guarantee that the process will be executed without errors.



Fig. 85. The Errors and Warnings panel

## 5.1.10. Debugging the Business Process

After you have checked the process model and before you start the process, it is recommended to debug it.

**Process Debugging** means that the system checks how the process is executed with different values of context variables. You can start debugging only after you have checked the process. Strat debugging in **ELMA Designer**, to perform debugging the system will open **ELMA Web Application**.

In the debugging mode, the system emulates the process execution in **ELMA Web Application**. Users who started the debugging (usually, ELMA Administrator) can see all the process tasks in their locally installed **ELMA**. It is a convenient feature that allows you to execute all the process tasks, and, therefore, monitor each step of the process.

To start the process debugging, click **Start Debugging** in the toolbar (Fig. 86).



Fig. 86. The Start Debugging button starts the process emulation from the first operation

# To start the process debugging from a specific operation, click **Start Process Debugging** (Fig. 87).



Fig. 87. Starting process emulation from a specific operation

After that, the debugging start form will open in a new browser window/tab (Fig. 88). Make sure that in **ELMA General Settings** you have correctly specified the **Basic System URL** and the port for **ELMA Web Application** connection.

At this stage, the debugging process has not yet started and no changes are made to the system and the database. You can close this browser tab without any consequences for the system and the database.

Start Debugging		DEBUGGING MODE
Debugg	ing of the proces	s 'Leave Request'
Process Insta	ance	[Debugging] Leave Request (8/24/2015 2:48:10 PM)
Initial Debug	ging Element P	rocess Start
✓ Context		
Templates:		<ul> <li>= + m</li> </ul>
Initiator		✓ ▲
Initiator's I	Manager	✓ <sup>1</sup>
Leave Typ	0e	Regular Paid Leave
Request 1	īext	
Start Date		08/24/2015
End Date		
Manager's	s Comment	
Director's	Comment	
Leave Pay	y Ammount	Empty
Start D	ebugging	

Fig. 88. The debugging form

To start debugging click the **Start Debugging** button at the top or the bottom of the page. After that, the process debugging window will open (Fig. 89).

Completed	Start Execution	Operations	Process Map	t Improve			C Refresh		× Interrup	ot Debu	gging
Create Task	Process Map						🗸 Tasks				4
Fill in L	.eave Requ	est Form	1				Tasks     Tosks     fill in leave requ     Context	uest for (Initiator, A	dministrator E.)		
Actual Exe	cutor	Ad	ministrator ELMA				Templates:			- 🔒 +	- 🗊
> Proce	ss Inforrmation						Initiator	Administrator ELM	A	~	1
Main Page	e History						Initiator's Manager			~	±
Employe	e's Full Name	Ad	ministrator				Leave Type	Regular Paid Leav	e		~
Leave T	ype *	F	egular Paid Leave	•	~	>	Request Text				
Reques	t Text *	I									
							Start Date	08/24/2015			- 1
Start Da	ite *	0	8/24/2015 🔳				End Date	<b></b>			
End Dat	te *						Manager's Comment				
Initiator	's Manager *				~ <b>1</b>						
Submit											
End Proc	1000						Director's Commont				•
Lind Proc											

Fig. 89. Process debugging window

In the left side of the window, you will see the form of the process current task; when the users actually work with **ELMA Web Application**, they will see similar task form. On the right side, you will see the debugging controls.

The **Tasks** area contains the list of all the current process tasks. If you have several current tasks, you can switch between them. To do this, click the task name displayed in this area.

On the right side of the window, in the **Context** area, you can change the current values of the context variables. To apply the changes click **Update Form** in the top right corner of the debugging window. **ELMA** will use the new variable values until you change them in the process activities settings or manually in the **Context** area.

You can stop debugging at any time: click **Cancel Debugging** in the upper right corner of the process debugging window.

#### 5.1.11. Publishing Business Processes

After you have designed, checked and debugged the business process you can publish it. **ELMA Web Application** cannot execute a process saved in **ELMA Designer** until it is published.

You need to publish a business process:

**1. When you create a new process.** Until the process is published, the users will not be able to work with it in **ELMA Web Application**.

**2. When you edit the existing process.** Publish the process to apply all the changes you have made since the previous publication.

When starting a new process instance, **ELMA** uses the most recent published version of the process. **ELMA** will continue executing all the active instances in accordance with the previous process version, which was available at the time the instances were started.

To publish the process, in the process window  $\rightarrow$  click the lower part of the multi-functional **Save** button  $\rightarrow$  the context menu will appear  $\rightarrow$  click **Publish**.



Fig. 90. The Publish button on the process toolbar

Process publication window will open. There you can see the process version number and the process start options. You can also enter a brief description of the new version's features. This comment will be displayed it the process versions history, in the **Comments** column. Click **OK** to start publication.

The process publication will take some time. After it is complete, you can start the business process in **ELMA Web Application**.

# 5.2 Executing Business Process

After you have modelled and published the business process, **ELMA Server** can "execute" it.

To execute a business process means to sequentially create tasks and to execute them in accordance with the Business Process Model.

Start business processes in **ELMA Web-Application**.

## 5.2.1. Starting Business Process

A user who has the respective permissions according to the process graphic model can start the process in **ELMA Web-Application**. This user is represented by a swimlane with the start event.

In the **Leave Request** process, the swimlane with the start event is a user who is a member of the "All users" group, i.e. any **ELMA** user.

To start the process you can use one of the following methods.

**The first method**. On the main page, in the toolbar click **Start process** button (Fig. 91). In the window that appears (Fig. 92), click on the process you want to start.



Fig. 91. The Start Process button on the main page of ELMA Web-Application



Fig. 92. Process selection window

#### All processes that you can start will be available in the **process selection window**.

**The second method**. In the main menu, click the **Start process** button (Fig. 93). In the window that appears (Fig. 92), click on the process you want to start.



Fig. 93. Starting a process from the main menu

You can also add the **Start Process** portlet (Fig. 93) to the main page of the **Web Application** (Fig. 94):



Fig. 94. Start Process Portlet

Before starting the process, you can review the process map - it will open in a new browser tab. The process map visually resembles the graphic model of the process created in **ELMA Designer**.

After clicking **Start Process** button (clicking on the process name in the list), you may need to specify the name of the process instance (Fig. 95), or simply confirm the start, if the name is generated according to the template (see Chap. 5, p. 5.5.1 Name of instances).



Fig. 95. The standard process start window inquiring the process instance names

**ELMA** executes the started business process according to its graphic model: it automatically assigns tasks to the users, runs scripts, makes decisions, sends notifications and performs other actions.

#### 5.2.2. Executing User Tasks

While executing the business process, **ELMA** assigns tasks according to the process model. You will receive a notification on each new task and will be able to check a task list in the **Left menu**  $\rightarrow$  **Tasks**  $\rightarrow$  **Task list** (Fig. 96). The Tasks portlet (Fig. 97) is designed for the same purposes. Red circle in the **Task** section and over the task icon in the top right corner informs you about the number of the active tasks.

O Aug 24 Monday	Back Task Time Report	Brown O. ?
Tasks	Incoming Select Filter	ය
Task List		From V 🙎 Q Search
Incoming		
Outgoing	Now viewing My Status: Active Overdue All	
Search	Advanced Search	
Periodic Tasks		Quantity 15 🗸 Items found: 1 Pages: 1 🧐 🏟
🕒 Time Report	Type Task Instance	Process Date created v Author End Date Priority
🤽 My Department	Approve Leave Request     Request for unpaid leave 2 hours 8	25/2015 Leave Request 8/24/2015 12:09 Administrator •

Fig. 96. A new business process task in the Tasks section

The process tasks are shown next to the **O** icon in the **Task List**. This makes it easy to distinguish them from the other task types.

O Aug 24 Monday	Task Send Message Start Process Create Event Document	Brown O. ? ▼
Messages	Welcome to ELMA!	Main
混 CRM	🔽 Tasks 🦨 🕢 🖬 Calendar	
Tasks	Type Task Instance Process End Date Priority Monday, 31 August	
Company	Approve Request for unpaid leave 2 Leave hours 8/25/2015 Request - • Request - • Meeting PM - 12:30 PM - 12:3	Brown O., Bailey F.
Calendar	Tasks from Me: Overdue: 0; Task Monitoring: 0; Completion Check: 0	
O Processes		
Documents		

*Fig.* 97. A new business process task in the Tasks portlet

Click on the task title to open the task page (Fig. 98). The task page contains several elements. **Task Menu** – is shown at the top of the page; it contains buttons that allow to perform certain actions with the task.

**Completed** button – is a button for the task completion. If you click this button, the dropdown menu will appear with the list of all available task completion variants. At the bottom of the task page, you will see buttons with the same functions. **Start execution** button – click this button to indicate that you have started the task execution. This step is not necessary.

Completed	Start Execution	Operations	Process Map	nprove	2	Brown O.	$\odot$	
Fill in Le	Fill in Leave Request Form							
✓ Process	✓ Process Inforrmation							
Process Nan	ne	Leave R	equest (version (	6)				
Process Inst	ance	Reques	t for unpaid leave	8/25/2015 Ini	liator	Brown O.		
Start Date		8/24/20	15 12:17 PM	Re	sponsible	Brown O.		
Main Page	History							
Employee's	Employee's Full Name Brown O. Leave Type * Regular Paid Leave							
Request i	CAL							
Start Date	*	08/2	4/2015 📰					
End Date	End Date *							
Initiator's	Initiator's Manager *							
Submit End Proces	ss							

Fig. 98. The Leave Request process task

Use the multi-function **Actions** button to perform the following operations:

- **Save** select this item if you want to save the changes in the task, but do not want to execute it. For example, to save the context variable values.
- **Reassign** select this item if you want to reassign the task to another user. By default, this operation is available, but you can forbid it. To do this, edit the process model in **ELMA Designer** or specify permissions in the **Reassign Tasks** section.
- **Ask Question** select this item if you want to ask any system user a question about the task.
- Add Comment select this item if you want to add a comment to the task.
- Add Time Report select this item if you want to submit a time report on the task.

On the **process task page** you will also see **Process Information** (by default, this panel is collapsed). It contains the basic information about the process. Click on the process instance name to go to the instance page, which contains all the available information about the process (Fig. 99): a process name, instance name, version number, start date, initiator, context variable list, current tasks, operations, sub-processes, history and participants. If permitted, the user can use this page to change the context variable values and interrupt the process at any task. The user can ask questions about the process and add comments.

O Aug 24 Monday	← Back	Add Comment	? Add Question	Process Map	Interrupt	Edit	Brown O. ?
O Processes	Reque	st for unpai	d leave 8/	25/2015			
O My Processes	Process N	ame	Leave F	Request (version 6	)		
Process Monitor	Process Ir	istance	Reques	t for unpaid leave	8/25/2015 In	itiator	Brown O.
🏚 Improvements	Start Date	Start Date 8/24/2015 12:17 PM			R	Responsible Brown O.	
o Documentation	State		Running	9			
	Context V	ariable List Curr	ent Tasks, Opera	tions and Sub-Pro	cesses Histo	ory History (Ta	bles) Participants
	Initiator		Brown C	).			
	Initiator's	Manager					
	Leave Ty	ре	Regular	Paid Leave			
	Request	Text					
	Start Dat	e	8/24/201	5			
	End Date						

Fig. 99. Process instance page

The **Main Page** tab and the **History** tab show task description. The **Main Page** tab contains items that correspond to the context variables specified when modelling the process. The required fields are marked with an asterisk; you cannot complete the task unless you fill them in or otherwise specified in the connector settings.

The **History** tab shows the task execution history: relevant actions, questions, user comments and document attachments.

At the bottom of the task page, you will see the process transition buttons. After you have completed the task, click one of buttons and choose the path of the process. The number of these buttons and their names correspond to the number and the names of the connectors going out of the user task in the process model.

To execute the task you must fill in the required fields in the task form and click one of the transition buttons. After that, you will have to execute the next task according to the graphic model, or the process will finish.

Do not click the transition buttons until you actually complete the task assigned to you! You will not be able to cancel this action (unless the process model provides the return to the previous step), and **ELMA** will keep executing the business process according to its graphic model.

# 5.3 Controlling Business Processes

**ELMA** allows you to control business process execution.

There are two control options: **Day-to-day Control** and **KPI Monitoring**.

Use the **My Processes** page and portlet and **Process Monitor** page to perform day-to-day control.

To perform **KPI Monitoring** you need to create a system of metrics and KPIs (see Chapter 5, p. 5.6.7 Process Metrics and KPIs).

#### 5.3.1. My Processes

Use the **My Processes** sub-section to monitor and control the execution of the processes in which you directly participate, i.e. processes where you are the initiator, responsible or executor.

Click **Processes**. **ELMA** will automatically redirect you to **My Processes**, where you will see the list of instances sorted by the **Created by Me (All)** filter. These are the instances initiated by you.

Aug 24 Monday	← Back	Brown O. ? ▼ 🔮 👼 ⊙
O Processes	Created by Me (All)	
My Processes	Bearch	Q Search
All     My Processes     Active     Created by Me (Current)	My Process Role	
Created by Me (All)	Advanced Search	
	Processes 2 My Tasks 0	
		Quantity 15 🗸 Items found: 2 Pages: 1 🗐 🗐
	Instance Name Process Name Current Tasks, Operations and Sub-Processes	Start Date End Date Responsible Map
	Request for unpaid leave 8/25/2015 Leave Request <no current="" operations=""></no>	8/24/2015 8/24/2015 12:17 PM 1:08 PM Brown O. Map
Edit	Regular paid leave IV from 8/31/2015 to Leave Request 9/07/2015	8/24/2015 1:11 PM Brown O. Map
Process Monitor		

Fig. 100. My Processes  $\rightarrow$  Created by Me (All)

Switch between the filter names to show all the processes matching the respective filter (processes where you are the initiator, responsible or executor).

My Processes section (Fig. 101) contains a table with five columns:

- **Instances** shows the names of all the process instances where the current user is the initiator, responsible or executor;
- **Active** shows the number of the current process instances;
- My Tasks shows the number of the process tasks assigned to the current user.
- **Completed** shows the number of the completed process instances;
- **Interrupted** shows the number of the interrupted process instances.

Aug 24 Monday		(	Brown	o. 🔎 💌	?
O Processes	My Processes				
My Processes	Instances	Active	My Tasks	Completed Inte	errupted
All My Processes Active Created by Me (Current) Created by Me (All) My Responsibilities	Leave Request	2	1	1	0

#### Fig. 101. My Processes

Click on the process name to go to the process page.

Click on the number of the active, completed or interrupted instances to go to the **Processes** tab of the process page. Click on the number of the task, the **My Tasks** tab of the process page will open.

These tabs show properly filtered information about the respective process.

**My Processes** portlet has similar functions. You can place this portlet on the main page (Fig. 102).

<b>(</b>	My Process	es				مکن ا	$\odot$
<b>O</b> Lea	ave Request						
		Quantity 15	✓ Ite	ms found: 2	Pages: 1	S 🕂	\$
I	Instance Nam	Start Date	Responsible	Current Tasks	, Operations a	and Sub-Proc	Mar
F I S (	Regular paid leave from 8/31/2015 to 9/07/2015	8/24/2015 1:11 PM	Brown O.	O Approve L	eave Request	(Bailey F.)	Maŗ
	Request for unpaid leave 2 hours 8/25/2015	8/24/2015 12:00 PM	Administrator	O Approve L	eave Request	(Brown O.)	Maŗ

Fig. 102. The My Processes portlet

In this portlet, you will see all the active instances you initiated, current tasks and their executors.

#### 5.3.2. Process Map

The process map is a graphic representation of the process algorithm, a schematic image that shows the process instance progress and active tasks.

To open the process map in **ELMA Web Application** click the **Process Map** button. You can also click the link:

- in the top menu of the process instance page (Fig. 99);
- in the top menu of the process task (Fig. 98);
- in the **My Processes** section and its sub-sections: the **Map** link for each process instance (Fig. 100);
- in the **My Processes** portlet: the **Map** link for each process instance (Fig. 102).

The **Process Map** button is available for the process initiators and the users with relevant permissions. You can assign these permissions on the permissions page of the process: click **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Business Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **name of the process**  $\rightarrow$  **Task list.** For each process, you can assign different permissions.

Use the process map to monitor the process progress (Fig. 103). The completed tasks, stages and connectors have blue bold outlines.

Currently active operation has green bold outline.



Fig. 103. The Leave Request process map

When the user clicks on a completed or active task on the process map, the task page opens in the new browser tab, if this user has viewing permissions.

## 5.3.3. Process Monitor

**Process Monitor** helps to analyze the execution of the processes in general. It is especially useful for those users who do not have process monitor permissions.

Users can view the processes in this section even if they are not the direct process participants. In **ELMA**, by default, the process owner and the supervisor have permissions to monitor the process. You can assign process monitoring permissions on the process permissions page: click **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Business Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **name of the process**  $\rightarrow$  **Process Monitoring**.

When designing the **Leave Request** process model and configuring its **Responsibility matrix**, you have assigned monitoring permissions to the HR Director (process owner) and the CEO (process supervisor).

Now, add monitoring permissions to the users holding the positions of Payroll Accountant and Chief Accountant.

To do this, sign in as ELMA Administrator (login: admin) and go to **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Business Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **Processes** (Fig. 104). Click on the process name (**Leave Request**) to open the permissions settings page for this process.



Fig. 104. Administration  $\rightarrow$  Business Processes  $\rightarrow$  Processes

In **Process Monitoring**, click **Add** to add organizational structure elements (Chief Accountant and Payroll Accountant) (Fig. 105). Click **Save** to confirm the changes. Now the users, holding the positions you have added, can monitor all the instances of this process.

Aug 24		Administrator	?
Monday	Save Cancel	چ 🕄 🐱 🦢	$\odot$
Administration	Permission for "Leave	Request"	
Main Page	Name		
Users Users	My Processes List of the process instance participants	<ul> <li>X as Current Executor</li> <li>X as Initiator</li> <li>X as Responsible for Instance</li> </ul>	
Substitutions Absence Schedule Access Settings	Process Monitoring Show information about the process and all its instances in the "Process Monitor" section	<ul> <li>X Image Process Owner</li> <li>X Image Supervisor</li> <li>X Image Chief Accountant</li> <li>X Image Payroll Accountant</li> </ul>	╋ Add
System	Participant List Management Allow to view, add, and delete participants on the process instance page	X 🌆 Process Owner X 💩 Responsible for Instance	- Add
Document Management     Susiness Processes	Assign Process Instance Responsible Allow to assign the user responsible for the process instance	X 🛃 Process Owner X 🛃 Initiator	- Add
acrm+	Process Interruption Allow to interrupt process instances	× 🌆 Process Owner × 💩 Initiator	

*Fig. 105. Configuring the process monitoring permissions* 

**Process Monitor** page gives information about the number of active tasks as well as active, completed and interrupted instances of a certain process (Fig. 106).

O Processes	Process Monitor				
O My Processes	✓ Process Information				
Process Monitor		Active	Tasks	Completed	Interrupted
All	O Leave Request	2	2	1	0



On the main page, in the **Left Menu** select **Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **Process Monitor**  $\rightarrow$  **process name**  $\rightarrow$  the **Process Monitor Page** opens. Here you can find detailed information about all the instances of the selected process (Fig. 107).

Leave Request						
ßearch					Q	Search
Process	Leave Req	uest 🗸 🗸				
Advanced Search						
> Process Inforrmation						
> Showing by swimlanes	and executors					
> Showing by statuses						
Processes 4 Tasks 3						
			Quantity 15 🗸 II	tems found: 4	Pages: 1 😘	•
Instance Name	Process Name	Current Tasks, Operations and Sub-Processes	Start Date	End Date	Responsible	Мар
Request for unpaid velocity leave 2 hours 8/25/2015	Leave Request	O Approve Leave Request (Brown O.)	8/24/2015 12:00 PM		Administrator	Мар
Ev Request for unpaid leave 8/25/2015	Leave Request	<no current="" operations=""></no>	8/24/2015 12:17 PM	8/24/2015 1:08 PM	Brown O.	Мар
Regular paid leave From 8/31/2015 to 9/07/2015	Leave Request	O Approve Leave Request (Bailey F.)	8/24/2015 1:11 PM		Brown O.	Мар

Fig. 107. The Leave Request process monitor page

On the process monitor page, in the collapsible panels at the top of the table, you can find information about the state/statuses of the process instances and the names of the task executors (Fig. 108).

✓ Process Information					
Version Number (No.)	8 (Map)		Owner	Tailor E.	
Published	8/24/2015 2:14 PM Administrator		Supervisors	Bailey F.	
Created	8/21/2015 5:35 PM Administrator				
$\checkmark$ Showing by swimlanes and ex	ecutors				
✓ Swimlanes and Tasks			✓ Executors		
⊕ CEO		0	Brown O.		1
HR Director		0	Bailey F.		2
Payroll Accountant		0			All Processes
		1			
⊞ Initiator's Manager		2			
✓ Showing by statuses					
Status context variable is not defin	ed in the process		✓ States		
			Active		3
			Completed		1
					All Processes

Fig. 108. Collapsible panels on the process monitor page

# 5.3.4. Execution Queue

**Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **Execution Queue** contains information about all the instances currently processed by the execution service and the list of execution errors. If **ELMA** fails to execute any process operation, the error info will appear in the **Execution Queue** section (Fig. 109). This section is especially useful for ELMA Administrators, as they must promptly monitor process execution. By default, only the users from the **Administrators** group have access permissions to this section.

Process execution errors mostly occur in scripts (see Chapter 5, p. 5.6.5 Scripts). If no errors occur during the process execution, this section will be empty.

The system will make at most nine attempts to perform the operation. The occurred errors will be shown in the **Process Execution Queue**. You must correct corresponding errors (usually you need to edit the business process model) and start forced execution of the erroneous operation.

Aug 24 Monday				5	Administra	tor ?
Processes	Process Execution Que	eue				
O My Processes				Quantity 15 🗸	Items found: 1	Pages: 1 😘
👰 Process Monitor	Status 🔨	Process Instance/Process	Operation	Created On	Last Execution	Next Execution
🏠 Improvements	Error	Incoming invoice from UMB AG Incoming invoice processing	Get chief	8/1/2015 2:43 PM	8/1/2015 3:45 PM Error (attempt 9) 9	J
o Documentation					Items found: 1	Pages: 1 🚱
Execution Queue						

Fig. 109. An example of the Execution Queue sub-section

# 5.4 Improving Business Processes

Another stage of PDCA cycle is the business process improvement. **ELMA** has a flexible structure and you can edit your processes even after their implementation. Moreover, you can apply your changes immediately.

Sometimes, users come up with improvement ideas and make suggestions about the process model, task forms, etc. during the process execution or after its completion.

**ELMA** has process improvement tools to consider and process these suggestions (Fig. 110). Any user at any process stage can use the **Improve** button to make an improvement suggestion. The suggestion will be sent to the process owner who decides whether to make an improvement or reject it. You can improve processes without executors' suggestions.

When a user creates an improvement suggestion, **ELMA** starts an instance of the **Improvement process**. The user who creates the improvement suggestion is the initiator of this instance. **ELMA** executes this process as any other process. You can also modify the improvement process, so that it meets your company's specific needs.

O Aug 24 Monday	Completed Start Execution Oper	ations Process Map	Brown O. 🔀 🖉 🖉
Tasks	Fill in Leave Request For	orm	
Incoming Outgoing	Main Page History		
Search	Employee's Full Name Leave Type *	Brown O. Regular Paid Leave	
A My Department	Request Text *		

Fig. 110. The Improve button to submit a suggestion

Below see the Improvement Process map (included in the standard delivery) (Fig. 111):



Fig. 111. The Improvement Process map

Suggest an improvement for the **Leave Request** process at the first process task. To do this, in the task window, click the **Improvement** button and enter the improvement description in the new window (Fig. 112). Then click **Send**:

Process Improvement		$\times$
Enter a description of the improvement and click "Send" Topic *		
Improvement - Leave Request		
Description *		
	Send	Cancel

Fig. 112. Making a suggestion concerning process improvement

The improvement of the **Leave Request** process starts. The process owner receives a suggestion for approval. According to the **Responsibility matrix** settings, the process owner is the HR Director. Therefore, the approval task will appear in the task list of the HR Director.

If the process owner is not specified, the users who made a suggestion must approve it themselves.

The process owner will consider the suggestion and approve or reject it. If the suggestion is approved, the process owner will select the executor, specify the due date and, if necessary, add a comment.

After that, the **Improve Process** task will appear in the task list of the selected executor. In the task form, the executor will find the improvement description and the link to the task, which became the starting point of the improvement. The executor must improve the process in **ELMA Designer** and report back. Then the initiator will receive a notification about the improvements made to the process.

You can see all the process improvements in **Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **Improvements** (Fig. 113).

While you make improvements, **ELMA** continues executing processes. You can start the improved process version in **ELMA Web Application** immediately after you applied the changes and published the improved process.

Processes	Business Process Improvements		
My Processes     Process Monitor	Search Advanced Search		Q Search
		Quantity 15 🗸 Items found: 3	Pages: 1 🧐 📑 🏟
My Improvements	Instance Name Process Name Current Tasks, Operations and Sub-Processes	Start Date 🗸 End Date	Responsible Map
All Processes	Improvement proposal To process incoming Process improvement Approve the process improvement proposal (Administrator) mail processing	7/2/2015 2:56 PM	Bailey F. Map
	Improvement proposal forprocess     Improvement and Process improvement <no current="" operations="">     mailing of an outgoing     invoice</no>	7/2/2015 2:35 7/2/2015 2:37 PM PM	7 Administrator Map
	Improvement proposal Set for process Outgoing Process improvement <no current="" operations=""> Invoice approval</no>	7/2/2015 2:32 7/2/2015 2:37 PM PM	Administrator Map
Edit		Items f	iound: 3 Pages: 1 🧐

Fig. 113. Improving processes. Improvements  $\rightarrow$  All

Improve processes as many times as you need to achieve the desired result.

# 5.5 Specifying the Process Access Permissions

**ELMA** offers several levels of access to business processes. There are global access settings for all the processes and individual access settings for each process.

Manage the process access permissions at all levels in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Business Processes** (Fig. 114).



Fig. 114. Administration  $\rightarrow$  Business Processes

Specify the global access permissions for all the processes in Administration  $\rightarrow$  Business Processes  $\rightarrow$  Access Permissions for Business Processes module.

In this section, you can configure the access permission for:

- the **Business Processes** section and its sub-sections;
- the process improvement tools and functions.

To assign access permissions, add a user group to the corresponding permissions unit (**Assign Groups** button); to remove access permissions you must remove the group from the permissions unit. You can also edit the group: remove or add users from/to the group with certain permissions.

In Administration  $\rightarrow$  Business Processes  $\rightarrow$  General Setting of Business Processes, you can select the process task author. Choose Yes or No for Execute on behalf of the user responsible for the instance option.

If **Yes**, the user responsible for the instance (by default, it is the process initiator) will become the author of *all* the process tasks. In this case, the responsible user will have access to all the process tasks.

If **No**, the user responsible for the instance (by default, it is the process initiator) will become the author of the *first* instance task; the author of each subsequent task will be the executor of the previous task. The user responsible for the instance will have access only to the tasks placed in their swimlane.

In **ELMA**, you can specify access permissions for the instances of a certain process. Configure these settings in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Business Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **Processes** (Fig. 115).

Access Settings - Processes				
II Processes				
Contract Management				
Projects+				
🖻 Process improvement				
Leave Request				

Fig. 115. Access to processes

This page shows the list of all the processes. To configure access to a specific process, click on the process name to open the page with access permissions for this process (Fig. 116). The access permissions are assigned for the user groups, organizational structure elements, specific users and process roles.
Name	Users/Roles	Operations
My Processes List of the process instance participants	<ul> <li>X aligned Current Executor</li> <li>X aligned Initiator</li> <li>X aligned Responsible for Instance</li> </ul>	🕂 Add
Process Monitoring Show information about the process and all its instances in the "Process Monitor" section	<ul> <li>X aligned Process Owner</li> <li>X aligned Supervisor</li> </ul>	<b>-</b> Add
Participant List Management Allow to view, add, and delete participants on the process instance page	<ul> <li>Responsible for Instance</li> </ul>	<b>∔</b> Add
Assign Process Instance Responsible Allow to assign the user responsible for the process instance	<ul> <li>X 2 Process Owner</li> <li>X 2 Initiator</li> </ul>	<b>∔</b> Add
Process Interruption Allow to interrupt process instances	<ul> <li>X aligned Process Owner</li> <li>X aligned process Owner</li> </ul>	+ Add
Task List Allow to view the list of active tasks and process instance maps	<ul> <li>Process Owner</li> <li>Responsible for Instance</li> <li>Durrent Executor</li> <li>Current Executor Chiefs</li> <li>Initiator</li> </ul>	╋ Add
Edit Process Context Allow to edit context variables of process instances	<ul> <li>X and the process Owner</li> <li>X and the process Owner</li> </ul>	╋ Add
Reassign Tasks Allow to reassign process tasks with active "Forbid to reassign" option	<ul> <li>Lag Process Owner</li> <li>Responsible for Instance</li> <li>Lag Current Executor Chiefs</li> </ul>	🕂 Add

Fig. 116. Default access permissions for the process

#### Description of access permissions for a process:

**My Processes** – Define a list of the process instance participants. The users specified in this section can see the process and all its instances in **ELMA Web Application**  $\rightarrow$  **My Processes** sub-section.

**Process Monitoring** – Define the users who can see the process and all its instances in **ELMA Web Application**  $\rightarrow$  **Process Monitor** sub-section.

**Participant List Management** – The users specified in this section will see the **Participants** tab on the process instance page. In this tab, they will be able to view, add and delete

participants. The specified users also will be able see the process instance in **ELMA Web Application**  $\rightarrow$  **My Processes** sub-section.

**Assign Process Instance Responsible** – allows you to assign the user responsible for the process instance.

**Process Interruption** - the users specified in this section will be able to interrupt the process at any stage, for example, in case of falsely started and outdated processes or the processes with critical errors. Users with these permissions will see the **Interrupt** button on their process instance page.

**Task List** - the users specified in this section will see the **Current Process Tasks** tab on their instance page. The tab allows users to view the list of active tasks and process instance maps.

**Edit Process Context** – allows users to edit context variables of the process instances. The users specified in this section will see the **Edit** button on the process instance page. By clicking this button, they will be able to open a page with the list of editable context variables.

Warning! Changing context variables may affect the further process execution and cause errors!

**Reassign Tasks** - the users specified in this section can reassign the process tasks. When these users open a process task, in the top task menu they will see **Actions**  $\rightarrow$  **Assign** button.

Fig. 116 shows the default permissions for every published process. Fig. 117 shows the edited permissions for the **Leave Request** process: **ELMA** Administrator now has permissions to interrupt the process and edit the process context; the accountants now have permissions for process monitoring.

Permission for "Leave Request"		
Name	Users/Roles	Operations
My Processes List of the process instance participants	<ul> <li>X 2 Current Executor</li> <li>X 2 Initiator</li> <li>X 2 Responsible for Instance</li> </ul>	🕂 Add
Process Monitoring Show information about the process and all its instances in the "Process Monitor" section	<ul> <li>Process Owner</li> <li>Supervisor</li> <li>The f Accountant</li> <li>Payroll Accountant</li> </ul>	╋ Add
Participant List Management Allow to view, add, and delete participants on the process instance page	× 🌆 Process Owner × 💩 Responsible for Instance	╋ Add
Assign Process Instance Responsible Allow to assign the user responsible for the process instance	× 🌆 Process Owner × 🛃 Initiator	╋ Add
Process Interruption Allow to interrupt process instances	<ul> <li>× 2 Process Owner</li> <li>× 2 Initiator</li> <li>× 3 Administrator ELMA</li> </ul>	🕂 Add
Task List Allow to view the list of active tasks and process instance maps	<ul> <li>Process Owner</li> <li>Process Owner</li></ul>	╋ Add
Edit Process Context Allow to edit context variables of process instances	<ul> <li>Że Process Owner</li> <li>Że Responsible for Instance</li> <li>Administrator ELMA</li> </ul>	+ Add
Reassign Tasks Allow to reassign process tasks with active "Forbid to reassign" option	<ul> <li>Ż Process Owner</li> <li>Ž Process Owner</li> <li>Ž Process Owner</li> <li>Ž Process Owner</li> <li>Z P</li></ul>	╋ Add

Fig. 117. Access permissions for the Leave Request process

# 5.6 Assigning Substitutions

**ELMA** has a mechanism that allows one employee substitute for another during their absence.

When you assign a substitute user in **ELMA**:

- the substituted user will still receive periodic tasks and messages;
- the tasks assigned to the substituted user prior to the date of substitution, won't be automatically reassigned to the substitute;
- new process tasks are automatically assigned to the substitute user;
- on the task page you will see a notification on the user substitution (Fig. 4), but you will still be able to assign tasks. The created task will be assigned to the substituted user (will not be automatically reassigned to a substitute).

This means that the system automatically checks for substitutions only when assigning process tasks to the user, in other cases, the author is warned about substitution when choosing a process executor.

To manage substitutions go to **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Users**  $\rightarrow$  **Substitutions** section (Fig. 118). You can allow a specific user to access this section in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Application Access Settings**  $\rightarrow$  **Global Access Settings**  $\rightarrow$  **Substitution Administration**. By default, only ELMA Administrator can assign a substitute user.

	i <mark>g 24</mark> onday	Add Substitution			Administrator	?
Administration		Substitutions				
Main Page		Active Substitutions		Quantity 15	Items found: 0 Pages:	5
🥭 Users		Substituted	Substitute		End Date	
Users		No data to display				
Groups		Substitution Diagram		Quantity 15	Items found: 0 Pages: 1	<b>5 *</b>
Substitutions		Substituted	Substitute	Start Date	End Date	
Absence Schedule		No data to display				
Access Settings						
👗 System						

Fig. 118. Administration  $\rightarrow$  Users  $\rightarrow$  Substitutions section

To assign a new substitute in the top menu of the **Substitutions** section click **Add Substitution** button, fill in the substitution form and click the **Save** button (Fig. 119).

	Administrator ?
Save Cancel	🧼 💌 🚰 💿
Assign Substitute User	
Substituted *	Brown Oliver (Department Head: IT Depa 🗸 💄
Substitute *	Keller Carl (Department Employee: IT De 🗸
Start Date *	08/31/2015
End Date *	09/14/2015
Duplicate Messages	
	be sent both to the substituted user and his substituted user. If Yes, messages will be sent both to the substituted user and his substitute
Early Substitution *	0
Descript "Completing Check" Tasks *	Start the substitution mechanism in working days before the actual substitution date
Reassign "Completion Check" Tasks	Reassign / Don't reassign "Completion Check" tasks from the substituted user to his substitute
Permissions for Documents *	Yes No     Assign view permissions for documents to the substitute if he doesn't have them

Fig. 119. Creating substitution

You can see all the information about the created substitution in **Substitution Diagram** block in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Users**  $\rightarrow$  **Substitutions** section (Fig. 118) as well as in the **Current Substitutions** block if the current date falls within the period between the start date and end date of substitution.

Assign a substitute for the user who holds the position of IT Department Head on the current date. Now when you create a task and assign it to the IT Department Head, a warning appears that another person was appointed to substitute the IT Department Head.

Save	Project	Control Approver Co-Executors Time Report	Administrator ?
Create	Task		
Subject *			
Executor *		~ <b>2</b>	$\rightarrow$ $\checkmark$
Start Date *		Administrator ELMA	
End Date *		Bailey Frank HR Director	
Priority		Brown Oliver	
		Substitute: Keller Carl from 10/18/2015 to 11/2/20	
		Keller Carl Department Employee: IT Department	
		Attached Files	Attached Documents
			~ Q +

*Fig. 120. Substitution warning when creating a task* 

As for business process instances, if the first task is created in the CEO's swimlane during the period of their substitution, this and all the other relevant tasks will be reassigned to their substitute. In addition, the substitute will be the executor of the tasks that are placed within the substituted user swimlanes in all the other processes instances.

The substitution terminates automatically after its specified end date. You can edit substitutions or cancel them before the end date in **Administration - Users - Substitutions** section (Fig. 118).

# 5.7 Extra Options for Business Process Modeling

The previous sections have described main solutions that **ELMA** offers for business processes modeling. Here you will find the description of the additional features for quick and fine adjustment that will make your system even more user-friendly.

Full description of the possibilities for process modeling see in **ELMA Help**. This chapter gives information about the basic and most frequently used functions.

# 5.7.1. Instances Naming Methods

**ELMA** can automatically generate unique instance names according to the templates. The process initiator is not required to enter the instance name manually.

Select the instance naming method in **ELMA Designer**. Open **Processes**  $\rightarrow$  on the process toolbar click **Instance Names** (Fig. 121).



Fig. 121. The Instance Names button on the process toolbar

In the window that appears, select instance naming method: manually or template (Fig. 122). You can also select **Ask for Process Name** option, if you want to allow the instance initiator to change the instance name.

Fig. 122 shows the default instance naming method: when starting the process, the initiator must enter the name manually (select **Manually**).

0	Instance Na	aming Method	- 🗆 ×
Manually			
lf a key varial users will hav	ble is defined, its name will I ve to specify it manually whe	be used as the name of the an starting the process	e instance. Otherwise
Tomplato			
The instance	name will be generated from	n the template. It may con	tain custom text with
inserts like {\$	VariableName}.		
Insert V	ariable 🔻		
🗷 Ask for in	stance name		
			K @Cancel
			Cancer

Fig. 122. Selecting the instance naming method

If you select **Template**, the name of the process instance will be generated according to the specified template. The template can contain process context variables and custom text. To see the list of the available variables, click **Insert Variable** (Fig. 123).

0	Instance Naming Method – 🗆 🗙			
<ul> <li>Manually</li> <li>If a key variable is defined in the manually when starting</li> <li>Template</li> </ul>	ed, its the pri	name will be used as the name ocess	of the instance. Otherwise users will have to	specify it
The instance name will {\$VariableName}.	be ge.	nerated from the template. It ma	y contain custom text with inserts like	
Request for	•			
Context	•	Process Instance		
Active Instance	•	UID		
		Initiator	🛛 🔊 ок 🛛 🕅	Cancel
		Initiator's Manager		
		Leave Type		
		Request Text		
		Start Date		
		End Date		
		Manager's Comment		
		Director's Comment		
		Leave Pay Ammount		

Fig. 123. An example of the Insert Variable menu

For the **Leave Request** process select the **Template** option. Then in the input line type the following: Request for {*Request Type*}, {*Start Date*} to {*End Date*}, from {*Initiator's Full Name*}. The values in italic, enclosed in curly brackets, will be automatically inserted for each new process instance. See the example below Fig. 124.

0	Instance Naming Method	- □ ×
Manually		
lf a key variable i manually when s	is defined, its name will be used as the name of the instance. Otherwis starting the process	se users will have to specify it
<ul> <li>Template</li> </ul>		
The instance nar {\$VariableName;	me will be generated from the template. It may contain custom text wits }.	h inserts like
Request for {\$Co	ontext.LeaveType},{\$Context.StartDate} to {\$Context.EndDate} from {\$	Context.Initiator.FullName}
Insert Varia	able 🔻	
🔲 Ask for insta	nce name	

Fig. 124. Selecting naming method for the Leave Request process instances

To save and apply the changes, save and publish the process. Now when you start **the Leave Request** process, you will only need to confirm the execution, **ELMA** will automatically generate a process name right after the start and change it when the context variables change.

An example of the process instance name generated according to the template see in the Fig. 125.

Request for Re	egular Paid Leave, 9/1/2015 to 9/15/2015 t	from Nelson James
Process Name	Leave Request (version 10)	
Process Instance	Request for Regular Paid Leave, Initiator 9/1/2015 to 9/15/2015 from Nelson James	Nelson J.
Start Date	8/24/2015 4:35 PM Responsible	Nelson J.
State	Running	
Context Variable List	Current Tasks, Operations and Sub-Processes History History	(Tables) Participants
Initiator	Nelson J.	
Initiator's Manager	Bailey F.	
Leave Type	Regular Paid Leave	
Request Text	Regular paid leave from 09/01/2015 to 09/15/2015	
Start Date	9/1/2015	
End Date	9/15/2015	

Fig. 125. The automatically generated name of the Leave Request process

# 5.7.2. Operation Markers

Some BPMN elements in **ELMA** BPM have advanced settings: **Operation Markers**. Markers show that the operation has additional execution parameters.

There are several types of operation markers:

- Conditional Operation;
- Loop;
- Multiple Execution.

You can use markers for the following operations:

- Sub-Processes;
- User Tasks;
- Notifications.

The list of the available markers depends on the operation type.

You can use all three marker types for the **External Sub-Process** operation.

You can use Conditional Operation and Loop for the Internal sub-process and Task.

#### For the Notification, the Conditional Operation maker is available.

Click the **Change Marker** button and select the operation marker (Fig. 126). In the operation settings window a new icon will appear that corresponds to the marker type. An operation marker icon will also appear in the operation graphic model indicating marker's type.

0	Sub-Process 1 – 🗆 🗙
General	
Name* Sub-Process 1	
Description	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
	🔿 Marker – 🗆 🗙
	• N/A
	Multiple Execution
	Conditional Operation
Process	∫ © Loop
Define Process	ied>
Marker	
Change Marker N/A	OK Cancel
Actions after Instance Interruption (Completion)	
Interrupt Parent Process Instance, when Sub-Process Instance,	stance is Interrupted
Interrupt Sub-Process Instances, when Parent Instance is	s Interrupted
	OK Scancel

Fig. 126. The Change Marker button and the marker selection window

#### The Multiple Execution marker

You can use this marker if you need to simultaneously start multiple instances of a subprocess. The system executes these instances independently from the parent process while still executing the parent process in accordance with the model.

In most cases, the **Multiple Execution** marker is used when a user needs to start a subprocess instance and still be able to work without suspending the parent process.

#### The Conditional Operation marker

You can sequentially add one or several conditions and specify the comparison operator. The conditions will be checked and if the result is **True**, the activity will be started; otherwise, **ELMA** skips the activity and the process continues using the default sequence flow.

You can specify conditions in a table or in a script.

#### The **Loop** marker

In the **Check Do-While Loop** specify whether the condition is checked before an operation or after it. Suppose the condition is not true when the process flow reaches the operation. **ELMA** will still perform this operation, if the condition is checked *after* the operation. If the condition is not true, and it is checked *before* the operation, **ELMA** will not execute it.

The operation will loop while certain condition is true. If the condition is not true, the process continues.

### 5.7.3. Process Statuses

**ELMA** offers one more option for business process monitoring - the process instance statuses. Statuses help to monitor the execution of the process stages.

A process instance status allows:

- searching process instances by status (advanced search parameter);
- creating user filters for the processes;
- sorting process instances by status (on the Process Monitor page in the Display by Status block).

To create process instance statuses, open **ELMA Designer**  $\rightarrow$  **Processes**  $\rightarrow$  on the process page click **Instance Statuses** (Fig. 127).



Fig. 127. The Instance Statuses button in the top toolbar

In the window that appears, click **Add Variable** to create a new variable that the system will use to determine and store the process instance status (when adding a context variable, use

the default settings). Click **Add status** button and type the new status name. You will see this variable in the list of context variables, on the **Context tab** of the process page (Fig. 128).

Specify the statuses of the **Leave Request** process instance. Use the following statuses: Pending Approval, Rejected, and Approved. In the status settings window, click **Add Status** and type the status names. Select an action in case the process is interrupted: click the **Select Action** button at the bottom of the settings window and select **Reset Status** (Fig. 128). Click **OK** to save the settings.

0	Configure process statuse	is – 🗆 🗙
Select a "Drop-Down List"-type conte	extvariable	
Process Instance Status The status can be represented the "Participates in Filter" prop	by any "Drop-Down List"-type con erty is set to "Yes".	Add Variable
Process Instance Statuses		
	ቍ Add Status	
Status	Status Code	
Pending Approval	PendingApproval	₽ 2 %
Approved	Approved	î l 🖊 🗶 🗙
Rejected	Rejected	î 🛽 🗶 🗙
Action when Interrupting Process Ins	stance	
Select Action	Keep the current state	R
		OK 😢 Cancel

Fig. 128. Configuring the process statuses

You can change the process status:

- manually in the user task, if the context variable, which defines and stores the status, is shown on the task form and available for editing;
- in the process script;
- with the Change Process Instance Status plug-in.

When executing the process instance, the most convenient way to change its status is to use plug-ins. When using plug-ins, you are not required to create scripts or change statuses manually.

On the **Graphic Model** tab  $\rightarrow$  on the side panel  $\rightarrow$  in the **Plug-Ins** block  $\rightarrow$  find the **Change Process Instance Status** plug-in and place it at the point of the process model where the instance must change its status (Fig. 129).



Fig. 129. Changing the process instance status with a plug-in

To configure the plug-in: double-click on this element in the process map. A window opens. Change the name (preferably, indicate the status that the process will receive at this operation) and go to the **Settings** tab. In the drop-down list, choose the status, which the process instance will receive at this operation (Fig. 130).

0	Change Status 1 🛛 🗕 🗆 🗙
General	Settings
Status	Select the status that will be assi {Pending Approval}Pending Approval this task {Approved Approved {Rejected}Rejected
	OK 🔞 Cancel

Fig. 130. The Settings tab  $\rightarrow$  settings the Change Process Instance Status

After you have placed all the plug-ins to the graphic model of the **Leave Request** process, the process map looks as follows:



Fig. 131. The Leave Request process map with change status plug-ins

You must save and publish the **Leave Request** process to apply the changes. Now all the new process instances will change statuses.

Also now, in the **Process Monitor** you can monitor the process execution and search instances by statuses (Fig. 132).

Leave Reque	st					
Search						Q Search
Process	Leave Request	v Q	Start		to	
State		~	Date End			
Instance Name			Date			
Initiator		~ 1	My Process Role			~
Responsible		~ <b>1</b>	Process Instance Status			~
Find Instances S Hide Search Fields	Save as Filter		,	Pending Approval Approved Rejected		EQL Search
<ul> <li>Process Informa</li> </ul>	tion					
Version Number (No.)	11 ( Map )		Owner		Taylor E.	
Published	8/24/2015 5:16 PM A	dministrator	Superv	sors	Bailey F.	
Created	8/21/2015 5:35 PM A	dministrator				
> Show by swimlar	nes and executors					
✓ Show by statuse	'S					
✓ Statuses			<b>∨</b> S	tates		
Not installed			1 Active			5
Pending Approval			3 Compl	eted		1
Approved			1			
Rejected			1			AITFICESSES

Fig. 132. The process instance statuses in the Process Monitor

In the **Statuses** section, you can see the update number of the processes with the specified statuses.

### 5.7.4. Using Triggers

When modelling business processes you can use **triggers** or causes in BPMN notation.

In **ELMA**, there are three types of events: the **start event**, the **intermediate event** and the **end event**. Start and intermediate events can have triggers. Such elements as user tasks or scripts can also have triggers to escalate the process flow (to continue the process execution automatically).

Within the start event, you can place the **Timer** trigger, which is the specific time when the process starts.

Within the intermediate event, you can place the **Timer** trigger or the **Calculate Metric** trigger. Use the first one to delay the process execution for a specific period and the second one to specify the process stage limits for metrics and KPI calculation.

With the User Tasks, Sub-Process, Wait for Message elements and the document management elements you can use **Timer** and **Script** connectors.

You can also use the connectors with the **Timer** and the **Process Error** triggers to link **Scripts** with other elements.

Below find the examples of the common triggers usage. Learn more about the triggers in **ELMA Help**.

# 5.7.4.1 Starting Business Process Automatically

**ELMA** can start business processes automatically.

Circumstances that trigger the start of a process are:

- A timer (time of the start event i.e. **ELMA** initiates the process at this specified time);
- An external event (**ELMA** starts the process with a web request or through a web service, from other information systems).

#### **Timer trigger functions**

This feature allows you to start processes on a regular schedule. For example, processes associated with the report submission or closing of the period, etc. This feature is also often used to synchronize the data with the third-party systems.

E.g., take a closer look at the **Weekly Reports of Managers** process. This process has the following description: every Monday, the Financial, Technical and Commercial Directors must send their weekly reports to the CEO for analysis. The process graphic model will look as follows (Fig. 133):



Fig. 133. The Weekly Reports of Managers process model

The start event of the process does not have additional settings yet. Therefore, the user who holds the position of the Secretary must start the process every Monday.

Configure **Timer** to trigger the start event automatically and exclude Secretary's weekly actions.

Double-click the start event  $\rightarrow$  the settings window opens  $\rightarrow$  enter a name  $\rightarrow$  click **Change Trigger** button  $\rightarrow$  select **Timer**  $\rightarrow$  click **OK** (Fig. 134).

O General Timer Settings Form (context)	Start Reporting – 🗆 🗙
Name	Start Reporting
Description	^
	~
Change Event Type	Start
Change Trigger (	Timer
	OK 🔞 Cancel

Fig. 134. Configuring the start event. The General tab

A new **Timer Settings** tab will appear at the top of the window. Go to the **Timer Settings** tab and configure the schedule as follows (Fig. 135):

0	Start R	eporting	-	□ ×
General Timer Settings	Form (Context)			
Parameters				
Once	Start 7/6/2015 -	9:00:00 AN		
<ul> <li>Every day</li> <li>Every week</li> </ul>	Repeat every	1 ਦ week	at:	
O Every month	Monday	Friday		
	Tuesday	Saturday		
	U Wednesday	Sunday		
	Thursday	Select all days		
Advanced Parameters				
Repeat task every	10 - Minutes	execute until	11:59 PN-	
E Finish				
Enabled				
			<b>О</b> К	🔀 Cancel

Fig. 135. Configuring the start event. The Timer Settings tab

In the **Start** field, specify the next Monday, select **Eevery week**  $\rightarrow$  Repeat every Monday. To confirm settings click **OK**. Note that you must specify a future date (a date that has not yet occurred) to provide a correct first start of the process. Now in the center of the strat

event you will see a clock O which represents the **Timer** trigger.

Configure the process instance name according to the template: Weekly Reports of Managers {Start date}. To do this, click **Instance names**  $\rightarrow$  **Template**  $\rightarrow$  in the input string type: Weekly Reports of Managers. Then click **Insert Variable**  $\rightarrow$  **Context**  $\rightarrow$  **Workflow Instance**  $\rightarrow$  **Start date.** The template string will look as follows: Weekly Reports of Managers (\$Context.WorkflowInstance.StartDate}. Click **OK**.

Save and publish the **Weekly Reports of Managers** process. Next Monday, **ELMA** will automatically start the process. Note, that **only static swimlanes** can contain the **Timer Start Events**.

In **ELMA Web Application**, you can see the start date/time of the new processes in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **System**  $\rightarrow$  **Scheduler** in the **Business Processes** unit (Fig. 136).

O Aug 24 Monday	Start History			ministrator i 📌 👼 📀	?
Administration	Planned Tasks				
Main Page	Type/Trigger/Task		Previous Start	Next Start	Start
🎥 User Management	Business Processes				
	Start Process "Directors' Weekly Reports"				
👗 System	Start Process "Directors' Weekly Reports"			8/31/2015 9:00 AM	0
System Settings	System				
Components	Substitution Scheduler Trigger				
External Applications		Executed successfully	8/24/2015 12:10 AM	8/25/2015 12:10 AM	
Scheduler		Executed successfully	8/24/2015 12:10 AM	8/25/2015 12:10 AM	
System Diagnostics	Trigger for creating periodic entities				
Edition	Creating periodic entities	Executed successfully	8/24/2015 12:10 AM	8/25/2015 12:10 AM	
Editing	Trigger for Creating Periodic Tasks				
Basic Applications	Creating periodic tasks	Executed successfully	8/24/2015 12:10 AM	8/25/2015 12:10 AM	
🕞 Portal Settings	Trigger for recalculating the KPIs				

Fig. 136. ELMA Scheduler

It allows you to start the process out-of-schedule. Click the arrow in the green circle to the right of the process name. Click the process name to view the process start history.

### 5.7.4.2 Timer Intermediate Event

**Timer Intermediate Events** allow you to delay the process execution for a certain period. You can use them in different ways, but this paragraph describes one of the most frequently used.

Configure Timer for the **Leave Request** process. The payroll accountant has two tasks: **Calculate Leave Pay** and **Hand out Cash**. Place an intermediate event between these two tasks to delay payment until the start date of the leave.



Fig. 137. An intermediate event with the Timer trigger

Click **Change trigger** button and select **Timer.** Then configure it as follows (Fig. 138):

- click **Change Start Type** → select **Exact time**;
- click Change Time Type → select Context variable;
- Context variable  $\rightarrow$  **Start Date**.

0		Event 1		- 🗆	×
General Timer Settings					
Timer Start Type					
Change Start Type	3	Exact Time			
Time Definition Type					
Change Time Type		New variable name			
New variable name					$\equiv$
Start Date			💌 🚽 A	dd variable	
			🛛 🧭 ОК	🛛 🔞 Ca	ncel

Fig. 138. Timer settings for an intermediate event

Save and publish the process. Now at this intermediate event **ELMA** will delay the execution of all the new instances until the timer goes off (the Start Date occurs). If the process arrives at the point where the **Timer** is placed, but the leave has already begun, **ELMA** will not delay the execution of the next task.

# 5.7.4.3 Escalation

Sometimes, when executing the business process, you will need to quit a task, for example, to continue process if a user task is overdue.

For such cases, **ELMA** offers the escalation mechanism.

To escalate the process means to automatically quit an activity when a timer goes off, or when a script condition or an error occur. Configure **Escalation** in the connector's settings.

The available escalation types are:

- **N/A** quit the task when clicking the respective button in **ELMA Web-Application**;
- **Timer** quit the task when the Timer goes off;
- **Exception Handling** quit the script if an error occurs and send relevant notification to the selected users. This option is only available for the outgoing script connectors;
- **Script** quit the task if the script is true.

To select escalation type in the Connector settings window, click the **Edit** button. To specify the escalation conditions open the **Timer Settings** tab or the **Script Settings** tab.

0			×
General Script Settings Cotifications			
Name	Escalation		
Description	(f		
	Do not check if the context variables are filled in		
Escalate			
Edit	Script		
	<b>О</b> К	🙁 Car	icel

Fig. 139. Configuring a connector. The General tab

For the **Weekly Reports of Managers** process, configure escalation for the managers' tasks. According to the process model (Fig. 133) *all* the managers must complete their tasks (**Prepare Weekly Report**), before the system sends these reports to the CEO (**Review Weekly Reports**). Configure the connectors that will escalate the process if the **Prepare Weekly Report** task is not completed within 4 hours.

For each manager's task, draw an additional escalation connector with the **Timer** trigger. Fig. 140 shows the required connector settings.

0	Escalation -	□ ×
General Timer Settings Notifica	tions More	
Timer Start Type Change Start Type Time Definition Type Change Time Type	Relative Time	
Time Value — Day(s) Hour(s) 0 - 4 -	Minutes(s) Seconds(s)	
	ОК	Cancel

Fig. 140. Configuring escalation with the Timer trigger

Now the map of the **Weekly Reports of Managers** process will look as follows (Fig. 141):



Fig. 141. The map of the Weekly Reports of Managers process with the task escalation

Save and publish the process. Now, if the managers do not complete the **Prepare Weekly Report** tasks within 4 hours, the process escalates and the **Review Weekly Reports** task is assigned to the CEO.

# 5.7.5. Scripts

In ELMA BPM, **Scripts** offer additional possibilities for business process modelling. **Scripts** allow optimizing certain tasks that otherwise would be executed in manual or semi-automatic mode. **Scripts** are intended for those operations that cannot be represented with the standard activities in **ELMA Designer**.

A **Script** in **ELMA** is a named C# code fragment that can be accessed from the other program modules.

The **Scripts** are widely used in ELMA BPM. **Script Builder** (available in **ELMA 3.6** and higher) is a visual script editor that makes the work with scripts more convenient. Analysts who design business process models and do not know C# can use **Script Builder** to easily create simple scripts required to execute processes.

This section describes how you can use scripts when modelling business process.

### 5.7.5.1 Script Task

You can use a **Script** task if you want **ELMA** to perform some tasks automatically when the process arrives at certain points (between two user tasks, at the start event or after the process is complete).

To add a **Script** to the business process, open **ELMA Designer**  $\rightarrow$  **Processes**  $\rightarrow$  **Process List**  $\rightarrow$  **process name**  $\rightarrow$  **Graphic Model** tab  $\rightarrow$  in the left toolbar find **Script**  $\rightarrow$  place **Script** in the desired location in the process model. Double click on the **Script**, the **Script** settings window opens. Open the **Script** tab and enter a name (in the process map the script will be displayed with this name), and a description. Click **Create** (Fig. 142).

0	Script 1 – 🗆 🗙
General Script	
Script	Go to
0	Script Builder for ELMA Beta
The Script Builder please lea	is functioning in beta-test mode and can be unstable. If you want to help us test and develop this tool, ve your feedback on our technical support website. You can also use the standard Script Editor.
Do not display	Open Script Builder
	OK Scancel

Fig. 142. Creating a script

In the window that opens, select the script creating method:

- **Open Script Builder** create a script with graphic elements (used for simple calculations);
- **Open Script Editor** create a C# code script.

Then, enter the name of the new script: use numbers and letters of the Latin alphabet (Fig. 143).

0	Script 1	_ 🗆 🗙
General Script		
Script		
		- Go to
L		
0	Add Script	- 🗆 🗙
Script Name *	CalculatePaymentDate	
		OK OK
		OK 🛛 Cancel

Fig. 143. Script name

Click **OK**. The **Go To** button becomes active. Click it to create a C# code script.

All the process scripts are available in **ELMA Designer**  $\rightarrow$  on the process page  $\rightarrow$  in the **Script** tab. The new script will look as follows:



Fig. 144. ELMA Designer  $\rightarrow$  process page  $\rightarrow$  Script tab

You must enter the code between the two curly brackets, after the **public void Script Name** (Context context) string.

Create a simple script to calculate the date when the accountant must hand out cash in the **Leave Request** process. The process has the **Timer** that delays the **Pay leave pay** task until the leave start date. However, normally the Leave Pay is paid before the leave start date. Thus, you must add another context variable: **Payment Date**, type: **Date/Time**, and calculate its value automatically.

Suppose the Leave Pay must be paid one week before the start of the leave.

In ELMA Designer  $\rightarrow$  Leave Request process tab  $\rightarrow$  Graphic Model tab  $\rightarrow$  in the Payroll Accountant's swimlane place the Script between the Calculate Leave Pay task and the Timer. Click Timer to specify the new context variable: Payment Date instead of Start Date.



Fig. 145. The Script element in the process map

Configure the **Script**. Double-click the **Script** and enter a new script name **CalculatePaymentDate** (Fig. 142, Fig. 143). In the **Script** settings window  $\rightarrow$  click **Go to** button to go to the script code. Since the **Payment Date** value is the **Start Date** minus one week, the script text is:

```
C# Code
public virtual void CalculatePaymentDate (Context context)
{
    context.PaymentDate = context.StartDate.Value.AddDays(-7);
}
```

"PaymentDate" and "StartDate" are the names of the context variables **Payment Date** and **Start Date**. If your context variables have other names, you must use them in your script.

The context variables are accessible through the *context* and can be referenced within the script. The code editor window supports Intellisense technology that gives contextual help in writing code. When you type a dot after a *context*, a list of all the available methods and parameters opens, so you will not have to write out the whole item. (Fig. 146).



Fig. 146. Viewing the list of methods and parameters of the context variable

To check the script syntax click the **Check** button on the toolbar. You can also check the script by clicking **Start Emulation** button. (Find more information in **ELMA Help**).

After you have created and checked the script, save and publish the **Leave Request** process. Now the **Timer** between **Calculate Leave Pay** and **Pay leave pay** will go off one week before the leave start date.

### 5.7.5.2 Script on Changing Variable Value

You can use scripts in other ways without placing and configuring **Script** task in the process graphic model.

If the variable values in user tasks change you can use scripts to do calculations, determine object properties or change the display of certain fields depending on the values of other fields.

To create a script that activates when the value of a variable changes, you must configure the form of the required task. To do this, double click on the task  $\rightarrow$  **Task settings window** opens  $\rightarrow$  go to the **Form (Context)** tab  $\rightarrow$  click the variable that will change and activate the script  $\rightarrow$  variable settings window opens  $\rightarrow$  go to **Advanced** tab  $\rightarrow$  click **Specify Script** to add a script (Fig. 147).

0		Fill in	Leave R	equest Form	ı		-		<
General Form (Con	text) Form Settings Executio	n Time	Transition	s More Policy					
Form Type:	Simple Form		0	Form Builder					
🖶 Add	Move 🔶			雀 Up	🕽 Down	🦉 Edit		🔀 Delet	е
	All Properties	_			<ul> <li>Displayed Pro</li> </ul>	perties			
Initiator			Property		Name on the	form	Reau	Reac Or	nCł
Initiator's Manager			Initiator		Employee's	Full Name		<b>v</b>	
Leave Type			Leave Tv	be	Leave Type		<ul> <li>Image: A start of the start of</li></ul>		
Request Text			Request 1	Text	Request Text	t	~		
Start Date			Initiator'	s Manager	Initiator's M	lanager	~		
End Date			Start Date	_	Start Date	-	~		
Manager's Comment		-	End Date		End Date		~		
Director's Comment			Duration		Duration			~	
Leave Pay Ammount									
Process Instance Sta	atus	<u> </u>			oss Contoxt E	Propertyl Set	ttings	_	
Duration					ess context P	Toperty] Se	unys		- 1
				General Adv	anced System				
				OnChange	/aluescript				
				Not selecte	ed 🗌	Add Script	t		
Onl oad form script									
encoue formoutpt									
Not selected	Add Script								
							ОК		Cano

*Fig. 147. Configuring a process context property* 

Then, create a new method (click **Create** button) and write a code.

In the task settings window, you will see <sup>(a)</sup> icon displayed in the **Scripts** column, next to the variables that activate the script (Fig. 148).

E.g., create a script that will calculate the leave duration (in days) in the **Leave Request** process. To do this, add a new variable to the process context: **Duration**; type: **Integer**. Then add it to the form of the first task and mark it as **Read Only** (Fig. 148).

Create a script that activates when the **Start Date** and the **End Date** values change (Fig. 147, Fig. 143). The script name is **CalculateDuration**. The script text is as follows (the text after // is a code comment and it is not executable):

```
C# Code
```

public void CalculateDuration (Context context, EleWise.ELMA.Model.Views.FormViewBuilder<Context> form)

{

//to calculate leave duration both dates are required, therefore, make sure that the fields are not left
blank

```
if (context.StartDate != null && context.EndDate != null)
// and - if they are filled in - calculate the duration
{
    // add a new time variable to store the time span between two dates
    TimeSpan HowTime = context.EndDate.Value - context.StartDate.Value;
    // calculate the number of days between the two dates. If the dates are equal,
    then the number of days is 0, then add +1 to the calculated value
    context.Duration = HowTime.Days + 1;
}
```

### Use this script on changing of both variables (the **Start date** and the **End date**).

0	Fi	ll in L	eave Request Form	1	-		
General Form (Contex	<b>ct)</b> Form Settings Executio						
Form Type:	Simple Form		O Form Builder				
🗬 Add	Move 🔷						
AI	Il Properties			— Displayed Properties ——			
			Property	Name on the form	Requ	Read	OnCł
			Initiator	Employee's Full Name		~	
			Leave Type		~		
Request Text			Request Text		~		
Start Date			Initiator's Manager	Initiator's Manager	~		
			Start Date	Start Date	~		3
Manager's Comment			End Date	End Date	~		õ
Director's Comment			Duration	Duration		~	
Leave Pay Ammount							
Process Instance Status	S						
OnLoad form script —							
Not selected	Add Script						
				OK OK		Can	cel

Fig. 148. A variable with a script icon

Fill in Leave Request For	rm
> Process Inforrmation	
Main Page History	
Employee's Full Name	Administrator
Leave Type *	Regular Paid Leave
Request Text *	
Initiator's Manager *	v 🚨
Start Date *	08/30/2015
End Date *	08/31/2015
Duration	2
Submit	
End Process	

Fig. 149. The script-calculated variable value in the task form in the web application

After you have saved and published the process, **ELMA** will calculate the leave duration on the form of the first task according to the specified dates (Fig. 149). Note that **ELMA** calculates the **Duration**, if you change at least one of the date variables.

You can also use scripts on changing variables to control the display of the context variables in the task form (dynamic task form). Such scripts are very similar to the form loading scripts. That is why in the next section they are considered together.

### 5.7.5.3 Form Loading Scripts

**ELMA** can execute scripts when loading task forms in business processes as well as when loading document forms and objects. Here you will find only an example of a script on loading a process task form.

In the scripts on loading a task form, it is recommended to configure only the user task form (normally you define how the variables will be displayed on the form). Use separate script blocks or scripts on changing variable value to do all the calculations that affect the process context.

E.g. Configure a script on loading a process task form. Open the task page  $\rightarrow$  **Form (Context)** tab  $\rightarrow$  if you have selected **Simple Form** type  $\rightarrow$  click **Specify Script** (Fig. 150). If you have selected **Form Builder**  $\rightarrow$  click **Form Settings** on the toolbar to configure the script on loading a task form (Fig. 151). Find more information about the task forms in p. 5.7.6.

Form Type:	Simple Form		Form Builder		
📥 Add	Move 🔷				
	All Properties			Displayed Properties	
			Property	Name on the form	Require Read On C
			Initiator	Employee's Full Name	~
Leave Type			Leave Type	Leave Type	~
Request Text			Request Text	Request Text	~
Start Date		4	Initiator's Manager	Initiator's Manager	~
			Start Date	Start Date	<ul> <li>Image: Second sec</li></ul>
Manager's Comment			End Date		<ul> <li>Image: Second sec</li></ul>
Director's Comment		-	Duration		Image: A state of the state
Leave Pay Ammount		■			
Process Instance Sta	itus				
OnLoad form script			ų.		
encoud territotript					
Not selected	Add Script				

Fig. 150. The location of a script on loading a simple form of the user task

0	ELMA 3.8.0.22551	- 🗆 🗙			
Menu Organizational Structure	Processes Objects Document Management Projects Forms KPI Reports Scripts Publication S	yle 🗸 🗌 MAX 🕐			
Save Close Form Settings	Column Panel Tabs Text				
Leave Request - Initiator - Fill in Lea	ave Request Form 8				
Process Context	Process Information	^ ·			
UID	T* III ab Main Page History Time Report Log				
Initiator	🕐 🔟 ൽ				
Initiator's Manager	T* III ab Employee's Full Name <selected item=""></selected>				
Leave Type	T* III ab Leave Type *				
Request Text					
Start Date	[Form] Settings – 🗆 🗙				
End Date	General Advanced System				
Manager's Comment					
Lozuo Pay Ammount	OnLoad form script				
Process Instance Status	Not selected Add Script				
Duration					
	✓ Q +				
OK Cancel					
	Duration <value></value>				
Form Elements	Process Transition Buttons	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			

Fig. 151. The location of a script on loading a user task form

Configure the **Fill in Leave Request Form** task form for the **Leave Request** business process. Add a context variable - **Reason** - to the process (data type: string). It will be shown in the form of the first task without **Read Only** and **Required** options.

The form will change as follows:

- if the **Leave Type** is **Unpaid Leave**, the user will see the required **Reason** field in the task form;
- if the **Leave Type** is **Regular Paid Leave**, the user will not see the **Reason** field as it is not required to fill in.

Create a script on loading the form of the first task; script name is **LoadingForm**; script code is:

C# Code

public void LoadingForm (Context context, EleWise.ELMA.Model.Views.FormViewBuilder<Context> form)

{

```
if (context.LeaveType.Value == "Unpaid Leave ")
```

form.For(c => c.Reason).Visible(true).Required(true);

```
}
if (context.LeaveType.Value == "Regular Paid Leave")
{
    form.For(c => c. Reason).Visible(false).Required(false);
}
```

The variable has three display properties that can take TRUE or FALSE values:

- **Visible** variable visibility (true visible, false hidden);
- **Required** required to fill in the variable (true required, false not required);
- **ReadOnly** can/cannot be edited (true read only, false editable);

The **Leave Type** variable is defined when the process starts. By default, it is **Unpaid Leave**; therefore, **ELMA** must execute the script as soon as the form is loaded for the first time. You can use the same script on changing the **Leave Type** variable when filling in the task form. It means that, if the user selects **Regular Paid Leave** as the **Leave Type**, **ELMA** will execute the script and will hide the **Reason** variable.

Showing/hiding variables scripts on loading forms or on changing variables allows flexibility in changing task forms, improves the usability of business processes and minimizes errors in their execution.

### 5.7.6. Task Forms

When you create a new user task, it has the default task form: all the variables moved to the task form are shown in a single list, in the order specified in the task settings in **ELMA Designer**.

To customize the display of the context variables you can use the **Form Builder**. You can configure interfaces of the business process tasks with **Form Builder** even if you don't have special skills.

### 5.7.6.1 Creating Task Form in Form Builder

To create a new form: in the **task settings window**  $\rightarrow$  in the **Form (context) tab** select **Form Builder**  $\rightarrow$  click **Create New Form** button. A window opens. The system will automatically generate a **Form name** (adjustable). Click **OK** to confirm creation of a new task form. (Fig. 152). At any time, you can change the **Form type** and select **Simple Form**. If the task forms have been created earlier, you can select from the existing ones.
0	Fill in Leave Request Form – 🗆 🗙						
General For	n (context) Form Settings	Execution Time	Transitions (More	e Policy			
Form Type:	🔘 Simple F	orm	Form B	uilder			
	Create New Form		Se	elect Existing Fo	rm		
0		Create F	Form	- 0	- ×		
For	n Name*	ave Request Form					
	OK SCancel						
				<b>О</b> К	🔞 Ca	ncel	

Fig. 152. Creating a new task form in Form Builder

If you have moved some variables to the **Displayed Properties** list, when configuring the task, you will see these variables in the new form created in the **Form Builder**. Click on the form image in the task settings window to configure the form (Fig. 153).

Time Transitions More Policy	
Form Builder	
	- 2
<selected item=""></selected>	
Regular Paid Leave	
· · · ·	
3	
<value></value>	
	OK 🔞 Cancel
	Form Builder       Selected item>         Regular Paid Leave       Image: Contemport of the selected item>       Image: Contemport of the selected item>

Fig. 153. The Form (Context) tab when using Form Builder

An example of the form edit window is shown in the Fig. 154. In **ELMA Designer**, you can edit forms on the **Forms tab** (Fig. 154). By default, this tab is hidden. The **Forms** tab becomes visible when you create and/or open one of the object forms. On this tab, you can open several forms at the same time.

Use the top and side toolbars to edit the form interface by adding and/or removing various properties and elements.

On the top toolbar you can find buttons that allow to save and delete form settings, undo and redo the last operation with the form, add columns, panels, tabs, and text to the form.

Use **Panel** and **Tab** to group task context and hide information in a collapsible panel or a separate tab. A well-configured form makes the task easy to understand and helps to execute it correctly.

0		ELMA 3.8.0.22551	1	- 🗆 🗙
Menu Organizational Structure	Processes O	jects Document Management Pro	ojects Forms KPI Reports Scripts Publication	Style 👻 🦳 MAX 📀
Save Close Form 5 Ctings	Column Panel T	bs Text		
Edit Form	Main Elem	nts		
Leave Request - Initiator - Fill in Le	ave Request Form 📀			
Process Context	t	Descent Information		^
Process Instance	T* 🔟 ab	Process Information		
UID	T* 🔟 ab	Main Page History Time Rep	port Log 🖕	
Initiator	T* 🔳 🕫			
Initiator's Manager	T* 🔟 ab	Employee's Full Name	<selected item=""></selected>	
Leave Type	T* 🔟 ab	Leave Type *	Regular Paid Leave	
Request Text	T* 🔟 ab			
Start Date	T* 🔟 ab	Request Text *		
End Date				
Manager's Comment				
Director's Comment				
Leave Pay Ammount				
Process Instance Status	T* 🔟 ab			
Duration	T* 🔟 ab	Initiator's Manager *		
		Start Date *		
		End Date *	3	
		Duration	<value></value>	
Form Elements		Process Transition Buttons		
		-		.::

Fig. 154. A task form in Form Builder

The left panel shows all the process context variables and the additional form elements that you can use to create a form. The panel has two tabs: **Process Context** and **Form Elements**. You can switch between these two tabs.

On the **Process Context** tab, next to each variable you can see three icons. Depending on the selected icon, the task form will display only specific variable parameter.

The form can show the following variable parameters (move the icons to the form to display specific parameters in the form):

 $\square$  - **property name** – display only the context variable name, without the variable value;

III - **property value** – display only the context variable values, without the variable name;

You can use drag and drop to easily move elements from the left and top panels to the task form.

Create a new form for the **Fill in Leave Request Form** task of the **Leave Request** process (Fig. 152 - Fig. 154). To edit the form drag and drop items from the panels (Fig. 155).

Report Log	+			
	<selected entry=""></selected>			
			✓	
Regular Pai	d Leave	-	Reason	
	•		Request Text *	
<value></value>				
	Report Log Regular Pai Contemport Regular Pai Regular Pai	Report Log	Report Log	Report Log

Fig. 155. Creating a task form in Form Builder

After you have saved and published the process, the task form in **ELMA Web Application** will change and will look as follows (Fig. 156):

Fill in Leave R	equest Form
> Process Inforrma	tion
Main Page History	
Employee	
Employee's Full Nar	ne Administrator
Initiator's Manager	· · · · · ·
Description Reque	st
Leave Type *	Regular Paid Leave V Request Text *
Start Date *	08/25/2015
End Date *	
Duration	
Submit	
End Process	

Fig. 156. A task form in ELMA Web Application

## 5.7.6.2 Basic form settings

To configure the task form created in **Form Builder** click the **Form Settings** button in the form toolbar (Fig. 157).

Save	Close	Form Settings	4 9	× C	Column	Panel	Tabs	T Text
Edit Form						Main El	ements	

Fig. 157. The Form Settings button

The Form settings window opens. In this window, you can:

- edit the form name (Fig. 158);
- select **View-only** option (no editable fields) (Fig. 158);
- specify the script on loading the form (the **Advanced** tab) (Fig. 151).

0	[Form] Settings _ 🗆 🗙
General Advanced System	
Form Name *	Initiator - Fill in Leave Request Form
View-only form	
	OK Cancel

Fig. 158. The Form Settings window  $\rightarrow$  the General tab

You can also configure displayed variables and form elements. To do this, double click on the

context variable displayed in the form or select the variable and click  $\square$  (the **Display Settings** of **Selected Element** button). The Context variable settings window will open. The same window opens when you work with the standard form.

When you configure a form element (column, panel, tab), the settings window of this element opens. When you configure a Column, you can edit only the **Element Name**, it does not affect form display.

#### **Panel Settings**

In the Panel settings window, on the **General** tab (Fig. 159) you can edit the panel name and the panel style (color, design), make the panel collapsible and select the default options: collapsed or expanded. A collapsible panel in the task form allows to hide reference information and to make task interface more user-friendly.

On the **Advanced** tab (Fig. 160) you can configure how the data will be loaded: simultaneously with the form or later. If the panel contains large amount of information, use this option to accelerate task form loading.

You do not need the **System** tab when using **Form Builder**.

#### **Tab Settings**

You configure the **Tab** in a similar way. In the **Tab** settings window, on the **General** tab you can enter the **Tab** name; on the **Advanced** tab select the content display options.

<b>(</b> ) [Pa	anel (PanelViewItem)] Settings 🛛 – 🗖 🗙
General Advanced System	m
Panel title	Employee
The panel can be collapse	b
Style	Gray separator 🔹
	OK Scancel

Fig. 159. Panel Settings  $\rightarrow$  the General tab

0	[Tab] Settings	- 🗆 🗙
General Advanced System		
Load content after going The form will be displ time after going to it	to the tab 'ayed sooner, but the tab content will be	displayed in some
Load content simultaneo The tab content will b displayed later	ously with the form e loaded simultaneously with the form,	but the form will be
Hide, if empty	Do not show this tab, if it a significant element (prope	loes not contain a rty, text or some others)
	0	K 🛛 🔞 Cancel

Fig. 160. Tab Settings  $\rightarrow$  the Advanced tab

## 5.7.7. Metrics and KPIs

**Metrics and KPIs** provide a measurement tool that helps to make the process both easy and effective.

When modelling a business process, you can specify the metrics/KPI checkpoints and determine their plan values. Then, while **ELMA** is executing this process instance, you will be able to monitor the quality of its execution. If the instance metrics do not meet the plan values (slow execution, unacceptable KPI values, etc.), you will see the instance name highlighted red in **ELMA Web Application**.

To create **Metrics and KPIs** open **ELMA Designer**  $\rightarrow$  the process page  $\rightarrow$  **Metrics and KPIs** tab. You can check **Metrics and KPIs** values **in ELMA Web Application**, on the page of the process or the process instance.

**Metric** is a value of a certain process parameter that does not affect the process status. In **ELMA Designer**, on the **Metrics and KPIs tab**, in the element list the **Metric** is displayed as an icon **S**. In **ELMA Web Application**, you will see metrics displayed as numeric values. Unlike the KPI, the metric does not have a plan value or a scale. You cannot specify its status or use it to set the status indicator of a process instance.

**KPI** is a value of a certain process parameter that affects the process status. In **ELMA Designer**, on the **Metrics and KPIs tab**, in the element list the **KPI** is displayed as an icon <sup>(S)</sup>. The KPI can have plan, minimum and maximum values and a display scale. In **ELMA Web Application**, next to the KPI you can see its status indicator: red, yellow or green. You can set the status indicator of the process instance based on the KPI statuses.

In **ELMA**, you can calculate the KPIs of a process instance and the KPIs of the process. The process KPIs are based on the instances KPIs, i.e. they are aggregations of values across many instances, where the aggregation function can be average, maximum, minimum or sum. You can write your own C# script to calculate the KPIs.

The following is a KPI example for measuring **Leave Request** process. Create a process **instance** KPI and a **process** KPI that will track the time the initiator's manager spent on the leave request approval. Suppose that the optimum approval time is two working days.

This book describes only one KPI type; however, there are other metrics and KPI types that allow you to measure how well a process is performed. Find more information about KPIs in **ELMA Help**.

## 5.7.7.1 Creating Instance KPI

To create a process instance KPI or metric you can use one of the following methods (Fig. 161):

- In ELMA Designer → Processes → select Process → open Metrics and KPIs tab → on the top toolbar click Instance KPI button;
- In ELMA Designer → Processes → select Process → open Metrics and KPIs tab → click on the blank field, the context menu will open → select Add Process Instance KPI.

0	EL	LMA 3.8.0.22551			– 🗆 ×
Menu Organizational Structure Pr	rocesses Objects Document Man	agement Projects KPI	Reports Scrip	ots Publication	Style 👻 🦳 MAX 📀
Metrics and KPIs Save Check Sub	New Start Debugging of Variables 1	nstance Instance Process Names Statuses Indicator	Documentation Po	licy Image KPI	
				Process Metrics a	and K
Process List Leave Request * 8					
	nsibility Matrix OMetrics and KPIs				
		Process instance KPIs			
Name	Туре	Calculation Rule			
		Process KPIs		Add Process Instance KPI Add Process KPI Edit Delete Up Down Activate Deactivate	
Name	Туре	Calculation Rule		Link to KPI	Linked to KPI (KPI)
				Delete Link to KPI	

Fig. 161. The buttons to create a process instance metric/KPI

The creation wizard window will open. You can navigate between the windows of the wizard with the **Back** and **Next** buttons. To cancel KPI creation at any step of the wizard click the **Cancel** button.

#### Step 1. KPI name

Enter a meaningful KPI name. You can also enter a description and select a type (metric or KPI). The system will automatically assign the property name depending on the KPI name (Fig. 162).

0	ŀ	Add Process KPI -	□ ×
^	Step 1 KPI Name		
	KPI Name: *	Manager's Approval Procedure Duration	
	KPI Description		^
KPI Name			
2			
KPI Type			
3			
Rule	KPI Type:	Indicator	×
4	Property Name:	Metrics     ManagerApprovalProcedureDur	
Display		Next 🔞	Cancel
			.::

Fig. 162. KPI/metric wizard: Step 1. KPI name

#### Step 2. KPI Type

Specify the **KPI Type** (Fig. 163):

- **Technical** a KPI defined by the script in the process. It can store the following data types: **Integer**, **Fraction**, **Time Interval**;
- **Time** a KPI defined by the rule you will specify in the next step. It can store **Time Span**. In this step, specify whether the system must use the business calendar when calculating KPI or not.

0		Add Process KPI	- 🗆 🗙
	Step 2 KPI 1	Туре	
	KPI Type:	Technical	
1		Time	
KPI Name	Data Type:	() Integer	
		© Fraction	
		Time Interval	
2			
КРІ Туре			
3			
0			
Display			
Display			
	Back		Next 🔞 Cancel

Fig. 163. KPI/metric wizard: Step 2. KPI type (Technical)

For the Approval Time KPI select Time type and Use Business Calendar option (Fig. 164).

0		Add Process KPI – 🗆 🗙
^	Step 2	КРІ Туре
1	KPI Type:	<ul> <li>Technical</li> <li>Time</li> </ul>
KPI Name	Use Busines Busine Monda Satura workir Lunch	ss Calendar: ess Calendar uses the following default settings: (ay to Friday are working days; day and Sunday are non-working days; ing days begins at 09:00 and ends at 18:00; h break: 12:00 to 13:00.
KPI Type	туой и	want to define your own day schedule, working and non-working days, you can create your own business calendar
Calculation Rule		
4 Display	de Bac	ick Next SCancel

Fig. 164. KPI/metric wizard: Step 2. KPI type (Time)

#### Step 3. Calculation Rule (Fig. 165)

Specify the KPI calculation rule (only for the Time type KPI).

The process instance KPI can store the following time intervals:

- Business process execution time;
- Stage execution time;
- Task execution time.

The **Approval Time KPI** must calculate how long it takes to complete the **Approve Leave** task.

Configure the KPI as follows (Fig. 165):

0	A	Add Process KPI			_ 🗆 🗙
^	Step 3 Calculation Ru	le			
1	Calculation Rule:	<ul> <li>Business Process Exect</li> <li>Stage Execution Time</li> <li>Task Execution Time</li> </ul>	ution Time		
KPI Name	Repeated Execution:	Total			-
	Task		Swimlane		
	Fill in Leave Request Form		Initiator		
2	Pass Request to HR Department		Initiator		
4	<ul> <li>Approve Leave Request</li> </ul>		Initiator's Manager		
	Approve Leave Request		CEO		
KPI Type	Record Request		HR Director		
	Calculate Leave Pay		Payroll Accountant		
	Pay Leave Pay		Payroll Accountant		
3	Pass Request to HR Department		Initiator		
Calculation Rule					
4					
Display	- Back			Next 🔿	😢 Cancel
					.::

Fig. 165. KPI/metric wizard: Step 3. Calculation Rule

#### Step 4. Display

Configure the KPI plan value and display option. Available only for KPIs.

Enter a plan value (in minutes) for the **Approval time** KPI: 960 (two 8-hour working days). Select the **Decrease** scale.

Fill in the values of the **Decreas** scale (Fig. 166):

- Minimum 0;
- Maximum 48,000 (100 working days);
- Maximum critical value 2,400 (5 working days).

0		Add	Process KPI		- 🗆 🗙
<b>1</b> KPI	Scale Display	960 Decrease			
Name	Color	0	Plan	<u>2410</u>	<u>48000</u>
2	Performance	<u>100%</u>	<u>100%</u>		<u>0%</u>
КРІ Туре					
3					
Calculation Rule					
Display	de Back			Next	Cancel

Fig. 166. KPI/metric wizard: Step 4. Display

If the task execution time is less than the minimum or greater than the maximum value, **ELMA** will not consider this value when calculating KPI. Therefore, specify 0 as the minimum and 48,000 as a maximum value.

In **ELMA Web Application**, next to the KPI value and the process name you will see red, yellow or green KPI indicator, depending on the time the manager spent on the **Approve Leave Request** task.

After you have completed all the above steps, the system creates the process instance KPI. Save and publish the process. **ELMA** will calculate this KPI for all the new process instances and will display the KPI indicator on the process instance page (Fig. 167).

Request for Unpaid Leave, 8/25/2015 to 8/25/2015 from Administrator ELMA					
Process Name	Leave Request (version 14)				
Process Instance	Request for Unpaid Leave, 8/25/20 to 8/25/2015 from Administrator ELMA	15 Initiator		Administrato	r
Start Date	8/25/2015 12:10 PM	Responsible		Administrato	r
State	Running				
<ul> <li>Metrics and KPIs</li> </ul>					
KPI/User		Plan	Fact	Status	
Manager's Approval Duration Proce	dure 1	6 hour(s) min	21 min 32 second(s) 📎	•	

Fig. 167. KPI indicator display

## 5.7.7.2 Creating Process KPI

You can create KPIs and metrics not only for the process **instances** but also for the **process**. You can use the process KPIs and metrics to aggregate the process instance KPIs. You create the process metrics and KPIs in a similar way as the instances metrics and KPIs.

Create process KPIs and metrics in the Creation Wizard. To start the Creation Wizard, open **ELMA Designer**  $\rightarrow$  **Processes** $\rightarrow$  select **Process**  $\rightarrow$  open **Metrics and KPIs tab**  $\rightarrow$  on the top toolbar click **Process KPI** button. Or in **ELMA Designer**  $\rightarrow$  **Processes** $\rightarrow$  select **Process**  $\rightarrow$  open **Metrics and KPIs tab**  $\rightarrow$  right-click on the blank field, the context menu will open  $\rightarrow$  select **Add Process KPI** (Fig. 168). The Creation Wizard window will open.

0	EL	MA 3.	.8.0.22551					- 🗆 🗙
Menu Organizational Structure F	Processes Objects Document Man	agemer	ent Projects KPI	Reports	Scripts	Publication		Style 👻 🦳 MAX 📀
Metrics and KPIs Section	New Start b-Process Debugging of Variables f	istance Names Setti	e Instance Process Statuses Indicator tings	Documentatio	on Policy Export	Image Insta Ki Proc	nce Process KPI ess Metrics and	IK.
Process List CLeave Request 8								
	nsibility Matrix 🕥 Metrics and KPIs (i							
			ocess instance KPIs					
Name	Туре	Calcul	ulation Rule					
Nanager's Approval Procedure Duration	Time (Time Interval)	Task B	Execution Time					
			Add Process Instanc	e KPI				
			Add Process KPI	C INF1				
			Edit					
			Dalata					
			Activate					
Name	Type	0	Deactivate			Period		Linked to KPL (KPI)
Hano	Type	G				1 Gliba		Britted to Ni F(Ni I)

Fig. 168. The buttons to create a process metric/KPI

#### Step 1. KPI name

Enter a meaningful KPI name. You can also enter a description and select a type (metric or KPI), specify the frequency, specify whether the KPI is personal. The system will automatically assign the property name depending on the KPI name (Fig. 169).

For the Leave Request process, create an Approval Time KPI. See the KPI in the Fig. 169.

0	Add Proc	cess KPI – 🗆 🗙
^	Step 1 KPI Name	
	Displayed Name *	Manager's Approval
KPI Name	Description	
2		
KPI Value	KPI Type:	Indicator     Metrics
3	Periodicity	☑ Use Period Quarter
Calculation Rule	Personal KPI	☑ is personal Initiator's Manager
	Property Name:	ManagerApproval
4		Next 😢 Cancel

Fig. 169. KPI/metric wizard: Step 1. KPI name

#### Step 2. KPI Value

Specify KPI Value and Data Type if you select Technical.

0		Add Process KPI	- 🗆 ×
	Step 2	Indicator Value	
	KPI Type:		Technical
KPI Name			© Time
	Data Type:		Integer
2			Fraction
			Time Interval
KPI Value			
3 Calculation Rule			
4	de Ba	-x	Next Cancel

Fig. 170. KPI/metric wizard: Step 2. KPI value

For the Approval Time KPI of the Leave Request process select Time type.

#### **Step 3. Calculation Rule**

Select KPI calculation method and specify the KPI calculation rule. Configure the **Approval Time KPI** of the **Leave Request** as follows (Fig. 171):

Add Process KPI	X
Step 3 Calculation Rule	
KPI Calculation Method:	In Process Scripts
Upon Business Process Completion	Start Script
	Calculate from Process Instance KPIs
Process Instance KPI:	Manager's Approval Procedure Duration
Formula:	Average ¥
4.0.1	
den pack	Next Cancel
	Step 3 Calculation Rule         KPI Calculation Method:         Upon Business Process Completion:         Process Instance KPI:         Formula:

Fig. 171. KPI/metric wizard: Step 3. Calculation Rule

#### Step 4. Display

Specify the KPI plan value and adjust the scale. For the **Approval Time KPI** of the **Leave Request** process specify the same display settings as for the **process instance KPI** (see 5.7.7.1 and Fig. 172).

0	Add	Process KPI		- 🗆 ×
Step 4 Disp	olay			
Plan Value (In Minutes	s): 960			
Scale Scale	Decrease			
Name		Dian		
Color		Plan		
2	0		<u>2400</u>	<u>48000</u>
Performance	100%	<u>100%</u>		<u>0%</u>
Value				
3				
Calculation				
Rule				
4				
Display			Next	Cancel
				.::

Fig. 172. KPI/metric wizard: Step 4. Display

Click **Finish** to complete creation of the process KPI.

Now, the **Metrics and KPI** tab of the **Leave Request** process will display the list of all the configured metrics and KPIs (Fig. 173). You can create, edit, delete, disable or enable KPIs and metrics of the process and the process instance. Save and publish the process to apply the changes.

0	E	.MA 3.8.0.22551			_ 🗆 🗙
Menu Organizational Structure P	Processes Objects Document Man	agement Projects KPI	Reports Scripts	Publication	Style 👻 🦳 MAX 📀
Metrics and KPIs Save Check	New Start Visibility In	Instance Instance Process	Documentation Policy	Instance Process	ì
- Sut	b-Process Debugging of Variables	Names Statuses Indicator		KPI KPI	
Section Ge	eneral	Settings	Export	Process Metrics and	1K
Process List Leave Request O					
Graphic Model 💕 Context 🔀 Respo	nsibility Matrix O Metrics and KPIs	Forms Scripts 🖁 Settin	gs 🕌 Version History 🗸	Policy	
		Process instance KPIs			
Name	Туре	Calculation Rule			
Manager's Approval Procedure Duration	Time (Time Interval)	Task Execution Time			
		Process KPIs			
Name	Туре	Calculation Rule		Period	Linked to KPI (KPI)
Nanager's Approval	Time (Time Interval)	Upon Business Process Comple	tion-calculate using a for	Quarter	
					.:

Fig. 173. The Metrics and KPIs tab of the process page

**ELMA** will display the created KPI on the process page, in the **Process Monitor** section (Fig. 174).

O Processes	Leave Request			
O My Processes	Search			O Search
Process Monitor	Journ			
All	Process	Leave Request V		
Full Process Monitor	Advanced Search			
	✓ Process Information			
	Version (No.)	15 (Map)	Owner Taylor E.	
	Published	8/25/2015 3:38 PM Administrator	Supervisors Bailey F.	
	Created	8/21/2015 5:35 PM Administrator		
	Show by swimlanes and exe	ecutors		
	Show by statuses			
Edit	<ul> <li>Metrics and KPIs</li> </ul>			
Documentation	KPI/User	Planned	Fact Status	
Execution Queue	🗄 Manager's Approval ( Квартал	3 2015 ) 🔒 Diagram		
	Bailey F.	16 hour(s)	17 hour(s) 40 min 55 second(s)	
	Harris D.	16 hour(s)	32 min 30 second(s) 🛛 🖨	
	Processes 10 Tasks 3			
			Quantity 15 v Item	s found: 10 Pages: 1 🚱 🕕 🌣
	Responsible Start Date v	Instance Name	Map Current Tasks, Operations and Sub	)-Processes Process Instance Status
	Nelson J. 8/25/2015 3	47 PM Request for Regular Paid Leave, 8/30/2015 9/5/2015 from Nelson James	Map <no current="" operations=""></no>	Approved
	Administrator 8/25/2015 1	2:10 PM Request for Unpaid Leave, 8/25/2015 to 8/25/2015 from Administrator ELMA /	Map OPass Request to HR Departme (Administrator)	nt Approved
	■ Nelson J. 8/24/2015 4	35 PM Request for Regular Paid Leave, 9/042045 9/15/2015 from Nelson James	to Map <no current="" operations=""></no>	Rejected
	Erown O. 8/23/2015 2	28 PM Regular paid leave from 12/10/2015 to 12/27/2015	Map O Fill in Leave Request Form (Bro	own O.)
	E Bailey F. 8/22/2015 2	09 PM Regular paid leave	Map <no current="" operations=""></no>	

Fig. 174. The process KPI in the Process Monitor section

The **Approval Time KPI** is a personal KPI for the users represented by **Initiator's Manager** swimlane. Now you will be able to estimate the average time each manager spent on approval and will see whether the manager considered the requests in time.

#### 5.7.7.3 Process Indicator

When creating an instance KPI, in the Step 4 **Display** (Fig. 166) you define the range of the instance KPI. Each KPI range is marked with a different color: green, yellow or red depending on the KPI value: normal (expected), allowable and critical (unacceptable).

You can configure a process indicator to receive up-to-date information about business process execution and check if there are deviations from the expected values. To be able to track process performance online, you need to specify the most important process instance KPIs. The indicator of the selected KPI will be displayed in **ELMA Web Application**  $\rightarrow$  in the **Process Monitor** section. The color of the indicator will depend on the KPI's range.

In **Web Application**, the process indicator is shown as a green, yellow or red circle next to the process instance name. Its color depends on the instance KPI value. You can check the color of indicators in the **My Processes** and **Process Monitor** portlets and in **My Processes** and **Process Monitor** sections. You can quickly take suitable corrective or preventive actions to improve the process performance, if you see that the indicator is not green.

To enable the process indicators, in the top toolbar of the process page click **Process indicator** button, in the emerged window, select **Enable** option (Fig. 175).

0		ELMA 3.8.0.22551	_ 🗆 X
Menu Organizational Structure P	rocesses Objects Doc	ment Management Projects KPI Reports Scripts Publication	Style 👻 MAX 🕐
Metrics and KPIs Section Get	New Start Debugging of Va	billy Instance Instance Instance Instance Indicator Settings	
Process List			
	nsibility Matrix 🕥 Metrics an	RPIS 🚺 O Configure Process Indicator	×
		Process Indicator	
Name	Туре	Enable     Disable	
Manager's Approval Procedure Duration	Time (Time Interval)	Indicator Display	
		Green Ves No	
		i Yellow ● Yes ◎ No	
		eRed Yes No	
		The KPIs influencing the process indicator	
		Process KPIs	
		Manager's Approval Procedure Duration	
Name	Туре		
Manager's Approval	Time (Time Interval)		
		⊘ ОК	🔞 Cancel

*Fig. 175. Configuring a process instance indicator* 

**Process indicators** in **ELMA** can be of three colors:

- Green (Good) KPI values meet plan values
- Yellow (Allowable) KPI values are in the acceptable range
- **Red (Critical)** KPI values are in the unacceptable range

Switch between **Yes** or **No** to select indicators that will be displayed in the **Web Application**. If the KPI value falls within the range that you disabled, you will not see the indicator next to the instance name in **ELMA Web Application**. In the bottom of the window, you will see the **KPIs that affect Process Indicator** panel. This panel displays only process instance KPIs. Select the KPIs that must be taken into account when calculating the aggregated process indicator. If you select several KPIs, the process indicator color will correspond to the worst KPI value.

Enable the indicator for the **Approval Time KPI**. Save and publish the process. Now in the **Process Monitor**, next to the process instance name you will see the indicator with the KPI status.

Processes 10 Tasks 3					
				Quantity 15 🗸 Items found: 10	Pages: 1 🧐 🚛 🏟
Instance Name	Responsible	Start Date 🗸	Мар	Current Tasks, Operations and Sub-Processes	Process Instance Status
Request for Regular Paid Leave, 8/30/2015     to 9/5/2015 from Nelson James	Nelson J.	8/25/2015 3:47 PM	Мар	<no current="" operations=""></no>	Approved
Request for Unpaid Leave, 8/25/2015 to 8/25/2015 from Administrator ELMA	Administrator	8/25/2015 12:10 PM	Мар	O Pass Request to HR Department (Administrator)	Approved
Request for Regular Paid Leave, 8/25/2015     to from Administrator ELMA	Administrator	8/25/2015 10:43 AM	Мар	<no current="" operations=""></no>	Rejected
Request for Regular Paid Leave, 8/30/2015     to 8/31/2015 from Administrator ELMA	Administrator	8/25/2015 10:08 AM	Мар	<no current="" operations=""></no>	Rejected
■ Request for Regular Paid Leave 9/1/2015 to 9/15/2015 from Nelson James	Nelson J.	8/24/2015 4:35 PM	Мар	<no current="" operations=""></no>	Approved
■ Regular paid leave from 12/10/2015 to 12/27/2015	Brown O.	8/24/2015 2:28 PM	Мар	O Fill in Leave Request Form (Brown O.)	
Ev -Regular paid leave	Bailey F.	8/24/2015 2:09 PM	Мар	<no current="" operations=""></no>	
■	Brown O.	8/23/2015 1:11 PM	Мар	<no current="" operations=""></no>	Approved
Request for unpaid leave 8/25/2015	Brown O.	8/22/2015 12:17 PM	Мар	<no current="" operations=""></no>	
Request for unpaid leave 2 hours 8/25/2015	Administrator	8/2:1/2015 12:00 PM	Мар	O Approve Leave Request (Brown O.)	Pending Approval

Fig. 176. Indicators of the process instance KPI in the web application

## 5.7.8. Sub-Processes

**Sub-Process** (Nested Business Process) is an independent business process initiated during the execution of the parent process. When you initiate the sub-process, **ELMA** will suspend the execution of the parent process until the sub-process is completed. The only exception are the external sub-processes with the **Multiple Execution** marker.

In BPMN notation, you can use the **Sub-Process** in two cases:

- 1. To design hierarchical process model and make diagrams more readable (business processes graphic models);
- 2. To perform repetitive actions. In this case, you can use any existing process as a subprocess.

In **ELMA**, there are two types of sub-processes: **External** and **Internal**. You can use them in both cases, mentioned in the previous paragraph.

## 5.7.8.1 Internal sub-process

Internal sub-process is a business process executed in the context of the parent process.

**Internal sub-process** belongs to the parent process and therefore it can use the data stored in the parent process. Though the **Internal sub-process** is executed within the parent process, it can have its own context variables that exist only within the sub-process.

Mostly an **Internal sub-process** is used to hide or reveal additional levels of a business process and to make its graphic model more readable. You can start an Internal sub-process only within its parent process.

Create a new Internal sub-process for the **Leave Request** process. In **ELMA Designer**, in the left toolbar of the **Graphic Model** tab, find **Internal sub-process** element. Place it in the process model. A window opens. In this window, you will see a list of available options: you can select one of the existing processes and use it as the sub-process or create a new Internal sub-process (Fig. 177). Select **Create New Internal sub-process** option and click **OK**.

0	Add Internal Sub-Process – 🗖 🗙
	Create new Internal Sub-Process
	O Select existing Internal Sub-Process
	OK 🔞 Cancel

Fig. 177. Adding an Internal sub-process

Process Creation Wizard opens.

#### Step 1. Common Proprieties.

Enter the sub-process name: **Paper Form Control**. Click **OK** to continue.

Step 2. Swimlanes. Assign swimlanes later. Skip this step by clicking the Next button.

Now in **ELMA Designer**, in the **Process List** you will see a new sub-process under the **Leave Request** process (Fig. 178).

🖃 🔘 Leave Request	16	Yes	Administrator ELMA
Control Original Copy of Request			Administrator ELMA

Fig. 178. An Internal sub-process in the process list

Replace the **Submit Request to HR Department** task with this sub-process. Now design the model of the **Paper Form Control** sub-process. You can place a sub-process in any swimlane of the parent process; the executors of the sub-process are defined within the sub-process.

Design a sub-process model as follows Fig. 179:



*Fig. 179. The map of the Paper Form Control sub-process* 

In this Internal sub-process, in the initiator swimlane place the **Submit Request to HR Department** task; in the HR Department swimlane place the **Control Paper Form** task. Make both swimlanes dynamic. The Initiator is a user who starts the process. The HR Department swimlane represents any user specified in the list of job positions. For the HR Department swimlane also enable the **First Response** option (Fig. 180).

)	Swimlane 1	- 🗆 🗙
eneral Context Variable Visibility More	e Project Access Permissions	
Name *	HR Department	
Swimlane Type	Dynamic (selected from list)	
Variable to define/store executor	\$	<ul> <li>Add Variable</li> </ul>
Define a list of job positions that can be s	tated as process executors for this Swimlane	Add from Property 🔹
Job Position / Group		
🚱 HR Director		¥
😵 HR Manager		×
O Use preselection	<ul> <li>Use the "First Re</li> <li>Reset executor e</li> </ul>	sponse" mechanism every time a process enters a swimlane
		OK Cancel

*Fig. 180. Configuring the HR Department swimlane* 

According to the settings of this swimlane, any HR department employee can check whether the initiator has submitted a paper copy of the leave request.

The **Context tab** of the Internal sub-process already contains all the context variables of the parent process (highlighted blue). You cannot edit these context variables within the sub-process. However, you can create additional context variables (Fig. 181).

0			ELMA 3	3.7.2.33371				_ [	×
Menu Organizational S	tructure Processes	Objects	Document Management	Projects Fo	ms Reports	Scripts Pub	lication	Style 👻	MAX 🕐
Model Save	Save       Check       New       Save       Save       Check       New       Save       Save       Check       New       Save       Save       Check       New       Save       Save								
Section	General		Settin	qs	Ex	port	Print Scale	Edit	
Process List	equest* 🙁 🦲 Contr	ol Original Copy	of Request * (2)	-			l		
Graphic Model G Conte	xt 🔒 Responsibility N	latrix () Metric	s and KPIs a Forms	Scripts 🖞 Setti	ngs 🚯 Version H	listory 🔒 Policy			
Displayed Name	<u>_</u>		Property Name	( (-		Тур	e		Search
Initiator			Initiator			User	r (Object)		
Initiator's Manager			InitiatorManager			User	r (Object)		
• Leave Type			LeaveType			Drop	Drop-Down List		
Request Text			RequestText			Text	Text		
Start Date			StartDate			Date	Date/Time		
End Date			EndDate			Date	e/Time		
Manager's Comment			ManagerSCommen	nt		Text			
Director's Comment			DirectorSComment			Text			
Leave Pay Amount			LeavePayAmount			Frac	tion		
Process Instance Status			WorkflowInstanceS	Status		Drop	-Down List		✓
Payment Date			PaymentDate			Date	e/Time		
Duration			Duration			Integ	ger		
Reason			Reason			Strin	g		
Process Instance	Process Instance					Wor	Workflow Process Instance (Object)		
· UID			Uid			UID	(GUID)		
HR Department HRDepartment User (Object)									

Fig. 181. Internal sub-process context





Fig. 182. The process map with an Internal sub-process

## 5.7.8.2 External Sub-Process

**External sub-process** is a business process executed in its own context. The sub-process passes data to the parent process via the input and output context variables, scripts and **Send Message** and **Receive Message** activities.

You can start an external sub-process as an independent process. When you start an external sub-process with the **Multiple Execution** marker, **ELMA** will not suspend the execution of the parent process until the sub-process is completed; instead, it will proceed with the next parent process activity.

In **ELMA**, you can use external sub-processes:

- to hide or reveal additional levels of a business process and to make its graphic model more readable
- you can start a sub-process from different parent processes and at the same time allow an independent start (without a parent process);
- you can simultaneous start several sub-process instances from a single parent process.

To create an external sub-process:

- 1. Create a standard process as described in p. 5.1.2 of this book;
- In ELMA Designer, in the left toolbar of the Graphic Model tab, find the External Sub-Process element. Place it in the process model. A window opens. In this window, you will see a list of available processes (Fig. 183). Select the required process and click OK.



Fig. 183. Selecting the external sub-process

For the **Leave Request** process, create an external sub-process containing **Calculate Leave Pay** and **Pay leave pay** tasks. Name it as **Leave Pay** sub-process. The model of the **Leave Pay** sub-process will look as follows (Fig. 184):



Fig. 184. The external-sub process map

Unlike the Internal sub-process, the external sub-process does not contain the context variables of the parent process.

Create the context variables for the **Leave Pay** sub-process. Check the **Input** box to pass the context variable values from the parent process to the external sub-process (Fig. 185).

0						ELMA	3.7.2.3337	1									- 0	×
Menu Organi	Organizational Structure Processes Objects Document Management Projects Forms Reports Scripts Publication						Sty	le •	MAX 🕐									
	H		1				00	8		-			2	1		î l		
Context	Save	Спеск	Sub-Process	Debugging	of Variables	Names	Statuses	Indicator	Docume	entation	Policy	Image	Add	Edit	Delete			
Section			General			Settir	ngs			Exp	port		C	ontext V	ariables			
Process List	Leave R	equest 🛽	Leave F	ay * 🕄														
Craphic Model	Conte	at 🔏 R	esponsibility M	latrix 🕥 Met	rics and KPIs	Forms	Script	s 🖞 Setti	ngs 🔂 V	/ersion H	istory	Policy						
Displayed Nam	e				Property Name	<u>`</u>	× .	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		Туре						Search	Input	Output
Process Instance	e			v	/orkflowInstanc	e				Workfl	ow Proce	ess Instar	nce (Obje	ct)				
• UID				U	lid					UID (G	iUID)							
· Employee				E	mployee					User ((	Object)						~	
· Leave Type				Ŀ	eaveType					Drop-D	)own List						~	
Start Date				S	tartDate					Date/	lime						~	
End Date				E	ndDate					Date/	Fime						~	
· Payment Date				P	aymentDate					Date/	Fime						~	
Duration				D	uration					Integer	r							
Leave Pay Amo	unt			b	eavePayAmoun	t				Fractio	n							

Fig. 185. The Leave Pay sub-process context

To add an external sub-process to the **Leave Request** process model you must edit the **Leave request** model as follows (Fig. 186):



*Fig. 186. Leave Request process with an external sub-process* 

You can delete the **Payroll Accountant** swimlane, since the executor of the tasks placed within this swimlane is defined in the sub-process.

Make additional settings to pass context variables from the parent process to the external subprocess. Click on the external sub-process element to open the settings window. In the **Input/Output Attributes** tab, you must define how the parent process variables match the context variables of the sub-process (Fig. 187). Click on the current value in the **Parent** column. From the drop-down list, select the variable that will match the sub-process variable.

The sub-process variable and the matching parent process variable must be of the same type. In the drop-down list, you will see only the variables of the type specified in the Type column next to the variable name.

0	Leave Pay – 🗆 🗙					
General Input/Output	t Attributes					
	Input Variables	-			Output Varia	ables
Sub-Process	Туре	Parent		Sub-Process	Туре	Parent
Employee	User (Object)	<not defined=""></not>				
Leave Type	Drop-Down List	Leave Type 🖉	Enter	Value		
Start Date	Date/Time	Start Date	Create	e Property		
End Date	Date/Time	End Date	Initiat	or		
Payment Date	Date/Time	<not defined<="" th=""><th>Initiat</th><th>or's Manager</th><th></th><th></th></not>	Initiat	or's Manager		
					(	OK 🔞 Cancel

Fig. 187. Configuring input/output attribute for an external sub-process

Save and publish the external sub-process independently of the parent process.

Use the external sub-process element and special markers to edit the parent process model as follows (Fig. 188):



Fig. 188. A variant of the Leave Request process model

For the **Consider Request** task select **Conditional Operation** marker and set up the condition: execute if the duration is more than one day (or the Start and End dates have different values). **ELMA** will execute this task only if the specified condition is met; otherwise, the process will continue its flow directly to the next gateway.

For the external sub-process, select the **Multiple Execution** marker. Now in case of the regular paid leave, the **Leave Pay** sub-process will start; at the same time, the **Leave Request** process will continue its flow directly to the next activity. **ELMA** will not delay the execution of the **Leave Request** process until the sub-process is completed, i.e. both processes will start in parallel.

# Chapter 6. Web Portal

The **Web Portal** forms the basis of **ELMA**. The **Web Portal** is a standard component of the system; it is a system platform and it forms the company's common information space.

One of the system features is that no programing is required to customize user interfaces.

The Web Portal settings are available in Administration  $\rightarrow$  Portal Settings (Fig. 189).



Fig. 189. Administration  $\rightarrow$  Portal Settings

## 6.1 Configuring interface

To improve usability and provide quick access to the necessary information it is recommended to configure different interfaces for specific user groups.

For each user group you can configure an individual interface, and customize the display of the main page. E.g., the main page for the sales department can contain contract templates and links to the appropriate processes etc.; while the main page for the secretary can contain links to document registration processes and instructions for mail handling and processing.

Within a user interface, you create new pages and set up their content.

You can configure and manage interfaces in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Portal Settings**  $\rightarrow$  **Interfaces**. This section contains the list of interfaces. Initially the list contains only **Default Interface** and **Lite**.

**Default Interface** is an interface every user has by default; it contains default pages and sections depending on the user's access permissions.

**Lite** interface is a special simplified interface created for the users who work with a limited number of functions. A too complex interface is only an obstacle for such users (Fig. 190).

0	Main Page	Messages	CRM	Tasks	Company	Caler	ndar	Processes	Documents	Brown O. 处 🟅	2 📼 📀
Tas	k Send Messa	ge Start Process	Create Event	Create Document							
Wel	come to ELM	A!								0	Main Page
	Tasks					& 🖋		alendar			$\odot$
Туре	Create Task	Instance		Proces	s End Date	e Priority	Mond	ay, 31 August			
0	Fill in Leave Request Form	Regular paid leave 12/27/2015 (Brown	from 12/10/2015 to O.)	Leave Reque	st	- •	12 P P	2:00 Meeting M - 12:30 M		Brown O., Bailey F.	
0	Approve Leave Request	Request for unpaid (Administrator)	leave 2 hours 25/8/	2015 Leave Reque	st	- •					
Task	from Me: Overdue: 0;	Task Monitoring: 0; Co	ompletion Check: 0								

Fig. 190. Lite Interface

You can customize interfaces for every user. To do this, go to **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Users**  $\rightarrow$  select a user  $\rightarrow$  on the user's page click **Edit** button. In the **Interface** field, select the type of the interface and click the **Save** button (Fig. 191).

Save Cancel	
Edit the "Brown Oliver"	user
Profile Contacts Comment N	lotification Settings Tasks
Account *	brown
Last Name *	Brown
First Name *	Oliver
Middle Name	
Birth Date	
Hire Date	10/18/2015
Job Positions	Chief Commercial Officer
Photo	Load File
	You can load a file by dragging it to this area
	Formats: jpg, jpeg, gif, png. Optimal image dimensions: 120x120 pixels.
Interface *	Default Interace V 🔍
	Default Interace
	Lite

Fig. 191. Editing a user profile

Create a new interface for the HR Department. Sign in as ELMA Administrator (admin) and open **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Portal Settings**  $\rightarrow$  **Interfaces**. Click **Add Interface** button. In the window that appears enter an appropriate name and click the **Save** button (Fig. 192). This new interface is intended for the users who hold the positions of the HR Director and HR Department Employee (as described before) (Fig. 191).

	Back Add interface			
	Default Interface			
		Create a new interface	×	
E Portal Settings	Name *	HR Department		
Interfaces	Interface Type	Standard Interface	~	
	<			
			Save Cancel	

Fig. 192. Creating a new interface

Click on the interface name in the interface list to open the interface page with adjustable parameters (Fig. 193).

Interface - HR Departr	ment	
Name	HR Department	1
Interface Type	Standard Interface	
Main Menu	«Default Interface», «Lite», «HR Department»	🖍 🤁 🕂 🗋 Register
Left Menu	«Default Interface», «Lite», «HR Department»	🖍 🤁 🕂 🗋 Register
Set of Main Pages	«Default Interface», «Lite», «HR Department»	✓ ⇄ + 🗋
Toolbar	«Default Interface», «Lite», «HR Department»	<b>₽</b> Register
Profile Settings	Personal settings for the location of the profile information	1

Fig. 193. A new interface card

You can also customize interfaces in the **Interface Visual Editor**. Comparing to the interface page, the **Visual Editor** has a larger number of options for interface configuration. On the interface page, you cannot customize the Toolbar or preview the customized interface. The other options are identical.

## 6.1.1. Visual Editor

You can easily configure interfaces in the **Visual Editor**. To enable the interface **Visual Editor**, go to **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Portal Settings** and click the green **Enable** button (Fig. 194). Thus, you enter the setup mode. Now you can set up the current interface for the current user.

O Aug 26 Wednesday	Here     Here     Administrator     ?       Back     Page     Image: Comparison of the second
Administration	Portal
Main Page	Configure the interface
🍃 Users	The configuring mode provides: demonstration of the configurable interface, view by another user, quick access to the settings of specific interface areas.
👗 System	
Basic Applications	Interfaces Customized Interfaces. Here you may create and configure user interfaces
🕂 Portal Settings	Pages
Interfaces	User Pages. Create user-interface function pages. You may easily extend the system without reprogramming.
Pages	More
Portlets	
Action Register	

Fig. 194. The visual editor on/off button

After you have enabled the **Visual Editor**, an orange setup panel will appear at the top of the page (Fig. 195). To disable the interface setup mode, click the **Disable** button or the red cross icon on the **Visual Editor** panel.


Fig. 195. The visual interface editor is enabled

Select the interface type you want to customize in the upper left corner of the visual editor. Click the links on the **Visual Editor** panel to edit relevant interface elements.

Use the **Visual Editor** to configure:

- The **main menu** of all the interfaces or of the selected interface;
- The **top toolbar** of the currently opened interface page. Each interface page has its own top toolbar; therefore, you must edit page toolbars individually;
- The **left menu** of all the interfaces or of the selected interface;
- The **set of main pages** of all the interfaces or of the selected interface;
- The **profile menu** contents for the currently selected user

In addition, when working in the interface setup mode you can quickly access **Pages** and **Interface** subsections of the **Portal Settings**: click the relevant links on the orange editor panel.

To preview the customized interface, click the **Change User** link and select the necessary user: you will see the portal of the selected user.

# 6.1.2. Menu settings

In **ELMA**, you can easily customize left and right menus. When you customize a menu, you:

- assign access permissions for the standard menu items;
- add new menu items;
- remove menu items.

To open a menu for editing you can use one of the following methods:

- on the panel of the Visual Editor, select Main Menu or Left Menu (Fig. 195);
- on the interface page, click 🖌 icon next to the menu.

The left and right menus have similar settings.

Edit the main menu of the HR Department interface. In **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Portal Settings** enable the **Visual Editor;** in the upper left corner select the interface you have created earlier for the HR Department. Then click **Main Menu** on the editor panel. Click **Create New Menu** to create an individual main menu for the selected interface (Fig. 196).

HR Department		a Administrator	×
O Aug 26 Wednesday	2	Administrator	?
Messages	Links of the "Main menu" menu		
CRM	This menu is used in the following interfaces: «Default Interface», «Lite», «HR Department»         Continue and apply changes to all interfaces       Continue Changing         Create a new menu for the "HR Department" interface       Create New Menu		
🕎 Calendar	Tasks		0-
Processes	Time Report		
Documents	Calendar Documents		
Reports	🖻 🥦 CRM		
Administration	Processes		

Fig. 196. The selection window. You can edit the menu of all interfaces or create a new menu for the target interface

After you have created a new menu, the menu settings page will open (Fig. 197). When you edit an existing menu or create a new one, **ELMA** will automatically save all the changes.



Fig. 197. The main menu setting page

You can perform the following operations with the menu items:

- add menu items;
- rename menu items or add new menu links;
- remove menu items;
- assign access permissions for the menu items;
- move the items in the list.

Move the mouse pointer to a menu item, its local menu will appear (Fig. 197, Tasks).

The local menu content:

- I edit the menu item;
- **T** assign access permissions for the menu item;
- 🕂 add a menu sub-item;
- 🖹 copy the menu item to another menu;
- $\times$  remove the menu item;

Remove the unnecessary items from the menu of the HR Department interface: **CRM**, **Time Report**, **Administration**, **KPIs** and **Projects** (the last two items are only available if you have

installed the corresponding applications: **ELMA KPI** and **ELMA Projects+**). Remove the unnecessary **Records Management** sub-item in the **Documents** as well. The page with the new setting will look as follows Fig. 198:



Fig. 198. Main menu links for the HR Department interface

Configure the left menu. Create a special left menu for the HR Department interface; on the settings page of the left menu remove the unnecessary sections (Fig. 199).



Fig. 199. Left menu links for the HR Department interface

Preview the changes in the main and left menus of the HR Department interface. In the upper right corner of the visual editor panel click the **Change User** link and sign in as the user for whom this interface is intended. Open the main menu. The main and left menus will not display the sections removed during the interface setup (Fig. 200).



Fig. 200. Edited left and main menus of the HR Department interface

#### Creating a new menu item

To create an additional item for the left or main menu, click the **Add Link** button on the menu settings page (Fig. 198 - Fig. 199). A window opens (Fig. 201). Make sure you enter a name and select an action.

	Create Link	>
Link	No action is selected	Q Select
Name *		
Parent Element	<top level=""></top>	~
Image		<b>a</b>
Description		
Disabled *	🔵 Yes 💿 No	
Display at the top *	🔘 Yes 💿 No	
Expand *	🔘 Yes 💿 No	
		Add
		Add Cancel

Fig. 201. The Create Link window

In the **Parent Element** field select the link location (section or sub-section); you can also assign an image and enter a description of the menu item.

To **Disable** the menu item switch between **Yes** and **No**. If you select **Yes**, the menu will not display this item.

For the left menu you can also select additional options: **Display at the top** (display the item name at the top of the menu) and **Expand** (select **Yes** if you want to hide all the other menu items, and **No** if you want to display them).

Click the **Select** link, the **Select Action** window opens. This window contains a list of the most frequently selected actions (Fig. 201). If you have not find the appropriate action, click **More** to open an extended list with all the available actions (Fig. 202).



Fig. 202. The Select Action window when creating a menu link

In the left menu, create a link to the folder that will contain the HR Department documents. First, create the folder. In the **Documents** section, select **Shared Folders**. Click the **Folder** button on the toolbar. Enter and save the new folder name. A new folder is created. Now create a link in the **Visual Editor**, in the setup mode of the HR Department interface.

In the **Create Link** window, click **Select** and select **Folder** from the actions list. The **Folder Action Parameters** window opens. In this window, click the magnifying glass icon to select the created folder (Fig. 203). Click the **Select** button to confirm and the **Done** button to save the folder parameters.



Fig. 203. The Select Action window when clicking More

Assign an image for the link. Now the left menu settings look as follows Fig. 204:



Fig. 204. Configuring the Folder action

	Create Link	$\times$
Link	Folder HR Department	
Name *	HR Folder	
Parent Element	<top level=""></top>	~
Image	/Content/Images/x32/InstallComponents.png	<b>_</b>
Description		
Disabled *	🔘 Yes 💿 No	
Display at the top *	🚫 Yes 💿 No	
Expand *	🔘 Yes 💿 No	
	Add Ca	ancel

Fig. 205. Creating a link to a folder

Click **Add**. Drag and drop the created link to the list of the left menu items. Place the link below the **Documents** section. In **ELMA Web Application**, this link will look as follows (Fig. 206):

Aug 26 Wednesday	Document Operations Selected	end	Taylor E.         ?           ↓         ↓         ↓           ↓         ↓         ↓
Tasks	HR Department		
Messages	Shared Folders \HR Department		
Documents	<b>Bearch</b>		Q Search
HR Folder	Advanced Search		
嚞 Company	News	Author	Orested Or
Calendar	\(Level up)	Aution	Created On
Processes	< Comparison of the second sec		

Fig. 206. The new HR Folder section in the left menu

If you click the **HR Folder** in the left menu, the folder with the **HR Department** documents will open.

Thus, you can easily add and remove menu items to improve usability of **ELMA Web Application**.

## 6.1.3. Toolbar

A toolbar is a panel across the top of a page that contains buttons. Different pages of **ELMA** have different toolbars.

In the **Visual Editor**, you can configure the toolbar of any system page. To do this, go to the required page and click **Toolbar** button on the **Visual Editor** panel (Fig. 207).



Fig. 207. Click the Toolbar button to open the toolbar settings

For example, edit the main page toolbar of the HR Department interface. In the setup mode of the HR Department interface, go to the main page and click **Toolbar** on the editor panel to open the toolbar settings page (Fig. 208).



Fig. 208. Configuring the toolbar of the main page

Make the following changes: remove the **Register Document** and **Create SMART Task** buttons, add the **Search Document** button.

To remove buttons click the red cross icon next to the button name.

To add the **Search Document** button as a separate group, click **Add Group**. A new group will appear at the end of the list. Click the green "+" next to the group name. A pop-up window will open. In the **Edit button** window, select an action for the button, enter a name and assign a button image.

To select the **Document Search** action, click **More** in the **Select Action** window (Fig. 209).

Select Action		$\times$
Active links		<b>^</b>
Business Process Management	a 🛛 –	
🛨 Calendar		
Common		
I CRM+		
Documents		
Documents (Page)		
Create Document (Dialog)		
🗝 📴 Create Folder (Dialog)		
Document Subscriptions (Page)		
👦 Add a new Action Folder (Dialog)		
Document Archive (Page)		
Change Password (Dialog)		
🗁 🧀 Document Management (Page)		
Document Search ( Page ) 🕑		+
Main	Cancel	

*Fig. 209. Selecting button action in the Select action window* 

Set up the **Edit button** window as follows (Fig. 210):

- Pack		Edit Button	×
Group	Link *	Action 🗟 Document Search	Q Select
Create Task Greate Periodic Task Send Message	Icon	/Content/Images/x32/Search.png	
Create Event	Pop-up Tip		

Fig. 210. The Edit Button window

Save the toolbar button settings. Now, in **ELMA Web Application**, the toolbar of the HR Department interface will contain the **Search Document** button. Click this button to open the document search window. The toolbar will not display the **Register Documents** and **Create SMART Task** buttons (Fig. 211).



Fig. 211. The edited main page toolbar

# 6.2 Portal pages

In **ELMA**, you can quite easily configure the Web Portal pages. The user can see the page content in the center of the browser window. Any page contains specific portlets displaying relevant information.

Below is the list of the page types in **ELMA**:

• **Main pages** are designed to arrange portlets; for quick access to the main pages you can create links in the menu or a set of main pages;

- **Text (portlet) pages** Text pages designed for specific tasks. They can also contain portlets. For quick access to the text pages you can create links in the menu or a set of pages;
- **Role pages** Role pages can contain several standard and/or main pages. You can assign access permissions for these pages to different users. Role page settings define which content the user will see. **ELMA** displays different content depending on the access permissions of the current user.

View the list of all the pages, edit or create pages in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Portal Settings** - **Pages** (Fig. 212).

Aug 28 Friday	Page Create Folder	Administrator ?
Administration	Pages	
Main Page		Quantity 15 V Items found: 11 Pages: 1 🧐 🔅
Users .	Name	Access
👗 System	💷 🖿 Main pages	Not defined
Basic Applications	Indicators - Start - Top managers	All users
Deutel Cettings	Indicators - Start - Users	All users
Portal Settings	Indicators - Start - Managers	All users
Interfaces	E Indicators - Start	All users
Pages	Administration - Main page	All users
Portlets	Ev 💼 Docflow - Main page	All users
Action Register	Gross monthly revenue	KPI: Users
Document Management		
🚱 Business Processes		

Fig. 212. The list of all portal pages

# 6.2.1. Creating a Page

You can create all types of pages in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Portal Settings**  $\rightarrow$  **Pages**. To do this click the **Page** button on the toolbar (Fig. 212). This button also has a drop-down list that allows you to select the type of the new page. By default, it is a portlet page (main). You can also create a main page in the interface setup mode: click **Main Pages** in the target interface.

Create the main page for the HR Department interface. Click the **Page** button. Enter a page name and define the number of columns. Click **Save** (Fig. 213).

Save Cancel	Administrator ?
New Portlet Page	
Name *	HR Department
Location *	Two columns          Create or remove columns from the page. Portlets in columns are stacked vertically.         Image: Solution of the page

Fig. 213. Creating a main page

On the portlet page, you can adjust the arrangement of portlets. You can arrange them in one or two identical columns or select the custom arrangement (select this option in the **Location** field). If you select custom arrangement, you can add several page areas and arrange them in one or two columns of the same or different widths.

Check the **Edit page** box if you wish to start editing the page content immediately after saving (Fig. 214); otherwise, the page will open for preview.



Fig. 214. A new main page without content

After the page is created, only the author (the user who created this page) has access to it. Therefore, you must assign permissions for users to provide access to this page.

To assign access permissions, click **Access** button on the page toolbar. Add users who will have access to this page (HR Director and HR Department employees).

Below see the description of the page configuration.

# 6.2.2. Configuring page

Configure pages in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Portal Settings**  $\rightarrow$  **Pages** (Fig. 212).

When configuring a page you can:

- add and delete portlets;
- assign access permissions to the page;
- set up portlets;
- edit the page display (the number of columns).

To configure the page, in the page list, next to the page name, click the list icon. The context menu will open; select **Configure** (Fig. 215).



Fig. 215. Page context menu

When configuring a page you mostly arrange portlets within the page and configure portlets settings. For more information about portlets, see **ELMA Help**.

Add portlets to the HR Department page: **Tasks**, **Tasks from Me**, **Calendar**, **Messages**. Click the **Add Portlet** button on the top toolbar. **Portlet catalog** will open. Select the portlet and then click **Add Portlet** at the bottom of the **Portlet catalog**. Drag the portlets to the content area of the page; arrange them in two columns in the correct order. You can drag the portlets up and down, from one column to another. To move a portlet, click on it once with the left mouse button and while holding it, move the portlet to the desired location on the page, then release the mouse button.

Hereit Back Access	Add Portiet		5	Administrator	?
HR Departmen	t				
Tasks		& X	📰 Calendar		& ×
Tasks from I	Me/Under my contr	ol 🖌 🗙	Nessages		& ×

Fig. 216. Added portlets when setting up the page

Next to the header of each portlet, you will see two icons: click  $\checkmark$  to configure the portlet, and  $\checkmark$  - to remove the portlet.

To add this page to the HR Department interface configure the **Set of Main Pages** in **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Portal Settings**  $\rightarrow$  **Interfaces.** 

Create a new set of main pages for the HR Department interface. Click the green cross next to the **Set of Main Pages** (Fig. 217).

Aug 28 Friday				5	2	Admi	inistrator	$\odot$	?
Administration	Interface - HR Depart	ment							
Main Page	Name	HR Department	1						
🤰 Users	Interface Type	Standard Interface							
👃 System	Main Menu	«HR Department»		₽	+		Register		
Basic Applications	Left Menu	«HR Department»	1	₹	+		Register		
E Portal Settings	Set of Main Pages	«Default Interface», «Lite», «HR Department»	1	₹	+	D			
Interfaces	Toolbar	«HR Department»		₹	×		Register		
Portlets	Profile Settings	Personal settings for the location of the profile information	1						
Action Register									

Fig. 217. Configuring the HR Department interface

The page will open. In this window drag a page name from the left side (Page Manager) to the right (Selected Pages) and save the changes (Fig. 218).

Configure the main pages		
Page Manager	Selected Pages	
Path: Root Folder	HR Department	×
🖿 Main pages		
HR Department		
Administration - Main page		

Fig. 218. Configuring the main pages

Now the main page of the HR Department interface looks as follows Fig. 219:

0	Task Send Message Start Process Create Event Create Document	Q Document Search	Taylor E. ?
	Welcome to ELMA!		HR Department
3	Tasks	& 🖋	🖬 Calendar 📀
$\triangle$	Type Create Task Instance Process	End Date Priority	Monday, 31 August
<b>₽</b>	Control Original Copy of Request Original Copy of Request Original Copy of Request Original Copy of Request Original Copy of Request Original Copy of Copy of Copy of Copy of Request Original Copy of Copy Of Copy Of Copy Of Copy Of Copy Of Copy Of	- •	2:30 Training Taylor E., Nelson J., Bailey F. PM 5:00 PM
<u> </u>	Tasks from Me: Overdue: 0; Task Monitoring: 0; Completion Check: 0		📕 Messages 🥜 🖉
•	Tasks from Me/Under my control Tasks from Me: Active: 1; Overdue: 0	۵ م	Control Original Copy of Request Today 8/28/2015 14:44
	No data to display		Add Comment Ask Question
			Pass Request to HR Department     O 8/25/2015 12:12     Worflow Process Task from: Brown O.
			CICCTEMA Task expired Today 8/28/2015 12:30 Deadline: 8/28/2015 12:00 PM. Executor: Administrator ELMA. Created By:

Fig. 219. Modified main page

# 6.2.3. Configuring the set of main pages

All the available main pages can be displayed as a set (Fig. 220) in the right corner of the portal page.

Tas	sk Send Mess	age Start Process Crea	ate Event	Create Oocument	Register Document			9	Administrator ?
We	lcome to EL	.MA!		0	Main page	Control page	Leads	Docflow - Main page	Administration - Main page 🔍
<b></b>					ۍ مح	🥵 Compa	ny Employ	/ees	ی 🎤 📀
Тур	e Create Task		Process	End Date	e Priority	Search			~ 10
	Incoming invoid Question (Admir	e from UMB AG histrator)			- •	📍 Birthda	ys		
	Supplemental a Question (Admir	greement No. to the contra nistrator)	act No.			9 July Miller	, Thursday A. (Chief co	mmercial officer)	
0	Approve the process improvement	Improvement proposal for process Incoming mail processing (Bailey	Process improvemer	- nt		Harris	ly, Saturday D. (Head o	f Branch office No. 1)	
	proposal	F.)				💼 Calenda			

Fig. 220. The set of main pages in ELMA Web Application

To open a page, click on its name. You can customize the set of main pages: change the order of the pages or hide certain pages. Customize a set of main pages for each interface separately. To do this, you can use **Visual Editor** (6.1.1) or go to **Administration**  $\rightarrow$  **Portal Settings**  $\rightarrow$  **Interfaces**.

Customize a set of main pages for the HR Department interface. First, create a new set of main pages (Fig. 218); then select pages and specify the order in which they will be displayed (Fig. 222). In the **Visual Editor**, click the list button next to the set of main pages. Then click the **Configure** link at the bottom of the drop-down list (Fig. 221).

HR Department		Main Menu	Toolbar	<b>Profile</b>					administrator	
Portal Interface	pages	Left Menu	📑 🙀 Main Pa	ges						
O Aug 29 Saturday	Task	Send Message S	G Start Process	Create Event	Create Document	<b>Q</b> cument earch			Administrator	?
Tasks	Welcom	ne to ELMA!							O HR Departmen	t 🗸
	🔽 Task							You can clicking	set up visibility of the pages "Configure"	; by
		Quantity 15		s found: 1	Pages: 1 🚱	Tuesda		Configu	ure A	dd Page
HR Folder	Type Tas	k Instance		Process		9:00 AM	Training 1:00		Administrator	
U(C)	Fill	in Request f ve Leave, 8/		i Leave		PM				
Company	Rec	n (Administr m		Request	•					

Fig. 221. Click Configure to start configuring the set of main pages

In the window that opens, select pages: drag a required page name from the left side (**Page manager**) to the right (**Selected pages**).

Some pages will appear in the set of main pages, and the other will be hidden in the dropdown list. Specify the number of the displayed pages in the **Number of Displayed Pages** field. To remove the page, click the red cross icon next to the page name. To save the settings, click the **Save** button.

Configure Bookm	ark Visibility	$\times$
Page Manager	Selected Pages	
Path: Root Folder	HR Department	×
🖿 User Pages	Company	×
<u>∎</u> HR Department	Main page	×
Docflow - Main page		
Administration - Main page		
Indicators - Start		
Indicators - Start - Managers		
Indicators - Start - Top managers		
Indicators - Start - Users		
E Leads		
Company		
	Number of Displayed Pages 2	
	Save	cel

Fig. 222. Configuring the set of main pages

With these settings, the set of main pages will be displayed in **ELMA Web Application** as in Fig. 223 if the user has access to these pages.



Fig. 223. The set of main pages of the HR Department interface

To view the hidden pages, click the list button (Fig. 224).



Fig. 224. Clicking the list button to view the hidden pages

# 6.3 HTML editor

Create content for the HTML portlets and web documents with a special HTML editor.

You can both use tools of a simplified text editor and switch to HTML code window (press on the toolbar).

Unlike other HTML editors, the ELMA HTML editor allows you to quickly insert links to the system actions.

Create an HTML portlet with the button that starts the **Leave Request** process. Sign in as Administrator (admin) and enter the page setup mode. Click **Add Portlet**, select an HTML portlet and configure it.

To add a link to an action, click **ELMA** button in the editor top menu and select the **Add Action** item (Fig. 225).



Fig. 225. The HTML editor menu  $\rightarrow$  the ELMA button  $\rightarrow$  the Add Action item

In the next step, you must select an action for the link. The user will click the link and navigate to this action. In the **Select Action** window, you will see the list of the most frequently used actions (Fig. 226). Click **more** to see the full list of available actions.

In the HTML editor menu, select **ELMA**  $\rightarrow$  **Add Action**  $\rightarrow$  **Business Process Management**  $\rightarrow$  **Start Process**.

Select A	ction X
Create	
Start Process	Send Message
Create Task	Create Event
	Register Document
Create Project	Create Entity Item
Link	
Document	Page
2 User	Folder
More	Cancel

Fig. 226. Selecting an action in the HTML editor

Action settings window opens. In this window, click **Select** and select the Leave Request process; click **Next** (Fig. 227).

	Action Parameter	rs "Start Proce	ss"	×
Process	🜔 Leave Re	quest	Q Select	
The process does not h	ave input context variables			
		Back	Next	Cancel

Fig. 227. The Start Process Action Parameters window

In the next step, configure the link display settings (Fig. 228). The display settings window has three sections:

- **Properties** specify the link name and the link size (for a button).
- **Display settings** by default displayed as a link. You can choose to display the link as a button of a certain color.
- **Preview** show how the link will be displayed if you select certain buttons and change the properties.

**Configure Display Settings**  $\times$  Properties Text Leave Request (W) X 40 Dimensions (H) 160 Display Settings Link Text Text Text Text Text Text Text Text Preview Leave Request Back Done Cancel

Configure the settings as follows in Fig. 228:

Fig. 228. Configuring the link display in the display settings window

To save the settings, click **Done**. Then, you can continue to configure the portlet in the HTML editor (Fig. 229).

	$\sim$
Edit • Paste • View • Format • Table • ELMA •	
Style ▼       Font       ▼       Size       ▼       B       I       U       A ▼       E	
Leave Request	
p » input	
> More	
Save Save and Continue Car	cel

Fig. 229. Configuring the HTML portlet

After you have saved the portlet, in **ELMA Web Application** it will look as follows:

Task	Sen	Message Start Process	Create Event	Create Document	Register Document	Administr	ator
Welc	ome t	o ELMA!				O Main page	Company
2	Tasks			ی 🖋			<b>%</b> (
_		Quantity 15 v Items	found: 1	Pages: 1 🖏		Leave Request	
Туре	Task	Instance	Process	End Date Priority			
0	Fill in Leave	Request for Regular Paid Leave, 8/29/2015 to from	Leave	•	📰 Calendar		0
	Request Form	Administrator ELMA (Administrator)	Request		Tuesday, 01 Septembe	er	
Tasks	from Me: <mark>C</mark>	Overdue: 0; Task Monitoring: 0;	Completion	Check: 0	9:00 Traini AM - 1:00 PM	ing Administrator	

Fig. 230. The HTML portlet with the button for starting the process on the main page

Thus, knowing HTML is not required to create web documents and HTML portlets in **ELMA**. They can contain links to actions (start a process, create tasks, events, documents and messages), system documents, external resources etc. Arrange these portlets and web documents on the portal pages to make **ELMA** even more user-friendly.

# Chapter 7. ELMA Agent

**ELMA Agent** – is an application that sends notifications on system events and provides quick access to documents.

Install **ELMA Agent** on each computer separately after you have installed and started **ELMA server**. It does not require registration.

**ELMA Agent** promptly sends system alerts to users, so they respond more quickly to events occurring in the system. At the same time, users do not have to spend time, constantly checking the browser for new messages – they do not get distracted and can perform their duties most effectively. Users receive **ELMA Agent** notifications almost instantly. Messages are quite noticeable and users will not miss them.

Download the installation package of **ELMA Agent** from the **User Profile** page of **ELMA Web Application.** Click the respective link (depending on the type of your OS) in the **Download** section (Fig. 231). The installation package of **ELMA Agent** will be downloaded to the current user PC.

Back Edit	Trusted Devices				Taylor E.         ?           10         6         0         0         ?
My Profile					
	Taylor Erica Sales Manager P Bithday: October 09 Local ELMA account (	since March 06, 2015)			Operations           Operations           Change Password           Interface Language
<ul> <li>Task</li> <li>Messsage</li> <li>Event</li> </ul>	Office Phone         #111           Mobile Phone         +6912           Room No.         178			tavlor@gmail.com (1) tavlor_e 1234567890	User Management  Allow Access from Trusted Devices Only  Add to Trusted Devices
✓ Trusted Devices	Performance  KPI Wei  (edit)		Plan Fac	0% (	Downloads  ELMA Agent (Windows)  ELMA Agent (Linux)  ELMA Agent (Mac OS X)
Name No data to display	Registration Date			Last Used	ELMA Outlook Plugin

Fig. 231. The user profile. Click the relevant link to download installation file of ELMA Agent

This chapter describes how to install **ELMA Agent** on Windows OS.

To start the installation, run the installation package and follow the on-screen instructions.

### **Step 1 Starting installation**

In this step of Setup Wizard, you can configure the installation settings by clicking the **Configure** button (Fig. 232). A window will open where you can choose the **ELMA Agent** installation directory (Fig. 233).



Fig. 232. Installing ELMA Agent. Step 1

Click Next to continue installation. Click Cancel to close the ELMA Agent Setup Wizard.

ELMA /	Agent 3.8 Setup	- 🗆 🗙
<b>ition Folder</b> der where ELMA Agent 3.	.8 will be installed.	G
is folder, click "Next". To	install to a different folder, enter	it below or click
\AppData \Roaming \ELMA	\ELMAAgent 3.8\	Browse
	< Back Next >	Cancel
	ELMA A ation Folder der where ELMA Agent 3. is folder, click "Next". To	ELMA Agent 3.8 Setup ation Folder der where ELMA Agent 3.8 will be installed. is folder, dick "Next". To install to a different folder, enter \AppData\Roaming\ELMA\ELMAAgent 3.8\

Fig. 233. Configuring installation settings of ELMA Agent

# Step 2. Installation

Click **Install** to begin the installation of **ELMA Agent**.

<b>;</b>	ELMA Agent 3.8 Setup
Ready to In The Setup	nstall           Wizard is ready to begin the ELMA Agent 3.8 installation
Click "Inst installation	all" to begin the installation. If you want to review or change any of your n settings, click "Back". Click "Cancel" to exit the wizard.
ELMA © 2015	< Back Install Cancel
ELMA © 2015	< Back Install Cancel

Fig. 234. Confirming ELMA Agent installation

×
Ð

Fig. 235. Installing ELMA Agent

### Step 3. Finishing installation

Click the **Finish button** to exit the Setup Wizard when the installation is complete (Fig. 236).



Fig. 236. Finishing ELMA Agent installation

When starting **ELMA Agent** for the first time, you will see the following window (Fig. 237):

ELMA Agent	
http://binom.com	
Windows integrated security	_
2 taylor	
<b></b>	
Sign in automatically	
Sign in	

Fig. 237. ELMA Agent startup window

Enter your login, password and the address of **ELMA Server**. You must enter the full address, with a prefix (e.g., http or https). You can select the **Automatic Login** option (the system will save the settings and the next time **ELMA Agent** will start without requesting your user account and password); or select the **Windows Single Sign On** (start **ELMA Agent** as the current Windows user).

Click **Sign In**. **ELMA Agent** will start and connect to **ELMA Server**. It will immediately download all the server messages addressed to you, and you will be able to work with **ELMA** documents through the **Agent**.

When you sing in, a page with **Messages** opens (Fig. 238). When you read the messages in **ELMA Agent**, the system synchronizes data with **ELMA Server**, and marks these messages as **Read** in Web Application. If you have at least one unread message, the **ELMA Agent** icon in the system tray will flash .



Fig. 238. Message list in ELMA Agent

In **ELMA Agent**, you can use two tabs to work with documents:

- **Documents** tab shows the list of all the documents once opened with **ELMA Agent** (Fig. 239).
- Active tab shows the list of all the currently open documents (Fig. 240).



Fig. 239. The Documents tab of ELMA Agent

	a	ELMA Agent	- D ×	
		Search?	¢ B	
The number of documents you are	Messages	Outgoing invoice for Abakion of 4/28/2015 11:12 AM Folder: Outgoing Invoices	Current Version: new	
via ELMA Agent	Active	Modified: 10.19.2015 2:42 PM Size: 11,18Kb Edited By: Taylor E. Being edited: 32 min(s)	Open in Browser	
This document is currently opened in the text editor via ELMA Agent		Document edited: 10.19.2015 2:42 PM Versions V	Save Undo changes	
	Documents	Incoming invoice from Impact International of 6/19/2015 8:05 AM	Current Version: 2	
		Folder: Incoming Invoices Modified: 6.19.2015 8:06 AM There is no file in local cache Edited By: Carter A	<pre>     Edit     ✓     Lock     + New Version     </pre>	Menu for working with the document
List of document versions		➤ Versions ∨ ■ Business proposal for Gatewit		via ELMA Agent
		Folder: <u>Business Proposals</u> Modified: 5.25.2015 6:15 PM Size: 12,46Kb Edited By: Murphy E.	Edit 🗸	
	Server 3.8.0.22695 Client 3.8.0.33588	Versions V		

Fig. 240. The Working Documents tab of ELMA Agent

The documents on the tabs are shown in reverse chronological order: the latest open document is displayed at the top and below are the documents you opened earlier.

### **Configuring ELMA Agent**

You can configure **ELMA Agent** settings. To do this, click the **Settings** button in the user profile menu (Fig. 241).

a		ELMA Agent	- 🗆 🗡			
	Taylor E.		40 - 43			
Schange Stat	us Voice from Ir	npact International of 6/19/2015 8:05 AM	Current Version: new			
😔 Settings						
? Help	es 43 PM	Size: 11.29Kb	Dpen 🗸 🗸			
-√F Logout		Being edited: 0 min(s)	Open in Browser			
Active						
	Versions V					
	Outgoing invoice for Ab	Current Version: new				
	Folder: Outgoing Invoices		Den 🗸			
	Modified: 10/19/2015 2:42 PM	Size: 11.18Kb				
	Edited By: Taylor E.	Being edited: 0 min(s)	Open in Browser			
			Save Undo changes			
	Versions 🗸					

Fig. 241. The Settings button

### The **ELMA Agent** setting contain:

- General settings
- Messages settings
- Documents settings
- Extension settings

### **General Settings**

These settings determine how **ELMA Agent** starts, integrates with the Windows menu and connects to the server (Fig. 242).

C ELMA Agent								
*	$\mathbf{\simeq}$		•••					
General	Messages	Documents	Extensions					
Language				English (United States)	Reset			
Start with Windows					_			
Status upon starting				Connected				
Integrate with System Menu				< X	1			
Server (	Connection							
Check server connection every				Every 10 seconds 💌	]			
Reconnect after connection is lost				××				
Use Proxy Server				×				
				-				
					Save settings Cancel			

Fig. 242. General settings of ELMA Agent

### Messages settings.

In this section, you can specify how you want to receive messages (automatically or after manual synchronization), configure the notifications display time and sound effects (Fig. 243).
C ELMA Agent							
			•				
General	Messages	Documents	Extensions				
Receive	system mess	ages		×			
Show new message window for				10 seconds	•		
Sounds							
Enable	sound notificat	ions	×				
Notification sound				D Listen	Choose Other Sound		
Refresh Messages							
					Save settings Cancel		

Fig. 243. Messages section settings

## **Documents settings**

Here you can adjust the display settings of documents, configure printer and scanner settings and specify how the changes will be loaded to the server (Fig. 244).

C ELMA Agent						
\$			•			
General	Messages	Documents	Extensions			
Opened Check d Conside	documents tra oucments for o	ay icon changes 1		Every 5 seconds		
Show the window upon any file type change   Image: Comparison of the type change     Show active documents after signed in   Image: Comparison of the type change						
Scanner				HP LJ M127128 Scan Drv TWAIN Scanning settings		
Label Printing						
Label Printer				HP LaserJet Pro MFP M127-M128 PCLmS		
				Save settings Cancel		

Fig. 244. Documents settings

## **Extensions settings**

You can enable and disable plugins and extensions for **ELMA Agent**. By default, all the plugins and extensions are enabled (Fig. 245).

	C ELMA Agent							
			•					
General	Messages	Documents	Extensions					
_	ELMA Outloo	k plugin		Turn Off				
	ELMA plugin for MS Office Turn On							
				Save settings Cancel				

Fig. 245. Expansions settings

To enable an option, click the check mark  $\checkmark$  icon. It will become green  $\checkmark$ . To disable an option, click the cross  $\checkmark$  icon. It will become red  $\checkmark$ .

If you change the settings, be sure to save your changes by clicking the **Save Settings** button.

## Chapter 8. Useful references

Along with **ELMA BPM Platform** quick-start manual, the following sources describe the functions of **ELMA** applications

- Quick Start of ELMA Web Portal
- Quick Start of ELMA ECM+
- <u>Quick Start of **ELMA Projects+**</u>
- Quick Start of **ELMA KPI**

General description and purchase conditions of the applications are available on ELMA website: <u>http://www.elma-bpm.com</u>. You can also **Ask a question** on this website, using a respective link.

An **Online Demo** <u>http://demo.elma-bpm.com</u> demonstrates the main functions and utilization of the applications. If you want to learn more about any of the applications, download a demo with the same settings as in the online version using the same link.

We continuously develop **ELMA** and Platform-based components for coping with more specific tasks. You can find the list of these components and their purchase conditions at **ELMA Store**: <u>http://store.elma-bpm.com/</u>.

If you are experiencing technical difficulties, please visit ELMA technical support website: <u>http://support.elma-bpm.com</u>.

If you need assistance with the system or have questions about partnership with **ELMA** Company, contact us:

Luxemburg: + (352) 20-30-11-40
 http://www.elma-bpm.com/about-us/